# **Defective and Clustered Graph Colouring**

David R. Wood\*

School of Mathematical Sciences Monash University Melbourne, Australia

david.wood@monash.edu

Submitted: Oct 20, 2017; Accepted: Mar 20, 2018; Published: Apr 13, 2018© The author. Released under the CC BY license (International 4.0).

#### Abstract

Consider the following two ways to colour the vertices of a graph where the requirement that adjacent vertices get distinct colours is relaxed. A colouring has *defect d* if each monochromatic component has maximum degree at most *d*. A colouring has *clustering c* if each monochromatic component has at most *c* vertices. This paper surveys research on these types of colourings, where the first priority is to minimise the number of colours, with small defect or small clustering as a secondary goal. List colouring variants are also considered. The following graph classes are studied: outerplanar graphs, planar graphs, graphs embeddable in surfaces, graphs with given maximum degree, graphs with given maximum average degree, graphs excluding a given subgraph, graphs with given maximum average degree, graphs with given circumference, graphs with given Colin de Verdière parameter, graphs with given thickness, graphs with given stack- or queue-number, graphs excluding  $K_t$  as a minor, graphs excluding  $K_{s,t}$  as a minor, and graphs excluding an arbitrary graph H as a minor. Several open problems are discussed.

Mathematics Subject Classifications: 05C15, 05C83, 05C10

<sup>\*</sup>Research supported by the Australian Research Council.

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 

# Contents

1	Introduction	3
	1.1 History and Terminology	3
	1.2 Definitions	$5 \\ 6$
	1.4       Standard Examples	6
	1.5     Two Fundamental Observations	8
	1.6 Related Topics	9
<b>2</b>	Greedy Approaches	10
	2.1 Light Edges	10
	2.2 Islands	10
3	Graphs on Surfaces	11
	3.1 Outerplanar Graphs	11
	3.2 Planar Graphs	11
	3.3 Hex Lemma	13
	<ul> <li>3.4 Defective Colouring of Graphs on Surfaces</li></ul>	$15 \\ 16$
	5.5 Clustered Colouring of Graphs on Surfaces	10
4	Maximum Degree	19
<b>5</b>	Maximum Average Degree	<b>24</b>
6	Excluding a Subgraph	25
7	Excluding a Shallow Minor	26
	7.1 Excluding $K_{s,t}^*$	26
	7.2 Linklessly Embeddable Graphs	29
	7.3 Knotlessly Embeddable Graphs	29
	7.4       Colin de Verdière Parameter         7.5       Crossings	$\frac{30}{31}$
	7.5       Crossings         7.6       Stack and Queue Layouts	$31 \\ 32$
	7.7 Excluded Immersions	$\frac{52}{34}$
8	Minor-Closed Classes	37
0	8.1 Excluding a Minor and Bounded Degree	37
	8.2 $K_t$ -Minor-Free Graphs	38
	8.3 $H$ -Minor-Free Graphs	41
	8.4 Conjectures	45
	8.5 Circumference	46
9	Thickness	<b>49</b>
	9.1 Defective Colouring	49
	9.2 Clustered Colouring	52
10	General Setting	52

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

## 1 Introduction

Consider a graph where each vertex is assigned a colour. A monochromatic component is a connected component of the subgraph induced by all the vertices assigned a single colour. A graph G is k-colourable with clustering c if each vertex can be assigned one of k colours such that each monochromatic component has at most c vertices. A graph Gis k-colourable with defect d if each vertex of G can be assigned one of k colours such that each vertex is adjacent to at most d neighbours of the same colour; that is, each monochromatic component has maximum degree at most d.

This paper surveys results and open problems regarding clustered and defective graph colouring, where the first priority is to minimise the number of colours, with small defect or small clustering as a secondary goal. We include various proofs that highlight the main methods employed. The emphasis is on general results for broadly defined classes of graphs, rather than more precise results for more specific classes. With this viewpoint the following definitions naturally arise.

The clustered chromatic number of a graph class  $\mathcal{G}$ , denoted by  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{G})$ , is the minimum integer k for which there exists an integer c such that every graph in  $\mathcal{G}$  has a k-colouring with clustering c. If there is no such integer k, then  $\mathcal{G}$  has unbounded clustered chromatic number. A graph class  $\mathcal{G}$  is defectively k-colourable if there exists an integer d such that every graph in  $\mathcal{G}$  is k-colourable with defect d. The defective chromatic number of  $\mathcal{G}$ , denoted by  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G})$ , is the minimum integer k such that  $\mathcal{G}$  is defectively k-colourable. If there is no such integer k, then  $\mathcal{G}$  has unbounded defective chromatic number. Every colouring of a graph with clustering c has defect c - 1. Thus  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G}) \leq \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{G}) \leq \chi(\mathcal{G})$ for every class  $\mathcal{G}$ . Tables 1 and 2 summarise the results presented in this survey; see Sections 1.2 and 1.3 for the relevant definitions.

#### 1.1 History and Terminology

There is no single origin for the notions of defective and clustered graph colouring, and the terminology used in the literature is inconsistent.

Early papers on defective colouring include [16, 17, 128, 138, 166, 212], although these did not use the term 'defect'. The definition of "k-colourable with defect d", often written (k, d)-colourable, was introduced by Cowen et al. [66]. This terminology is fairly standard, although *d*-relaxed or *d*-improper is sometimes used. The minimum number of colours in a colouring of a graph G with defect d has been called the *d*-improper chromatic number [144] or *d*-chromatic number [16] of G. Cowen et al. [65] introduced the defective chromatic number of a graph class (as defined above).

Also for clustered colouring, the literature is inconsistent. One of the early papers is by Kleinberg et al. [151], who defined a colouring to be (k, c)-fragmented if, in our language, it is a k-colouring with clustering c. I prefer "clustering" since as c increases, intuitively the "fragmentation" of the monochromatic components decreases. Edwards and Farr [89, 90] called a monochromatic component a chromon and called the clustered chromatic number of a class the metachromatic number.

graph class	G	$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G})$	$\chi^\ell_\Delta(\mathcal{G})$	Sect.				
outerplanar	$\mathcal{O}$	2	2	3.1				
planar	${\mathcal P}$	3	3	3.2				
Euler genus $\leq g$	$\mathcal{E}_{g}$	3	3	3.4				
max average degree $\leq m$	$\mathcal{A}_m$	$\lfloor \frac{m}{2} \rfloor + 1$	$\lfloor \frac{m}{2} \rfloor + 1$	5				
linklessly embeddable	$\mathcal{L}$	4	4	7.2				
knotlessly embeddable	$\mathcal{K}$	5	5	7.3				
Colin de Verdière $\leq k$	$\mathcal{V}_k$	k	k	7.4				
k-stack graphs	$\mathcal{S}_k$	k+1	k+1	7.6				
k-queue graphs	$\mathcal{Q}_k$	$k+1,\ldots,2k+1$	2k + 1	7.6				
no $K_t$ immersion	$\mathcal{I}_t$	2	t-1	7.7				
$treewidth \leqslant k$		k+1	k+1	8.1				
treewidth $\leq k$ , max degree	$e \leqslant \Delta$	2	2	8.1				
no $K_t$ -minor	$\mathcal{M}_{K_t}$	t-1	t-1	8.2				
no $H$ -minor	$\mathcal{M}_{H}$	$\overline{\mathrm{td}}(H) - 1, \dots, 2^{\overline{\mathrm{td}}(H)+1} - 4$	$\min\{s: \exists t  H \preceq K_{s,t}\}$	8.3				
no $K_{s,t}$ -minor $(s \leq t)$	$\mathcal{M}_{K_{s,t}}$		s	8.4				
circumference $\leq k$	$\mathcal{C}_k$	$\lfloor \log_2 k \rfloor + 1, \dots, \lfloor 3 \log_2 k \rfloor$	$\left\lceil \frac{k+1}{2} \right\rceil$	8.5				
no $(k+1)$ -path	$\mathcal{H}_k$	$\left\lceil \log_2(k+2) \right\rceil - 1, \dots, \lfloor 3 \log_2 k \rfloor$	$\lfloor \frac{k+1}{2} \rfloor$	8.5				
$g$ -thickness $\leqslant k$	$\mathcal{T}_k^g$	2k + 1	2k+1	9				

Table 1: Summary of Results for Defective Colouring

Table 2: Summary of Results for Clustered Colouring

graph class	$\mathcal{G}$	$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{G})$	$\chi^\ell_\star(\mathcal{G})$	Sect.
outerplanar	$\mathcal{O}$	3	3	3.1
planar $\mathcal{P}$		4	4	3.2
Euler genus $\leq g$	$\mathcal{E}_q$	4	4	3.5
Euler genus $\leq g$ , max degree $\leq$	$\Delta$	3	3,4	8.1
$\max degree \leqslant \Delta$	$\mathcal{D}_\Delta$	$\left\lfloor \frac{\Delta+6}{4} \right\rfloor, \dots, \left\lceil \frac{\Delta+1}{3} \right\rceil$	$\left \frac{\Delta+6}{4}\right ,\ldots,\Delta+1$	4
max average degree $\leq m$	$\mathcal{A}_m$	$\lfloor \frac{\overline{m}}{2} \rfloor + 1, \dots, \lfloor m \rfloor + 1$		5
linklessly embeddable	$\mathcal{L}$	5	5	7.2
knotlessly embeddable	$\mathcal{K}$	6	6	7.3
Colin de Verdière $\leq k$	$\mathcal{V}_k$	open	open	7.4
k-stack graphs	$\mathcal{S}_k$	$k+2,\ldots,2k+2$	$k+2\ldots 2k+2$	7.6
k-queue graphs	$\mathcal{Q}_k$	$k+1,\ldots,4k$	$k+1,\ldots,4k$	7.6
no $K_t$ immersion	$\mathcal{I}_t$	$\geqslant \lfloor \frac{t+4}{4} \rfloor$	$\geqslant t-1$	7.7
treewidth $\leq k$		k+1	k + 1	8.1
treewidth $\leq k$ , max degree $\leq \Delta$	7	2	2	8.1
no $K_t$ -minor	$\mathcal{M}_{K_t}$	$t-1,\ldots,2t-2$	$t-1,\ldots,\left\lceil \frac{31}{2}t\right\rceil$	8.2
no $K_t$ -minor, max degree $\leq \Delta$		3	$\geq 3$	8.2
no $H$ -minor	$\mathcal{M}_H$	$\overline{\mathrm{td}}(H) - 1, \dots, 2^{\overline{\mathrm{td}}(H)+1} - 4$	open	8.3
no $K_{s,t}$ -minor $(s \leq t)$ $\mathcal{N}$	$\mathcal{A}_{K_{s,t}}$	$s+1,\ldots,2s+2$	open	8.4
circumference $\leq k$	$\mathcal{C}_k$	$\lfloor \log_2 k \rfloor + 1, \dots, \lfloor 3 \log_2 k \rfloor$	open	8.5
no $(k+1)$ -path	$\mathcal{H}_k$	$\left\lceil \log_2(k+2) \right\rceil - 1, \dots, \left\lfloor 3 \log_2 k \right\rfloor$	open	8.5
$g$ -thickness $\leqslant k$	$\mathcal{T}_k^g$	$2k+2,\ldots,6k+1$	$2k+2,\ldots,6k+1$	9

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#\mathrm{DS23}$ 

#### 1.2 Definitions

This section briefly states standard graph theoretic definitions, familiar to most readers. A *clique* in a graph is a set of pairwise adjacent vertices.

Let G be a graph. A k-colouring of G is a function that assigns one of k colours to each vertex of G. An edge vw of G is bichromatic if v and w are assigned distinct colours. A vertex v of G is properly coloured if v is assigned a colour distinct from every neighbour of v. A colouring of G is proper if every vertex is properly coloured. The chromatic number of G, denoted  $\chi(G)$ , is the minimum integer k such that there is a proper k-colouring of G.

A graph parameter is a real-valued function f on the class of graphs such that  $f(G_1) = f(G_2)$  whenever graphs  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  are isomorphic. Say f is bounded on a graph class  $\mathcal{G}$  if there exists c such that  $f(G) \leq c$  for every  $G \in \mathcal{G}$ , otherwise f is unbounded on  $\mathcal{G}$ . If f is bounded on  $\mathcal{G}$ , then let  $f(\mathcal{G}) := \sup\{f(G) : G \in \mathcal{G}\}$ . Most graph parameters considered in this survey are integer-valued, in which case, if f is bounded on  $\mathcal{G}$ , then  $f(\mathcal{G}) = \max\{f(G) : G \in \mathcal{G}\}$ .

For a graph G, let mad(G) be the maximum average degree of a subgraph of G.

A graph is k-degenerate if every non-empty subgraph has a vertex of degree at most k. A greedy colouring algorithm shows that every k-degenerate graph is (k + 1)-colourable.

A graph H is a *minor* of a graph G if a graph isomorphic to H can be obtained from a subgraph of G by contracting edges. A class of graphs  $\mathcal{G}$  is *minor-closed* if for every graph  $G \in \mathcal{G}$  every minor of G is in  $\mathcal{G}$ , and some graph is not in  $\mathcal{G}$ . A graph G is H-minor-free if H is not a minor of G. Let  $\mathcal{M}_H$  be the class of H-minor-free graphs.

To subdivide an edge vw in a graph G means to delete vw, add a new vertex x, and add new edges vx and xw. A subdivision of G is any graph obtained from G by repeatedly subdividing edges. The 1-subdivision of G is the graph obtained from G by subdividing each edge of G exactly once. A graph H is a topological minor of a graph G if a graph isomorphic to a subdivision of H is a subgraph of G.

The *Euler genus* of the orientable surface with h handles is 2h. The *Euler genus* of the non-orientable surface with c cross-caps is c. The *Euler genus* of a graph G is the minimum Euler genus of a surface in which G embeds (with no crossings). See [177] for background on embeddings of graphs on surfaces.

A tree decomposition of a graph G is given by a tree T whose nodes index a collection  $(T_x \subseteq V(G) : x \in V(T))$  of sets of vertices in G called *bags*, such that (1) for every edge vw of G, some bag  $T_x$  contains both v and w, and (2) for every vertex v of G, the set  $\{x \in V(T) : v \in T_x\}$  induces a non-empty (connected) subtree of T. The width of a tree decomposition T is max $\{|T_x| - 1 : x \in V(T)\}$ . The treewidth of a graph G, denoted by tw(G), is the minimum width of the tree decompositions of G. See [32, 33, 118, 193, 194] for surveys on treewidth.

A layering of a graph G is a partition  $(V_0, V_1, \ldots, V_\ell)$  of V(G) such that for every edge  $vw \in E(G)$ , if  $v \in V_i$  and  $w \in V_j$ , then  $|i - j| \leq 1$ . Each set  $V_i$  is called a *layer*. If r is a vertex in a connected graph G and  $V_i := \{v \in V(G) : \text{dist}_G(v, r) = i\}$  for  $i \geq 0$ , then  $V_0, V_1, \ldots$  is a layering called the *BFS layering* of G starting at r.

The layered treewidth of a graph G is the minimum integer k such that there is a tree decomposition  $(T_x \subseteq V(G) : x \in V(T))$  of G and a layering  $(V_0, V_1, \ldots, V_\ell)$  of G, such that  $|V_i \cap T_x| \leq k$  for every  $i \in [0, \ell]$  and every  $x \in V(T)$ . Layered treewidth was introduced by Dujmović et al. [81].

A pair  $(G_1, G_2)$  is a separation of a graph G if  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  are induced subgraphs of Gsuch that  $G = G_1 \cup G_2$ , and  $V(G_1) \setminus V(G_2) \neq \emptyset$  and  $V(G_2) \setminus V(G_1) \neq \emptyset$ . If, in addition,  $|V(G_1 \cap G_2)| \leq k$ , then  $(G_1, G_2)$  is a k-separation. A separation  $(G_1, G_2)$  of G is minimal if every vertex in  $V(G_1) \cap V(G_2)$  has a neighbour in both  $V(G_1) \setminus V(G_2)$  and  $V(G_2) \setminus V(G_1)$ .

A balanced separator in a graph G is a set  $S \subseteq V(G)$  such that every component of G - S has at most  $\frac{1}{2}|V(G)|$  vertices.

The radius of a connected graph G is the minimum integer r such that for some vertex v of G, every vertex of G is at distance at most r from v.

#### 1.3 Choosability

Many defective and clustered colouring results hold in the setting of list colouring. Eaton and Hull [86] first introduced defective list colouring.

A list assignment for a graph G is a function L that assigns a set L(v) of colours to each vertex  $v \in V(G)$ . Define a graph G to be L-colourable if there is a proper colouring of G such that each vertex  $v \in V(G)$  is assigned a colour in L(v). A list assignment L is a k-list assignment if  $|L(v)| \ge k$  for each vertex  $v \in V(G)$ . The choice number of a graph G is the minimum integer k such that G is L-colourable for every k-list-assignment L of G.

For a list-assignment L of a graph G and integer  $d \ge 0$ , define G to be L-colourable with defect d if there is a colouring of G with defect d such that each vertex  $v \in V(G)$  is assigned a colour in L(v). Define G to be k-choosable with defect d if G is L-colourable with defect d for every k-list assignment L of G. Similarly, for an integer  $c \ge 1$ , G is L-colourable with clustering c if there is a colouring of G with clustering c such that each vertex  $v \in V(G)$  is assigned a colour in L(v). Define G to be k-choosable with clustering cif G is L-colourable with clustering c for every k-list assignment L of G.

The defective choice number of a graph class  $\mathcal{G}$ , denoted by  $\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G})$ , is the minimum integer k for which there exists an integer  $d \ge 0$ , such that every graph  $G \in \mathcal{G}$  is k-choosable with defect d. The clustered choice number of a graph class  $\mathcal{G}$ , denoted by  $\chi^{\ell}_{\star}(\mathcal{G})$ , is the minimum integer k for which there exists an integer  $c \ge 1$ , such that every graph  $G \in \mathcal{G}$  is k-choosable with clustering c.

#### 1.4 Standard Examples

The following construction, or variants of it, have been used by several authors [87, 119, 124, 183, 185] to provide lower bounds on the defective chromatic number. As illustrated in Figure 1, let S(h, d) be defined recursively as follows. Let S(0, d) be the graph with one vertex and no edges. For  $h \ge 1$ , let S(h, d) be the graph obtained from d + 1 disjoint copies of S(h - 1, d) by adding one dominant vertex. Note that  $S(1, d) = K_{1,d+1}$ , the star with d + 1 leaves.



Figure 1: The standard example S(h, d).

**Lemma 1.** For integers  $h \ge 1$  and  $d \ge 0$ , the graph S(h, d) has no h-colouring with defect d.

Proof. We proceed by induction on h. In the base case,  $S(1, d) = K_{1,d+1}$ , which obviously has no 1-colouring with defect d. Now assume that  $h \ge 2$  and the claim holds for h - 1. Suppose on the contrary that S(h, d) has an h-colouring with defect d. Let v be the dominant vertex in S(h, d), and say v is blue. Then S(h, d) - v has d + 1 components  $C_1, \ldots, C_{d+1}$ . Since v is dominant and has monochromatic degree at most d, at most d of  $C_1, \ldots, C_{d+1}$  contain a blue vertex. Thus some  $C_i$  is (h - 1)-coloured with defect d. This is a contradiction since  $C_i$  is isomorphic to S(h - 1, d). Thus S(h, d) has no h-colouring with defect d.

Similarly, as illustrated in Figure 2, let  $\overline{S}(h,c)$  be defined recursively as follows. Let  $\overline{S}(1,c)$  be the path on c+1 vertices. For  $h \ge 2$ , let  $\overline{S}(h,c)$  be the graph obtained from c disjoint copies of  $\overline{S}(h-1,c)$  by adding one dominant vertex.



Figure 2: The standard example  $\overline{S}(h, c)$ .

**Lemma 2.** For integers  $h, d \ge 1$ , the graph  $\overline{S}(h, c)$  has no h-colouring with clustering c.

Proof. We proceed by induction on h. In the base case,  $\overline{S}(1, c)$  is the path on c+1 vertices, which obviously has no 1-colouring with clustering c. Now assume that  $h \ge 2$  and the claim holds for h-1. Suppose on the contrary that  $\overline{S}(h,c)$  has an h-colouring with defect c. Let v be the dominant vertex in  $\overline{S}(h,c)$ , and say v is blue. Then  $\overline{S}(h,c) - v$  has c components  $C_1, \ldots, C_c$ . Since v is dominant and the monochromatic component containing v has at most c vertices, at most c-1 of  $C_1, \ldots, C_c$  contain a blue vertex. Thus some  $C_i$  is (h-1)-coloured with clustering c. This is a contradiction since  $C_i$  is isomorphic to  $\overline{S}(h-1,c)$ . Thus  $\overline{S}(h,d)$  has no h-colouring with clustering c.

As illustrated in Figure 3, S(2, d) is planar,  $\overline{S}(2, c)$  is outerplanar, and  $\overline{S}(3, c)$  is planar.



Figure 3: Planar standard examples.

#### 1.5 Two Fundamental Observations

The following elementary, but fundamental, result characterises those graph classes with bounded defective or clustered chromatic number.

**Proposition 3.** The following are equivalent for a graph class  $\mathcal{G}$ :

- (1) G has bounded defective chromatic number,
- (2) G has bounded clustered chromatic number,
- (3)  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded chromatic number.

Moreover,  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G}) \leq \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{G}) \leq \chi(\mathcal{G}).$ 

*Proof.* We first show that (3) implies (1) and (2). Suppose that  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded chromatic number. That is, for some integer k, every graph G in  $\mathcal{G}$  is properly k-colourable. Thus G is k-colourable with defect 0 and with clustering 1. Hence  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G}) \leq \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{G}) \leq k$ .

We now show that (1) implies (3). Suppose that  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded defective chromatic number. That is, for some integers k and d, every graph G in  $\mathcal{G}$  is k-colourable such that each monochromatic subgraph has maximum degree d. Every graph with maximum degree d is properly (d + 1)-colourable by a greedy algorithm. Apply this result to each monochromatic subgraph of G. Hence G is properly k(d + 1)-colourable, and  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded chromatic number. We finally show that (2) implies (1). Suppose that  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded clustered chromatic number. That is, for some integers k and c, every graph G in  $\mathcal{G}$  is k-colourable such that each monochromatic subgraph has at most c vertices, and therefore has maximum degree at most c-1. Hence  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G}) \leq k$ , and  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded defective chromatic number.  $\Box$ 

We have the following analogous result for defective and clustered choosability.

**Proposition 4.** The following are equivalent for a graph class  $\mathcal{G}$ :

- (1)  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded defective choice number,
- (2)  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded clustered choice number,
- (3)  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded choice number.
- (4)  $\mathcal{G}$  has bounded maximum average degree.

*Proof.* A greedy algorithm shows that (4) implies (3). Alon [10] proved that (3) implies (4). More generally, Kang [141] proved that (1) implies (4). It is immediate that (3) implies (1) and (2). As in the proof of Proposition 3, if a graph G is k-choosable with clustering c, then G is k-choosable with defect c - 1. Thus (2) implies (1).

#### 1.6 Related Topics

We mention here some related topics not covered in this survey:

- defective colourings of random graphs [142, 143, 144],
- defective versions of Ohba's list colouring conjecture [215, 230],
- defective Nordhaus-Gaddum type results [2, 3],
- acyclic defective colourings [5, 34, 49, 100, 101],
- uniquely defectively colourable graphs [104],
- weighted defective colouring [20, 22, 123],
- defective colourings of triangle-free graphs [4, 204, 205],
- defective colouring of directed graphs [165],
- defective edge colouring [125, 126, 224],
- defective circular and fractional colouring [99, 111, 152, 174],
- equitable defective colouring [218],
- defective co-colouring [6].

Also note that defective colouring is computationally hard. In particular, it is NPcomplete to decide if a given graph G is 3-colourable with defect 1, even when G has maximum degree 6 or is planar with maximum degree 7 [18]. See [24, 28, 52, 55, 64, 115, 155, 178] for more computational aspects of defective and clustered clustered colouring.

## 2 Greedy Approaches

## 2.1 Light Edges

Light edges provide a generic method for proving results about defective colourings. An edge e in a graph is  $\ell$ -light if both endpoints of e have degree at most  $\ell$ . There is a large literature on light edges in graphs; see [35, 48, 50, 133, 135, 136] for example. Several results on defective colouring use, sometimes implicitly, the following lemma [87, 119, 158, 185, 206].

**Lemma 5.** For integers  $\ell \ge k \ge 1$ , if every subgraph H of a graph G has a vertex of degree at most k or an  $\ell$ -light edge, then G is (k+1)-choosable with defect  $\ell - k$ .

Proof. Let L be a (k+1)-list assignment for G. We prove by induction on |V(H)| + |E(H)| that every subgraph H of G is L-colourable with defect  $\ell - k$ . The base case with |V(H)| + |E(H)| = 0 is trivial. Consider a subgraph H of G. If H has a vertex v of degree at most k, then by induction H - v is L-colourable with defect  $\ell - k$ , and there is a colour in L(v) used by no neighbour of v which can be assigned to v. Now assume that H has minimum degree at least k + 1. By assumption, H contains an  $\ell$ -light edge xy. By induction, H - xy has an L-colouring c with defect  $\ell - k$ . If  $c(x) \neq c(y)$ , then c is also an L-colouring of H with defect  $\ell - k$ . Now assume that c(x) = c(y). We may further assume that c is not an L-colouring of H with defect  $\ell - k$ . Without loss of generality, x has exactly  $\ell - k + 1$  neighbours (including y) coloured by c(x). Since  $\deg_H(x) \leq \ell$ , there are at most k - 1 neighbours not coloured by c(x). Since L(v) contains k colours different from c(x), there is a colour used by no neighbour of x which can be assigned to x.

## 2.2 Islands

Esperet and Ochem [98] introduced the following definition and lemma. A *k*-island in a graph G is a non-empty set  $S \subseteq V(G)$  such that every vertex in S has at most k neighbours in  $V(G) \setminus S$ .

**Lemma 6** ([98]). If every non-empty subgraph of a graph G has a k-island of size at most c, then G is (k + 1)-choosable with clustering c.

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on |V(G)|. The base case is trivial. Let L be a (k+1)-list assignment for G. By assumption, G has a k-island S. By induction, G - S is L-colourable with clustering c. Assign each vertex  $v \in S$  a colour in L(v) not assigned to any neighbour of v in  $V(G) \setminus S$ . Each monochromatic component is contained in S or is a monochromatic component of G - S. Since  $|S| \leq c$ , G is L-coloured with clustering c. Thus G is k-choosable with clustering c.

Note that islands generalise the notion of degeneracy, since a graph is k-degenerate if and only if every non-empty subgraph has a k-island of size 1. Thus Lemma 6 with c = 1 is equivalent to the well-known statement that every k-degenerate graph is properly (k + 1)-choosable.

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 

## 3 Graphs on Surfaces

#### 3.1 Outerplanar Graphs

Let  $\mathcal{O}$  be the class of outerplanar graphs. Every outerplanar graph is 2-degenerate, and thus is properly 3-colourable and 3-choosable. Since  $\overline{S}(2, c)$  is outerplanar, by Lemma 2,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{O}) = \chi_{\star}^{\ell}(\mathcal{O}) = 3.$$

Cowen et al. [66] proved the following result for defective colourings of outerplanar graphs.

**Theorem 7** ([66]). Every outerplanar graph G is 2-colourable such that each monochromatic component is a path (and thus with defect 2).

Proof. We may assume G is connected. Let  $V_0, V_1, \ldots$  be the BFS layering starting from some vertex r. Thus  $V_0 = \{r\}$ . If  $G[V_i]$  has maximum degree at least 3, for some  $i \ge 1$ , then contracting  $V_0 \cup \cdots \cup V_{i-1}$  into a single vertex gives a  $K_{2,3}$ -minor, which is not outerplanar. Thus  $G[V_i]$  has maximum degree at most 2. If  $G[V_i]$  contains a cycle, then contracting  $V_0 \cup \cdots \cup V_{i-1}$  into a single vertex gives a  $K_4$ -minor, which is not outerplanar. Thus each component of  $G[V_i]$  is a path. Colour each vertex in  $V_i$  by  $i \mod 2$ . Then G is 2-coloured such that each monochromatic component is a path.  $\Box$ 

Eaton and Hull [86] generalised Theorem 7 by showing that every outerplanar graph is 2-choosable with defect 2. By Lemma 1, the outerplanar graph  $K_{1,d+1}$  is not 1-colourable with defect d. Thus

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{O}) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{O}) = 2.$$

Moreover, the defect bound in the above results is best possible since the graph shown in Figure 4 is not 2-colourable with defect 1.



Figure 4: An outerplanar graph that is not 2-colourable with defect 1.

See [224, 226] for more results on defective colouring of outerplanar graphs.

#### 3.2 Planar Graphs

Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be the class of planar graphs. We now discuss defective colourings of  $\mathcal{P}$ . First note that many results about light edges in a planar graphs are known [136, 137]. Borodin [35] proved that every planar graph with minimum degree at least 3 contains an edge vw with  $\deg(v) + \deg(w) \leq 13$  (which is best possible for the graph obtained from the icosahedron

by stellating each face). This edge is 10-light. By Lemma 5, every planar graph is 3-choosable with defect 8. Cowen et al. [66] improved the defect bound here to 2, and Poh [189] proved an analogous result in which each monochromatic component is a path (see [124] for an alternative proof).

**Theorem 8** ([189]). Every planar graph is 3-colourable such that each monochromatic component is a path (and thus with defect 2).

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on |V(G)| with the hypothesis that every planar graph G is 3-colourable such that for each edge  $v_1v_2$  of G, there is such a 3-colouring of G such that each monochromatic component is a path, and  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  are properly coloured. (Recall that this means that every neighbour of  $v_1$  is assigned a distinct colour from  $v_1$ , and every neighbour of  $v_2$  is assigned a distinct colour from  $v_2$ .) In the base case, if  $|V(G)| \leq 4$ , then assign  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  distinct colours, and assign the (at most two) other vertices a third colour. Each monochromatic component is a path. Now assume that  $|V(G)| \geq 5$ . By adding edges, we may assume that G is a planar triangulation. Say the faces containing  $v_1v_2$  are  $v_1av_2$  and  $v_1bv_2$ . Let G' be obtained from G by deleting the edge  $v_1v_2$ , and introducing a new vertex x adjacent to  $v_1, v_2, a, b$ . Then G' is a planar triangulation. Let C be a shortest cycle in  $(G' - v_1) - v_2$  such that axb is a subpath of C. Since G' is 3-connected and  $|V(G)| \geq 5$ , such a cycle exists. Since C is shortest, C is an induced cycle. Let  $G'_1$  and  $G'_2$  be the subgraphs of G' 'inside' and 'outside' of C including C. That is,  $G' = G'_1 \cup G'_2$  and  $V(G'_1) \cap V(G'_2) = V(C)$  and  $E(G'_1) \cap E(G'_2) = E(C)$ . Without loss of generality,  $v_i \in V(G'_i)$  for  $i \in \{1,2\}$ . Note that

$$V(G)| = |V(G')| - 1 = |V(G'_1)| + |V(G'_2)| - |V(C)| - 1.$$

Let  $G''_i$  be obtained from  $G'_i$  by contracting C into vertex  $x_i$ . Then  $v_i x_i \in E(G''_i)$  and  $|V(G''_i)| = |V(G'_i)| - |V(C)| + 1$ . Thus

$$|V(G)| = (|V(G_1'')| + |V(C)| - 1) + (|V(G_2'')| + |V(C)| - 1) - |V(C)| - 1$$
  
= |V(G\_1'')| + |V(G\_2'')| + |V(C)| - 3.

Since  $|V(G_2'')| \ge 2$  and  $|V(C)| \ge 3$ , we have  $|V(G)| \ge |V(G_1'')| + 2$ , implying  $|V(G_1'')| < |V(G)|$ . Similarly,  $|V(G_2'')| < |V(G)|$ . By induction, each  $G_i''$  is 3-colourable such that each monochromatic component is a path, and  $v_i$  and  $x_i$  are properly coloured. Permute the colours so that  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  get the same colour, and  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  get distinct colours. Colour each vertex in  $V(C) \setminus \{x\}$  by the colour assigned to  $x_1$  and  $x_2$ . Note that  $V(C) \setminus \{x\}$  induces a path in G (since x is not a vertex of G). Moreover,  $V(C) \setminus \{x\}$  is a monochromatic component, since each  $x_i$  is properly coloured in  $G_i''$ . Every other monochromatic component of G is a monochromatic component of  $G_i''$  and is therefore a path in G.

Eaton and Hull [86] strengthened Theorem 8 by showing that every planar graph is 3-choosable with defect 2. (See Theorem 33 or an alternative proof of a more general result with a weaker defect bound.) Since S(2, d) is planar, by Lemma 1,

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{P}) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{P}) = 3.$$

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 

See [36, 38, 60, 110, 158, 206, 214, 224, 229] for more on defective colourings of planar graphs. See [216, 225, 232] for more on defective choosability of planar graphs.

Now consider clustered colourings of planar graphs. The 4-colour theorem [19, 196] says that every planar graph is properly 4-colourable. Cowen et al. [66] proved the weaker result that every planar graph is 4-colourable with defect 1 and thus with clustering 2 (with a computer-free elementary proof). Cushing and Kierstead [68] strengthened this result by proving that every planar graph is 4-choosable with defect 1 and thus with clustering 2. Since  $\overline{S}(3, c)$  is planar, by Lemma 2,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{P}) = \chi_{\star}^{\ell}(\mathcal{P}) = 4.$$

Thomassen [211] proved that every planar graph is properly 5-choosable. Voigt [213] and later Mirzakhani [175] constructed planar graphs that are not 4-choosable. Thus  $\chi^{\ell}(\mathcal{P}) = 5$ .

#### 3.3 Hex Lemma

Here we consider colourings of planar graphs with bounded degree. The following result is a dual version of the Hex Lemma, which says that the game of Hex cannot end in a draw. The proof is based on the proof of the Hex Lemma by Gale [105]. See [171, Section 6.1] for another proof.

**Theorem 9.** For every integer  $k \ge 2$  there is planar graph G with maximum degree 6 such that every 2-colouring of G has a monochromatic path of length k.

*Proof.* A suitable subgraph of the triangular grid forms an embedded plane graph with maximum degree 6, such that every internal face is a triangle, the outerface is a cycle  $(a, \ldots, b, \ldots, c, \ldots, d, \ldots)$ , the distance between  $\{a, \ldots, b\}$  and  $\{c, \ldots, d\}$  is at least k, and the distance between  $\{b, \ldots, c\}$  and  $\{d, \ldots, a\}$  is at least k. By Lemma 10 below, every 2-colouring of G contains a monochromatic path between  $\{a, \ldots, b\}$  and  $\{c, \ldots, d\}$  or between  $\{b, \ldots, c\}$  and  $\{d, \ldots, a\}$ , which has length at least k.

**Lemma 10.** Let G be an embedded plane graph with outerface  $(a, \ldots, b, \ldots, c, \ldots, d, \ldots)$ , such that every internal face is a triangle, and a, b, c, d are distinct. Then for every 2-colouring of G there is a monochromatic path between  $\{a, \ldots, b\}$  and  $\{c, \ldots, d\}$  or between  $\{b, \ldots, c\}$  and  $\{d, \ldots, a\}$ .

*Proof.* Say the colours are blue and red. As shown in Figure 5, let G' be obtained from G by adding four new vertices w, x, y, z, where  $N(w) = \{a, \ldots, b\} \cup \{z, x\}$  and  $N(x) = \{b, \ldots, c\} \cup \{w, y\}$  and  $N(y) = \{c, \ldots, d\} \cup \{x, z\}$  and  $N(z) = \{d, \ldots, a\} \cup \{y, w\}$ . Colour w and y blue. Colour x and z red. Note that G' embeds in the plane, such that every internal face of G' is a triangle, and the outerface of G' is the 4-cycle (w, x, y, z). The four internal faces of G' that share an edge with the outerface are (a, w, z), (b, x, w),(c, x, y) and (d, y, z). Call these faces *special*. Let H be the graph with one vertex for each internal face of G', where two vertices of H are adjacent if the corresponding faces of H share an edge whose endpoints are coloured differently. H is a subgraph of the dual of G' and is therefore planar. Let A, B, C, D be the vertices of H respectively corresponding to the special faces (a, w, z), (b, x, w), (c, x, y), (d, y, z). Since w and z are coloured differently, a has the same colour as exactly one of w and z, implying A has degree 1 in H. Similarly, B, C and D each have degree 1 in H. If some face of G' is monochromatic, then the corresponding vertex of H has degree 0. Every non-monochromatic non-special face F has two vertices of one colour and one vertex of the other colour, and F does not share an edge with the outerface. Thus the vertex of H corresponding to F has degree 2 in H. In summary, every vertex of H has degree 0 or 2, except for A, B, C, D, which have degree 1. Thus each component of H is either an isolated vertex, a cycle, or a path joining two of A, B, C, D. The two paths joining A, B, C, D are disjoint and do not cross. Thus, without loss of generality, H contains a path P with endpoints A and B. The red vertices on the faces corresponding to vertices in P form a walk from  $\{d, \ldots, a\}$  to  $\{b, \ldots, c\}$ , which contains the desired red path.

See [25, 145, 170, 172] for multi-dimensional generalisations of the Hex Lemma.



Figure 5: Proof of the Hex Lemma

#### 3.4 Defective Colouring of Graphs on Surfaces

For every integer  $g \ge 0$ , let  $\mathcal{E}_g$  be the class of graphs with Euler genus at most g. This section considers defective colourings of graphs in  $\mathcal{E}_g$ . Cowen et al. [66] proved that every graph in  $\mathcal{E}_g$  is defectively 4-colourable. Archdeacon [21] proved the conjecture of Cowen et al. [66] that every graph in  $\mathcal{E}_g$  is defectively 3-colourable. Since S(2, d) is planar,  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{E}_g) = 3$  by Lemma 1. The following proof of Cowen et al. [65]<sup>1</sup> provides a defect bound that is within a constant factor of optimal (since  $K_n$  has Euler genus  $\Theta(n^2)$ ).

**Theorem 11** ([65]). Every graph G with Euler genus g is 3-colourable with defect  $d := \max\{12, \lceil \sqrt{6g} \rceil + 7\}$ .

Proof. We proceed by induction on |V(G)| + |E(G)|. If some vertex v has degree at most 2, then by induction, G - v is 3-colourable with defect d. Assign v a colour different from the colours assigned to the neighbours of v. Then G is 3-coloured with defect d. Now assume that G has minimum degree at least 3. Let A be the set of vertices with degree at most d. If  $v, w \in A$  for some edge vw, then by induction, G - vw is 3-colourable with defect d, which is a 3-colouring of G with defect d. Now assume that A is a stable set. Let B be the set of vertices with degree at least d + 1. Since  $d \ge 12$  and by Lemma 12 below,  $|B| \le \frac{\max\{12(g-2),0\}}{d-11}$ . Colour the vertices in A blue. Colour  $\lceil \frac{|B|}{2} \rceil$  of the vertices in B red. Colour the other vertices in B green.

If  $g \leq 2$  then  $B = \emptyset$  and the defect is  $0 \leq d$ , as desired. Otherwise  $|B| \leq \frac{12(g-2)}{d-11}$ , and the defect is at most  $\lceil \frac{|B|}{2} \rceil - 1$ . If  $g \in \{3, 4\}$  then d = 12 and  $|B| \leq 24$  and the defect is at most 11, as desired. Otherwise,  $g \geq 5$ , and the defect is at most  $\frac{|B|-1}{2} \leq \frac{6(g-2)}{d-11} - \frac{1}{2}$ . We now show this bound is at most d. Since  $g \geq 5$ , we have  $12g + 36 \leq 12g + 7\sqrt{6g}$ , implying

$$12(g-2) \leqslant 12g + (15-8)\sqrt{6g} - 60 = (2\sqrt{6g} + 15)(\sqrt{6g} - 4).$$

Since  $d \ge \sqrt{6g} + 7$ , we have  $12(g-2) \le (2d+1)(d-11)$ . That is,  $6(g-2) \le (d+\frac{1}{2})(d-11)$ . Since  $d \ge 12$ , we have  $\frac{6(g-2)}{d-11} - \frac{1}{2} \le d$ , as claimed.

**Lemma 12** ([65]). Let G be a graph with Euler genus g and minimum degree at least 3. Fix an integer d. Let A be the set of vertices with degree at most d. Assume that A is a stable set. Let B be the set of vertices with degree at least d+1. Then  $(d-11)|B| \leq \max\{12(g-2), 0\}$ .

*Proof.* If  $B = \emptyset$  then the result is vacuous. Now assume that  $B \neq \emptyset$ . For each non-triangular face f, add an edge between two non-consecutive vertices in B (which must exist since A is a stable set). We obtain a multigraph triangulation G', in which A is a stable set. Let  $n_i$  be the number of vertices with degree i in G'. Let  $\alpha$  be the number of edges in G' incident with vertices in A. Let  $\beta$  be the number of edges in G' with both endpoints in B. By Euler's formula,

$$6(g-2) = \sum_{i \ge 3} (i-6)n_i = \sum_{3 \le i \le d} (i-6)n_i + \sum_{i \ge d+1} (i-6)n_i$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Cowen et al. [65] actually claim an upper bound on the defect of  $\max\{12, \sqrt{6g} + 6\}$ . We could not replicate this calculation.

$$= \sum_{3 \le i \le d} (i-6)n_i + \sum_{i \ge d+1} (\frac{i}{2} - 6)n_i + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \ge d+1} in_i$$
$$= \sum_{3 \le i \le d} (i-6)n_i + \sum_{i \ge d+1} (\frac{i}{2} - 6)n_i + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha + 2\beta).$$

Since G' is a triangulation, each face of G' has at most two edges incident with A, and at least one edge with endpoints in B. It follows that  $\alpha \leq 2\beta$  and

$$6(g-2) \ge \sum_{3 \le i \le d} (i-6)n_i + \sum_{i \ge d+1} (\frac{i}{2}-6)n_i + \alpha$$
$$= \sum_{3 \le i \le d} (2i-6)n_i + \sum_{i \ge d+1} (\frac{i}{2}-6)n_i$$
$$\ge 0 + (\frac{d+1}{2}-6) |B|.$$

The result follows.

Woodall [228] improved Theorem 11 to show that every graph with Euler genus g is 3-choosable with defect max $\{9, 2 + \sqrt{4g+6}\}$ . Thus

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{E}_g) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{E}_g) = 3.$$

See Theorems 43 and 76 for generalisations of this result, and see [58, 59, 117, 190, 224, 235] for further results on defective colourings of graphs embeddable on surfaces. One direction of interest is the following definition, which allows for results that bridge the gap between proper and defective colourings [39, 40, 56, 58, 59, 69, 178]: a graph G is  $(d_1, \ldots, d_k)$ -colourable if there is a partition  $V_1, \ldots, V_k$  of V(G) such that each induced subgraph  $G[V_i]$  has maximum degree at most  $d_i$ . For example, Choi and Esperet [59] proved the following analogue of the 4-colour theorem: every graph with Euler genus g > 0 is (0, 0, 0, 9g - 4)-colourable.

Note that the light edge approach also proves 3-choosability, but with a weaker defect bound. In particular, results of Ivančo [130] and Jendrol' and Tuhársky [134] together imply that every graph in  $\mathcal{E}_g$  with minimum degree at least 3 has an edge vw with  $deg(v) + deg(w) \leq max\{2g + 7, 19\}$ . (Better results are known for specific surfaces with  $g \leq 5$ , and all the bounds are tight.) Thus every graph in  $\mathcal{E}_g$  with minimum degree at least 3 has a max $\{2g + 4, 16\}$ -light edge. (See Lemma 78 for a more general result with a slightly weaker bound.) Lemma 5 then implies that every graph with Euler genus g is 3-choosable with defect max $\{2g + 2, 14\}$ . See [57, 173, 233, 234, 235, 236] for more on defective choosability of graphs embedded on surfaces.

#### 3.5 Clustered Colouring of Graphs on Surfaces

This section considers clustered colouring of graphs embeddable on surfaces. Esperet and Ochem [98] proved that every graph of bounded Euler genus has a 4-island of bounded size, and is thus 5-colourable with bounded clustering by Lemma 6. Kawarabayashi and

Thomassen [148] also proved that every graph of bounded Euler genus is 5-colourable with bounded clustering. Dvořák and Norin [84] improved 5 to 4 via the following remarkably simple argument.

**Lemma 13** ([84]). Let G be a graph, such that for some constants  $\alpha, c > 0$  and  $\beta \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$|E(G)| < (k+1-\alpha)|V(G)|,$$

and every subgraph of G with n vertices has a balanced separator of size at most  $cn^{1-\beta}$ . Then G has a k-island of size at most

$$\left[2\left(\frac{c(k+1)}{\alpha(2^{\beta}-1)}\right)^{1/\beta}\right].$$

Proof. Let  $\epsilon := \frac{\alpha}{k+1}$ . By Lemma 15 below, there exists  $X \subseteq V(G)$  of size at most  $\epsilon |V(G)|$  such that if  $K_1, \ldots, K_p$  are the components of G - X, then each  $K_i$  has at most  $\lceil 2(\frac{c}{\epsilon(2^{\beta}-1)})^{1/\beta} \rceil$  vertices. Let  $e(K_i)$  be the number of edges of G with at least one endpoint in  $K_i$ . Then

$$\sum_{i} e(K_i) \leq |E(G)| < (k+1-\alpha)|V(G)| = (1-\epsilon)(k+1)|V(G)| \leq (k+1)|V(G) \setminus X|$$
$$= (k+1)\sum_{i} |V(K_i)|.$$

Hence  $e(K_i) < (k+1) |V(K_i)|$  for some *i*. Repeatedly remove vertices from  $K_i$  with at least k + 1 neighbours outside of  $K_i$ . Doing so maintains the property that  $e(K_i) < (k+1) |V(K_i)|$ . Thus the final set is non-empty. We obtain a *k*-island of size at most  $|V(K_i)| \leq \lceil 2(\frac{c(k+1)}{\alpha(2^{\beta}-1)})^{1/\beta} \rceil$ .

The above proof depends on the following result by Edwards and McDiarmid [91]. Lipton and Tarjan [160, 161] implicitly proved an analogous result for planar graphs.

**Lemma 14** ([91]). Fix c > 0 and  $\beta \in (0, 1)$ . Let G be a graph with n vertices such that every subgraph G' of G has a balanced separator of size at most  $c|V(G')|^{1-\beta}$ . Then for all  $p \ge 1$  there exists  $S \subseteq V(G)$  of size at most  $\frac{c2^{\beta n}}{(2^{\beta}-1)p^{\beta}}$  such that each component of G - Shas at most p vertices.

*Proof.* Run the following algorithm. Initialise  $S := \emptyset$ . While G - S has a component X with more than p vertices, let  $S_X$  be a balanced separator of X with size at most  $c|V(X)|^{1-\beta}$ , and add  $S_X$  to S.

Say a component of G-S at the end of the algorithm has *level* 0. Say X is a component of G-S at some stage of the algorithm, but X is not a component of G-S at the end of the algorithm. Then X is separated by some set  $S_X$ , which is then added to S. Define the *level* of X to 1 plus the maximum level of a component of  $X - S_X$ .

By assumption, level 0 components have at most p vertices. Each level 1 component has more than p vertices. By induction on i, each level  $i \ge 1$  component has more than

 $2^{i-1}p$  vertices. Let  $t_i$  be the number of components at level  $i \ge 1$ . Say  $X_1, \ldots, X_{t_i}$  are the components at level *i*. Since level *i* components are pairwise disjoint,

$$t_i 2^{i-1} p < \sum_{j=1}^{t_i} |V(X_j)| \le n,$$

implying  $t_i < \frac{n}{2^{i-1}p}$ . The number of vertices added to S by separating  $X_1, \ldots, X_{t_i}$  is at most

$$c \sum_{j=1}^{t_i} |V(X_j)|^{1-\beta}$$

which is maximised, subject to  $\sum_{j} |V(X_{j})| \leq n$ , when  $|V(X_{j})| = \frac{n}{t_{i}}$ . Thus

$$c\sum_{j=1}^{t_i} |V(X_j)|^{1-\beta} \leqslant ct_i \left(\frac{n}{t_i}\right)^{1-\beta} = ct_i^{\beta} n^{1-\beta} < c\left(\frac{n}{2^{i-1}p}\right)^{\beta} n^{1-\beta} = cn\left(\frac{2^{1-i}}{p}\right)^{\beta}.$$

Hence

$$|S| \leqslant c \sum_{i \ge 1} n \left(\frac{2^{1-i}}{p}\right)^{\beta} = \frac{cn}{p^{\beta}} \sum_{i \ge 1} (2^{1-i})^{\beta} = \frac{c \, 2^{\beta} n}{(2^{\beta} - 1)p^{\beta}}.$$

Lemma 14 implies the following result. In the language of Edwards and McDiarmid [91], this lemma provides a sufficient condition for a graph to be 'fragmentable'; this idea is extended by Edwards and Farr [88, 90].

**Lemma 15** ([91]). Fix c > 0 and  $\beta \in (0, 1)$ . Let G be a graph with n vertices such that every subgraph G' of G has a balanced separator of size at most  $c|V(G')|^{1-\beta}$ . Then for  $\epsilon > 0$  there exists  $S \subseteq V(G)$  of size at most  $\epsilon|V(G)|$  such that each component of G - Shas at most  $\lceil 2(\frac{c}{\epsilon(2^{\beta}-1)})^{1/\beta} \rceil$  vertices.

We now reach the main result of this section.

**Theorem 16** ([84]). Every graph G with Euler genus g is 4-choosable with clustering 1500(g+2).

Proof. We proceed by induction on |V(G)|. Let L be a 4-list assignment for G. The claim is trivial if |V(G)| = 0. Now assume that  $|V(G)| \ge 1$ . First suppose that  $|V(G)| \le 6000g$ . Let v be any vertex of G. By induction, G - v is L-colourable with clustering 1500(g+2). Since |L(v)| = 4 and |V(G - v)| < 6000g, some colour  $c \in L(v)$  is assigned to at most 1500g vertices in G - v. Colour v by c. Thus G is L-coloured with clustering 1500(g+2). Now assume that |V(G)| > 6000g. Define  $\alpha := \frac{1999}{2000}$  and k := 3. It follows from Euler's formula that  $|E(G)| < 3(|V(G)| + g) \le (k + 1 - \alpha)|V(G)|$ . Various authors [9, 78, 93, 109] proved that every n-vertex graph with Euler genus at most g has a balanced separator of size  $O(\sqrt{gn})$ . Dujmović et al. [81] proved a concrete upper bound of  $2\sqrt{(2g+3)n}$ . Thus Lemma 13 with  $\beta = \frac{1}{2}$  implies that G has a 3-island of size at most

$$\left\lceil 2\left(\frac{4\cdot 2\sqrt{2g+3}}{\frac{1999}{2000}(\sqrt{2}-1)}\right)^2 \right\rceil \leqslant \lceil 747(2g+3)\rceil < 747(2g+3) + 1 < 1500(g+2).$$

The electronic journal of combinatorics (2018), #DS23

By induction, G - S is L-colourable with clustering 1500(g + 2). By the argument in Lemma 6, G is L-colourable with clustering 1500(g + 2).

Since  $\overline{S}(3,d)$  is planar, Lemma 2 and Theorem 16 imply

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{E}_g) = \chi^{\ell}_{\star}(\mathcal{E}_g) = 4.$$

It is still open to determine the best possible clustering function.

**Open Problem 17.** Does every graph in  $\mathcal{E}_q$  have a 4-colouring with clustering  $O(\sqrt{g})$ ?

The following question also remains open; see Section 8.1 for relevant material.

**Open Problem 18.** Are graphs with bounded Euler genus and bounded maximum degree 3-choosable with bounded clustering?

The above method extends for embedded graphs with large girth (since |E(G)| < 2(|V(G)| + g) if the girth is at least 4, and  $|E(G)| < \frac{5}{3}(|V(G)| + g)$  if the girth is at least 5).

**Theorem 19** ([84]). Let G be a graph with Euler genus g and girth k. If  $k \ge 4$ , then G is 3-choosable with clustering O(g). If  $k \ge 5$ , then G is 2-choosable with clustering O(g).

See Section 8.2 for more applications of the island method. Also note that Linial et al. [159] use sublinear separators in a slightly different way (compared with Lemma 13) to obtain bounds on the size of monochromatic components in 2-colourings of graphs.

## 4 Maximum Degree

The defective chromatic number of any graph class with bounded maximum degree equals 1. Thus defective colourings in the setting of bounded degree graphs are only interesting if one also considers the bound on the defect. Lovász [164] proved the following result for defective colourings of bounded degree graphs; see [29, 43, 107, 156] for related results and extensions.

**Theorem 20** ([164]). For  $d \ge 0$ , every graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$  is k-colourable with defect d, where  $k := \lfloor \frac{\Delta}{d+1} \rfloor + 1$ .

*Proof.* Consider a k-colouring of G that maximises the number of bichromatic edges. Suppose that some vertex v is adjacent to at least d + 1 vertices of the same colour. Some other colour is assigned to at most  $\lfloor (\deg(v) - d - 1)/(k - 1) \rfloor \leq d$  neighbours of v. Recolour v this colour. The number of bichromatic edges increases by at least 1. This contradiction shows that every vertex v is adjacent to at most d vertices of the same colour.

The electronic journal of combinatorics (2018), #DS23

We now show that Theorem 20 is best possible. Say  $G = K_n$  is k-colourable with defect d. Some monochromatic subgraph has at least  $\lceil \frac{n}{k} \rceil$  vertices. Thus  $d \ge \lceil \frac{n}{k} \rceil - 1$  and  $k \ge \frac{n}{d+1} = \frac{\Delta(G)+1}{d+1}$ . Moreover, if k does not divide n, then  $k > \frac{\Delta(G)+1}{d+1}$ , implying  $k \ge \lfloor \frac{\Delta(G)+1}{d+1} \rfloor + 1$ , which exactly matches the bound in Theorem 20.

Clustered colourings of bounded degree graphs are more challenging than their defective cousins. Let  $\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}$  be the class of graphs with maximum degree  $\Delta$ . First note the following straightforward lemma.

Lemma 21. For  $\Delta > d \ge 1$ ,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant \left( \left\lfloor \frac{\Delta}{d+1} \right\rfloor + 1 \right) \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_d).$$

Proof. Let  $k_1 := \lfloor \frac{\Delta}{d+1} \rfloor + 1$  and  $k_2 := \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_d)$ . Let G be a graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$ . By Theorem 20, G is  $k_1$ -colourable with defect d. Each monochromatic subgraph, which has maximum degree d, is  $k_2$ -colourable with clustering c (depending only on d). The product gives a  $k_1k_2$ -colouring of G with clustering c. Thus  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leq k_1k_2$ .  $\Box$ 

We now show a series of improving upper bounds on  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta})$ . Theorem 20 with d = 1 implies every graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$  is  $(\lfloor \Delta/2 \rfloor + 1)$ -colourable with defect 1, and thus with clustering 2. Hence

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant \left\lfloor \frac{\Delta}{2} \right\rfloor + 1.$$

In particular, this shows that every graph with maximum degree 3 is 2-colourable with clustering 2. Alon et al. [11] proved that every graph with maximum degree 4 is 2-colourable with clustering 57. Haxell et al. [120] improved this bound on the cluster size from 57 to 6. Lemma 21 with d = 4 then implies that

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant 2\left(\left\lfloor\frac{\Delta}{5}\right\rfloor + 1\right).$$

Alon et al. [11] pushed their method further to prove that

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant \left\lceil \frac{\Delta+2}{3} \right\rceil.$$

In fact, Alon et al. [11] showed that for  $\epsilon \in (0,3)$  every graph of maximum degree  $\Delta$  is  $\lceil (\Delta + 2)/(3 - \epsilon) \rceil$ -colourable with clustering  $c(\epsilon)$  (independent of  $\Delta$ ).

For the sake of brevity, we present slightly weaker results with simpler proofs. The following result was implicitly proved by Alon et al. [11].

**Theorem 22.** Let G be a graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$ . If G has a k-colouring with defect 2, then G has a (k + 1)-colouring with clustering  $24\Delta$ .

Proof. Say an induced cycle or path in G is short if it has at most  $8\Delta$  vertices, otherwise it is long. Let  $X_1, \ldots, X_k$  be a partition of V(G) corresponding to the given k-colouring with defect 2. Thus each  $G[X_i]$  is a collection of pairwise disjoint induced cycles and paths. Consider such a cycle or path Y that is long. Then  $|Y| = a(8\Delta) + b$  for some  $a \ge 1$ and  $b \in [1, 8\Delta]$ . Partition Y into a set of paths  $Y_1, \ldots, Y_a, Y_{a+1}$ , where  $|V(Y_j)| = 8\Delta$  for  $j \in [1, a]$ , and  $|V(Y_{a+1})| = b$ . Here the last vertex in  $Y_j$  is adjacent to the first vertex in  $Y_{j+1}$  for  $j \in [1, a]$ , and if Y is a cycle then the last vertex in  $Y_{a+1}$  is adjacent to the first vertex in  $Y_1$ . Let  $Z_1, \ldots, Z_n$  be the collection of all these induced paths with exactly  $8\Delta$ vertices (which might include some  $Y_{a+1}$ ).

Let G' be the subgraph of G induced by  $V(Z_1 \cup \cdots \cup Z_n)$ . Thus G' has maximum degree at most  $\Delta$ . By Lemma 23 below, G has a stable set  $S = \{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$  with  $v_i \in Z_i$ for each  $i \in [n]$ . We claim that  $\{S, X_1 \setminus S, \ldots, X_k \setminus S\}$  defines a (k + 1)-colouring with clustering 24 $\Delta$ . By construction, S is a stable set in G. Say Q is a component of  $G[X_i \setminus S]$ . Then Q is contained in some component Y of  $G[X_i]$ . If Y is short, then  $|Q| \leq 8\Delta$  as desired. Now assume that Y is long. Let  $(Y_1, \ldots, Y_a, Y_{a+1})$  be the above partition of Y. Since each of  $Y_1, \ldots, Y_a$  has a vertex in S, Q is contained in  $Y_j \cup Y_{j+1} \cup Y_{j+2}$  for some  $j \in [1, a + 1]$ , where  $Y_{a+2}$  means  $Y_1$  and  $Y_{a+3}$  means  $Y_2$ . Thus  $|Q| \leq 24\Delta$ .

The proof of Theorem 22 used the following well-known lemma about 'independent transversals'.

**Lemma 23.** Let G be a graph with maximum degree at most  $\Delta$ . Let  $V_1, \ldots, V_n$  be a partition of V(G), with  $|V_i| \ge 8\Delta$  for each  $i \in [n]$ . Then G has a stable set  $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$  with  $v_i \in V_i$  for each  $i \in [n]$ .

*Proof.* The proof uses the Lovász Local Lemma [96], which says that if  $\mathcal{X}$  is a set of events in a probability space, such that each event in  $\mathcal{X}$  has probability at most p and is mutually independent of all but D other events in  $\mathcal{X}$ , and  $4pD \leq 1$ , then with positive probability no event in  $\mathcal{X}$  occurs.

We may assume that  $|V_i| = 8\Delta$  for  $i \in [n]$ . For each  $i \in [n]$ , independently and randomly choose one vertex  $v_i \in V_i$ . Each vertex in  $V_i$  is chosen with probability at most  $\frac{1}{8\Delta}$ . Consider an edge vw, where  $v \in V_i$  and  $w \in V_j$ . Let  $X_{vw}$  be the event that both v and w are chosen. Thus  $X_{vw}$  has probability at most  $p := \frac{1}{64\Delta^2}$ . Observe that  $X_{vw}$  is mutually independent of every event  $X_{xy}$  where  $x \notin V_i \cup V_j$  and  $y \notin V_i \cup V_j$ . Thus  $X_{vw}$  is mutually independent of all but at most  $D := \Delta(|V_i| + |V_j|) = 16\Delta^2$  other events. Thus  $4pD = 4(\frac{1}{64\Delta^2})(16\Delta^2) \leq 1$ . By the Lovász Local Lemma, with positive probability, no event  $X_{vw}$  occurs. Hence there exist  $v_1, \ldots, v_n$  such that no event  $X_{vw}$  occurs. That is,  $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$  is the desired stable set.  $\Box$ 

The  $8\Delta$  term in Lemma 23 was improved to  $2\Delta$  by Haxell [121], which means the  $24\Delta$  term in Theorem 22 can be improved to  $6\Delta$ .

Theorem 20 with d = 2 and Theorem 22 imply

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant \left\lfloor \frac{\Delta}{3} \right\rfloor + 2.$$
 (1)

THE ELECTRONIC JOURNAL OF COMBINATORICS (2018), #DS23

Answering a question of Alon et al. [11], Haxell et al. [120] proved that every graph with maximum degree 5 is 2-colourable with clustering less than 20000. For two colours, maximum degree 5 is best possible, by the Hex Lemma (Theorem 9). Thus  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) = 2$  if and only if  $\Delta \in \{2, \ldots, 5\}$ . Lemma 21 with d = 5 then implies

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant 2\left(\left\lfloor\frac{\Delta}{6}\right\rfloor + 1\right).$$

Haxell et al. [120] proved that every graph with maximum degree 8 is 3-colourable with bounded clustering. Using their result for the  $\Delta = 5$  case and the  $\Delta = 8$  case, Haxell et al. [120] proved that

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant \left\lceil \frac{\Delta+1}{3} \right\rceil.$$

Moreover, Haxell et al. [120] proved for large  $\Delta$  one can do slightly better: for some constants  $\epsilon > 0$  and for all  $\Delta \ge \Delta_0$ ,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant \left(\frac{1}{3} - \epsilon\right) \Delta.$$

Note that for both these results by Haxell et al. [120] the clustering bound is independent of  $\Delta$ .

It is open whether every graph with maximum degree 9 is 3-colourable with bounded clustering [120]. If this is true, then Lemma 21 with d = 9 would imply

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant 3\left(\left\lfloor\frac{\Delta}{10}\right\rfloor + 1\right),$$

which would be the best known upper bound on  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta})$ . Graphs with maximum degree 10 are not 3-colourable with bounded clustering [11], as shown by the following general lower bound, which also implies a 3-colour lower bound for graphs of maximum degree 6.

**Theorem 24** ([11, 120]). For every integer  $\Delta \ge 2$ ,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \geqslant \left\lfloor \frac{\Delta+6}{4} \right\rfloor.$$

Proof. If  $\Delta$  is odd, then  $\lfloor \frac{\Delta+6}{4} \rfloor = \lfloor \frac{(\Delta-1)+6}{4} \rfloor$ , and the result for  $\Delta - 1$  implies the result for  $\Delta$ . Thus we may assume that  $\Delta$  is even. Let  $k := \lfloor \frac{\Delta+6}{4} \rfloor$ . Our goal is to show that for every integer  $c \ge 3$  there is a graph G that has no (k-1)-colouring with clustering c. Erdős and Sachs [94] proved that there is a  $(\frac{\Delta}{2} + 1)$ -regular graph  $G_0$  with girth greater than c. Say  $|V(G_0)| = n$ . Let G be the line graph of  $G_0$ . Then G is  $\Delta$ -regular with  $(\frac{\Delta+2}{4})n$  vertices. Suppose on the contrary that G is (k-1)-colourable with clustering c. For some colour class X of G,

$$|X| \ge \frac{|V(G)|}{k-1} = \frac{(\Delta+2)n}{4k-4} \ge n.$$

Thus X corresponds to a set X' of at least n edges in  $G_0$ , which therefore contains a cycle of size greater than c. Thus, X contains a monochromatic component of size greater than c, which is a contradiction.

The following problem remains open for  $\Delta \ge 9$ .

**Open Problem 25.** What is  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta})$ ? The best known bounds are

$$\left\lfloor \frac{\Delta+6}{4} \right\rfloor \leqslant \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant \left\lceil \frac{\Delta+1}{3} \right\rceil,$$

and for some  $\epsilon > 0$  and all  $\Delta$  at least some constant  $\Delta_0$ .

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant \left(\frac{1}{3} - \epsilon\right) \Delta.$$

**Open Problem 26.** What is  $\chi^{\ell}_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta})$ ? The best known bounds are

$$\left\lfloor \frac{\Delta+6}{4} \right\rfloor \leqslant \chi^{\ell}_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta}) \leqslant \Delta,$$

where the upper bound follows from known Brooks-type bounds on the choice number [67].

It is interesting that for many of the above results the bound on the clustering is independent of  $\Delta$ . We now show that from any upper bound on  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta})$  with clustering linear in  $\Delta$ , one can obtain a slightly larger upper bound that is independent of  $\Delta$ . The idea of the proof is by Alon et al. [11].

**Theorem 27.** Suppose that every graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$  is  $(\frac{\Delta}{x} + y)$ -colourable with clustering  $\alpha\Delta$ , for some constants  $\alpha, x, y > 0$ . Then for every  $\epsilon > 0$  there is a number  $c = c(\epsilon, \alpha, x, y)$  such that every graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$  is  $((1 + \epsilon)\frac{\Delta}{x} + y)$ -colourable with clustering c.

*Proof.* Let  $d := \lceil \frac{2}{\epsilon}(xy-1) \rceil - 1$  and  $c := \max\{\alpha d, \frac{2\alpha d}{\epsilon}\}$ . If  $\alpha \Delta \leq c$  then the result holds by assumption. Now assume that  $\alpha \Delta > c \geq \frac{2\alpha d}{\epsilon}$  implying  $d \leq \frac{\epsilon \Delta}{2}$ . By Theorem 20, Gis k-colourable with defect d, where  $k := \lfloor \frac{\Delta}{d+1} \rfloor + 1$ . By assumption, each of these kmonochromatic subgraphs is  $(\frac{d}{x} + y)$ -colourable with clustering  $\alpha d$ . Thus G is k'-colourable with clustering  $\alpha d \leq c$ , where

$$k' := \left(\frac{\Delta}{d+1} + 1\right) \left(\frac{d}{x} + y\right) = \frac{\Delta}{x} + \frac{\Delta(xy-1)}{x(d+1)} + \frac{d}{x} + y.$$

Since  $xy - 1 \leq \frac{\epsilon}{2}(d+1)$  and  $d \leq \frac{\epsilon\Delta}{2}$ ,

$$k' \leqslant \frac{\Delta}{x} + \frac{\epsilon \Delta}{2x} + \frac{\epsilon \Delta}{2x} + y = \frac{(1+\epsilon)\Delta}{x} + y. \qquad \Box$$

See [26, 27, 89, 159] for more results about clustered colourings of graphs with given maximum degree.

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 

## 5 Maximum Average Degree

Recall that  $\operatorname{mad}(G)$  is the maximum average degree of a subgraph of G. For  $m \in \mathbb{R}^+$ , let  $\mathcal{A}_m$  be the class of graphs G with  $\operatorname{mad}(G) \leq m$ . A greedy algorithm shows that  $\chi(\mathcal{A}_m) \leq \lfloor m \rfloor + 1$ . Havet and Sereni [119] determined  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{A}_m)$  as follows.

Theorem 28 ([119]). For  $m \in \mathbb{R}^+$ ,

$$\chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{A}_m) = \chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{A}_m) = \left\lfloor \frac{m}{2} \right\rfloor + 1.$$

We prove Theorem 28 below. The key is the following lemma, which is a slightly weaker version of a result by Havet and Sereni [119], who proved that every graph G with  $mad(G) < k + \frac{kd}{k+d}$  is k-choosable with defect d.

**Lemma 29** (Frédéric Havet). For all  $m \in \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $k, d \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  such that  $\frac{1}{k} + \frac{1}{d} \leq \frac{2}{m}$ , every graph G with  $\operatorname{mad}(G) \leq m$  is k-choosable with defect d.

*Proof.* Let G be a counterexample with |V(G)| + |E(G)| minimum (with r, k, d fixed). By Lemma 5, G has minimum degree k and has no d-light edge. Let

$$A := \{ v \in V(G) : \deg(v) \leq m \},\$$
  
$$B := \{ v \in V(G) : m < \deg(v) \leq d \} \text{ and }\$$
  
$$C := \{ v \in V(G) : d < \deg(v) \}.$$

Since  $\frac{1}{k} + \frac{1}{d} \leq \frac{2}{m}$  we have  $\frac{m}{k} - 1 \leq 1 - \frac{m}{d}$ . Let  $\gamma$  be a real number with  $\frac{m}{k} - 1 \leq \gamma \leq 1 - \frac{m}{d}$ . Associate with each vertex v an initial charge of deg(v). The total charge is  $\sum_{v} \deg(v) = 2|E(G)|$ . Redistribute the charge as follows: for each edge vw with  $v \in A$ , let w send  $\gamma$  charge to v. Note that  $w \in C$  since G has no d-light edge. Now, each vertex  $v \in A$  has charge  $(1 + \gamma) \deg(v) \ge (1 + \gamma)k \ge m$ . The charge for each vertex  $v \in B$  is unchanged. Each vertex  $v \in C$  has charge at least  $(1 - \gamma) \deg(v) > (1 - \gamma)d \ge m$ . We may assume that  $C \ne \emptyset$ , as otherwise G is 1-colourable with defect d. Thus the total charge is greater than m|V(G)|, implying the average degree is greater than m, which is a contradiction.

Proof of Theorem 28. Let  $k := \lfloor \frac{m}{2} \rfloor + 1$ . Thus  $k > \frac{m}{2}$ . Let  $d := \lceil \frac{m^2}{4k-2m} + \frac{m}{2} \rceil$ , which is well-defined since 4k > 2m. Then

$$4d - 2m \geqslant \frac{m^2}{k - \frac{m}{2}},$$

implying

$$k \ge \frac{m}{2} + \frac{m^2}{4d - 2m} = \frac{m(2d - m) + m^2}{4d - 2m} = \frac{md}{2d - m} = \frac{1}{\frac{2}{m} - \frac{1}{d}}.$$

Since 2d > m,

$$\frac{1}{k} \leqslant \frac{2}{m} - \frac{1}{d}$$

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 

and  $\frac{1}{k} + \frac{1}{d} \leq \frac{2}{m}$ . By Lemma 29, every graph G with  $\operatorname{mad}(G) \leq m$  is  $(\lfloor \frac{m}{2} \rfloor + 1)$ -choosable with defect d. Thus  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{A}_m) \leq \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{A}_m) \leq \lfloor \frac{m}{2} \rfloor + 1$ .

For the lower bound, let  $h := \lfloor \frac{m}{2} \rfloor$ . Then the standard example S(h, d) has maximum average degree less than  $2h \leq m$  and is not *h*-colourable with defect *d* by Lemma 1. Thus  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{A}_m) \geq h+1$ , as required.

See [37, 39, 40, 41, 42, 44, 45, 46, 47, 79, 149, 150] for more results about defective colourings of graphs with given maximum average degree.

Little is known about clustered colourings of graphs with given maximum average degree.

**Open Problem 30.** What is  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{A}_m)$ ? The best known bounds are  $\lfloor \frac{m}{2} \rfloor + 1 \leq \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{A}_m) \leq \lfloor m \rfloor + 1$ .

Maximum average degree is closely related to degeneracy. Recall that a graph G is k-degenerate if every subgraph of G has minimum degree at most k. A greedy algorithm shows that every k-degenerate graph is properly (k + 1)-colourable. Since the standard example S(k, d) is k-degenerate, this bound cannot be improved even for defective colourings. Thus for the class of k-degenerate graphs, the defective chromatic number, defective choice number, clustered chromatic number, clustered choice number, and (proper) chromatic number all equal k + 1.

## 6 Excluding a Subgraph

For every graph H, the class of graphs with no H subgraph has bounded chromatic number if and only if H is a forest. The same result holds for defective chromatic number and clustered chromatic number. To see this, observe that if H contains a cycle, then graphs with girth greater than |V(H)| contain no H subgraph, and by the classical result of Erdős [95] there are graphs with arbitrarily large girth and chromatic number. By Proposition 3, the defective and clustered chromatic numbers are also arbitrarily large. Conversely, say F is a forest with n vertices. A well known greedy embedding procedure shows that every graph with minimum degree at least n - 1 contains F as a subgraph. That is, every graph containing no F subgraph is (n-2)-degenerate, and is thus (n-1)colourable. This bound is tight since  $K_{n-1}$  contains no F subgraph and is (n-1)-chromatic. In short, for the class of graphs containing no F subgraph, the chromatic number equals n-1. The following result by Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] shows that defective colourings exhibit qualitatively different behaviour.

**Theorem 31** ([185]). Let T be a tree with  $n \ge 2$  vertices and radius  $r \ge 1$ . Then every graph containing no T subgraph is r-colourable with defect n - 2.

Proof. For i = 1, 2, ..., r - 1, let  $V_i$  be the set of vertices  $v \in V(G) \setminus (V_1 \cup \cdots \cup V_{i-1})$  that have at most n-2 neighbours in  $V(G) \setminus (V_1 \cup \cdots \cup V_{i-1})$ . Let  $V_r := V(G) \setminus (V_1 \cup \cdots \cup V_{r-1})$ . Then  $V_1 \cup \cdots \cup V_r$  is a partition of V(G). For  $i \in [1, r - 1]$ , by construction,  $G[V_i]$  has maximum degree at most n-2, as desired. Suppose that  $G[V_r]$  has maximum degree at least n-1. We now show that T is a subgraph of G, where each vertex v of T is mapped to a vertex v' of G. Let x be the centre of T. Map the vertices of T to vertices in G in order of their distance from x in T, where x is mapped to a vertex x' with degree at least n-1 in  $G[V_r]$ . The key invariant is that each vertex v at distance  $j \in [1, r]$  from x in T is mapped to a vertex v' in  $V_{r-j+1} \cup \cdots \cup V_r$ . If j = 0 then v = x and by assumption, v' = x' has at least n-1 neighbours in  $V_r$ . If  $j \in [1, r-1]$  then by construction, v' has at least n-1 neighbours in  $V_{r-j} \cup \cdots \cup V_r$  (otherwise v' would be in  $V_{r-j}$ ). Thus there are always unmapped vertices in  $V_{r-j} \cup \cdots \cup V_r$  to choose as the children of v. Hence T is a subgraph of G. This contradiction shows that  $G[V_r]$  has maximum degree at most n-2, and G is r-colourable with defect n-2.

The number of colours in Theorem 31 is best possible for the complete binary tree T of radius r. Since S(r-1, d) contains no T subgraph, Lemma 1 and Theorem 31 imply that the defective chromatic number of the class of graphs containing no T subgraph equals r.

**Open Problem 32.** For a tree T, what is the clustered chromatic number of the class of graphs with no T subgraph?

The results in Section 4 on  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta})$  are relevant to this question since a graph has maximum degree at most  $\Delta$  if and only if it excludes  $K_{1,\Delta+1}$  as a subgraph. Section 8.5 studies colourings of graphs that exclude a given path subgraph.

## 7 Excluding a Shallow Minor

#### 7.1 Excluding $K_{s,t}^*$

As illustrated in Figure 6, for integers  $s, t \ge 1$ , let  $K_{s,t}^*$  be the bipartite graph obtained from  $K_{s,t}$  by adding  $\binom{s}{2}$  new vertices, each adjacent to a distinct pair of vertices in the colour class of s vertices in  $K_{s,t}$ . Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] studied defective colourings for graphs excluding  $K_{s,t}^*$  as a subgraph, where the defect bound depends on the density of shallow topological minors. Let  $\nabla(G)$  be the maximum average degree of a graph Hsuch that the 1-subdivision of H is a subgraph of G.

**Theorem 33** ([185]). Every graph G with no  $K_{s,t}^*$  subgraph is s-choosable with defect  $\ell - s + 1$ , where  $\delta = \operatorname{mad}(G)$  and  $\nabla = \nabla(G)$  and

$$\ell := \ell(s, t, \delta, \nabla) := \begin{cases} \lfloor (\delta - s) \left( \binom{\lfloor \nabla \rfloor}{s-1} (t-1) + \frac{1}{2} \nabla \right) + \delta \rfloor & \text{if } s > 2, \\ \lfloor \frac{1}{2} (\delta - 2) \nabla t + \delta \rfloor & \text{if } s = 2, \\ t-1 & \text{if } s = 1. \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* Assume for contradiction that G has minimum degree at least s (thus  $s \leq \delta$ ) and that G contains no  $\ell$ -light edge. The case s = 1 is simple: Since G has minimum degree at least 1, G has at least one edge, which is  $\ell$ -light since  $\Delta(G) \leq t - 1$  and  $\ell = t - 1$ . Now assume that  $s \geq 2$ .

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 



Figure 6: The graph  $K_{7,13}^*$ .

Let A be the set of vertices in G of degree at most  $\ell$ . Let  $B := V(G) \setminus A$ . Let a := |A|and b := |B|. Since G has a vertex of degree at most  $\delta$  and  $\delta \leq \ell$ , we deduce that a > 0. Note that no two vertices in A are adjacent.

Since the average degree of G is at most  $\delta$ ,

$$(\ell+1)b + sa \leq 2|E(G)| \leq \delta(a+b).$$

That is,

$$(\ell + 1 - \delta)b \leqslant (\delta - s)a. \tag{2}$$

Let G' be the graph obtained from G - E(G[B]) by greedily finding a vertex  $w \in A$  having a pair of non-adjacent neighbours x, y in B and replacing w by an edge joining x and y (by deleting all edges incident with w except xw, yw and contracting xw), until no such vertex w exists.

Let  $A' := V(G') \setminus B$  and a' := |A'|. Clearly the 1-subdivision of G'[B] is a subgraph of G. So every subgraph of G'[B] has average degree at most  $\nabla$ . Since G'[B] contains at least a - a' edges,

$$a - a' \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \nabla b. \tag{3}$$

Let M be the number of cliques of size s in G'[B]. Since G'[B] is  $\lfloor \nabla \rfloor$ -degenerate,

$$M \leqslant \binom{\lfloor \nabla \rfloor}{s-1} b$$

(See [180, p. 25] or [222]). If s = 2, then the following better inequality holds:

$$M \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \nabla b$$

For each vertex  $v \in A'$ , since v was not contracted in the creation of G', the set of neighbours of v in B is a clique of size at least s. Thus if a' > M(t-1), then there are

at least t vertices in A' sharing at least s common neighbours in B. These t vertices and their s common neighbours in B with the vertices in A - A' form a  $K_{s,t}^*$  subgraph of G, contradicting our assumption. Thus,

$$a' \leqslant M(t-1). \tag{4}$$

By (2), (3) and (4),

$$\ell + 1 \leqslant (\delta - s) \left( \frac{M}{b} (t - 1) + \frac{1}{2} \nabla \right) + \delta,$$

contradicting the definition of  $\ell$ . Thus G has minimum degree at most s - 1 or G contains an  $\ell$ -light edge. The theorem now follows from Lemma 5.

Theorem 33, in conjunction with the standard example, determines the defective chromatic number for several graph classes of interest; see Sections 7.2 to 7.6. Moreover, Theorem 33 determines the defective choice number for a very broad class of graphs—complete bipartite subgraphs are the key.

**Theorem 34** ([84, 185]). Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a subgraph-closed class of graphs with  $\operatorname{mad}(\mathcal{G})$  and  $\nabla(\mathcal{G})$  bounded (which holds if  $\mathcal{G}$  is minor-closed). Then  $\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G})$  equals the minimum integer s such that  $K_{s,t} \notin \mathcal{G}$  for some integer t.

Proof. If  $K_{s,t} \notin \mathcal{G}$  for some  $s, t \ge 1$ , then by Theorem 33, every graph in  $\mathcal{G}$  is s-choosable with defect bounded by a function of  $s, t, \operatorname{mad}(\mathcal{G})$  and  $\nabla(\mathcal{G})$ . This proves the claimed upper bound. Conversely, let  $s := \chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G})$ . Then for some d, every graph in  $\mathcal{G}$  is s-choosable with defect d. By Lemma 35 below, if  $t = (ds + 1)s^s$  then  $K_{s,t}$  is not in  $\mathcal{G}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 35.** For  $s \ge 1$  and  $d \ge 0$ , if  $t = (ds+1)s^s$ , then the complete bipartite graph  $K_{s,t}$  is not s-choosable with defect d.

Proof. Let A and B be the colour classes of  $K_{s,t}$  with |A| = s and |B| = t. Say  $A = \{v_1, \ldots, v_s\}$ . Let  $X_1, \ldots, X_s$  be pairwise disjoint sets of colours, each of size s. Let L be the following s-list assignment for  $K_{s,t}$ . Let  $L(v_i) := X_i$  for each vertex  $v_i \in A$ . For each vector  $(c_1, \ldots, c_s)$  with  $c_i \in X_i$  for each  $i \in [s]$ , let  $L(x) := \{c_1, \ldots, c_s\}$  for ds + 1 vertices x in B. This is possible since  $|B| = (ds + 1)s^s$ . Consider an L-colouring of  $K_{s,t}$ . Say each vertex  $v_i$  is coloured  $c_i \in L(v_i)$ . Since  $X_i \cap X_j = \emptyset$ , we have  $c_i \neq c_j$  for distinct  $i, j \in [s]$ . By construction, there are ds + 1 vertices  $x \in B$  with  $L(x) = \{c_1, \ldots, c_s\}$ . At least d + 1 of these vertices are assigned the same colour, say  $c_i$ . Thus  $v_i$  has monochromatic degree at least d + 1. Hence  $K_{s,t}$  is not L-colourable with defect d. Therefore  $K_{s,t}$  is not s-choosable with defect d.

Note that Theorem 34 generalises several previous results. For example, Theorem 34 says that  $\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{O}) = 2$  since  $K_{2,3}$  is not outerplanar, but  $K_{1,n}$  is outerplanar for all n. Similarly,  $\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{P}) = 3$  since  $K_{3,3}$  is not planar, but  $K_{2,n}$  is planar for all n. More generally, Theorem 34 immediately implies:

**Corollary 36.** For every graph H,  $\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{M}_H)$  equals the minimum integer s such that H is a minor of  $K_{s,t}$  for some integer t.

Theorem 34 also determines the defective choice number for graphs excluding a fixed immersion (see Theorem 52).

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 

#### 7.2 Linklessly Embeddable Graphs

A graph is *linklessly embeddable* if it has an embedding in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with no two linked cycles [199, 201]. Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be the class of linklessly embeddable graphs. Then  $\mathcal{L}$  is a minor-closed class whose minimal excluded minors are the so-called Petersen family [200], which includes  $K_6$ ,  $K_{4,4}$  minus an edge, and the Petersen graph. Since linklessly embeddable graphs exclude  $K_6$  minors, they are 5-colourable [198] and 8-choosable [23]. It is open whether  $K_6$ -minor-free graphs or linklessly embeddable graphs are 6-choosable [23].

Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] determined  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{L})$  as follows. A graph is *apex* if deleting at most one vertex makes it planar. Every apex graph is linklessly embeddable [199]. Since S(2, d) is planar, S(3, d) is apex, and thus linklessly embeddable. By Lemma 1,  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{L}) \geq 4$ . Note that the weaker lower bound,  $\chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{L}) \geq 4$ , follows from Theorem 34 since  $K_{4,4} \notin \mathcal{L}$ . Mader's theorem [168] for  $K_6$ -minor-free graphs implies that linklessly embeddable graphs have average degree less than 8 and minimum degree at most 7. Since linklessly embeddable graphs exclude  $K_{4,4}$  minors, Theorem 33 implies the upper bound in the following theorem.

**Theorem 37** ([185]). Every linklessly embeddable graph is 4-choosable with defect 440, and

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{L}) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{L}) = 4.$$

Note that Theorem 34 also implies  $\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{L}) = 4$  since  $K_{4,4}$  is not linkless, but  $K_{3,n}$  is linkless for all n.

We have the following result for clustered colourings of linklessly embeddable graphs.

**Theorem 38.** Every linklessly embeddable graph is 5-choosable with clustering 62948, and

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{L}) = \chi_{\star}^{\ell}(\mathcal{L}) = 5.$$

*Proof.* The upper bound follows from Theorem 58 since every linkless graph contains no  $K_6$ -minor. Since  $\overline{S}(3,c)$  is planar,  $\overline{S}(4,c)$  is apex, and thus linklessly embeddable. The lower bound then follows from Lemma 2.

#### 7.3 Knotlessly Embeddable Graphs

A graph is *knotlessly embeddable* if it has an embedding in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  in which every cycle forms a trivial knot; see [191] for a survey. Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be the class of knotlessly embeddable graphs. Then  $\mathcal{K}$  is a minor-closed class whose minimal excluded minors include  $K_7$  and  $K_{3,3,1,1}$  [63, 102]. More than 260 minimal excluded minors are known [112], but the full list of minimal excluded minors is unknown. Since knotlessly embeddable graphs exclude  $K_7$ minors, they are 8-colourable [7, 132]. Mader [168] proved that  $K_7$ -minor-free graphs have average degree less than 10, which implies they are 9-degenerate and thus 10-choosable. It is open whether  $K_7$ -minor-free graphs or knotlessly embeddable graphs are 6-colourable or 7-choosable [23].

Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] determined the defective chromatic number of knotlessly embeddable graphs as follows. A graph is 2-*apex* if deleting at most two vertices makes it



Figure 7: S(4, d) is knotlessly embeddable.

planar. Blain et al. [31] and Ozawa and Tsutsumi [186] proved that every 2-apex graph is knotlessly embeddable. Since every block of S(4, d) is 2-apex, S(4, d) is knotlessly embeddable, as illustrated in Figure 7. By Lemma 1,  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}) \ge 5$ . Since  $K_{3,3,1,1}$  is a minor of  $K_{5,3}^*$ , knotlessly embeddable graphs do not contain a  $K_{5,3}^*$  subgraph. Since mad( $\mathcal{K}$ ) < 10, Theorem 33 implies the following result.

**Theorem 39** ([185]). Every knotlessly embeddable graph is 5-choosable with defect 660, and

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{K}) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{K}) = 5.$$

We have the following result for clustered colourings of knotlessly embeddable graphs.

**Theorem 40.** Every knotlessly embeddable graph is 6-choosable with clustering 99958, and

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{K}) = \chi_{\star}^{\ell}(\mathcal{K}) = 6.$$

*Proof.* The upper bound follows from Theorem 58 since every knotless graph contains no  $K_7$ -minor. Since every block of  $\overline{S}(5,d)$  is 2-apex,  $\overline{S}(5,d)$  is knotlessly embeddable. The lower bound then follows from Lemma 2.

#### 7.4 Colin de Verdière Parameter

The Colin de Verdière parameter  $\mu(G)$  is an important graph invariant introduced by Colin de Verdière [61, 62]; see [127, 202] for surveys. It is known that  $\mu(G) \leq 1$  if and only if G is a disjoint union of paths,  $\mu(G) \leq 2$  if and only if G is outerplanar,  $\mu(G) \leq 3$ if and only if G is planar, and  $\mu(G) \leq 4$  if and only if G is linklessly embeddable. A famous conjecture of Colin de Verdière [61] states that  $\chi(G) \leq \mu(G) + 1$  (which implies the 4-colour theorem, and is implied by Hadwiger's Conjecture). Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] showed that for defective colourings one fewer colour suffices. Let  $\mathcal{V}_k := \{G : \mu(G) \leq k\}$ .

**Theorem 41** ([185]). *For*  $k \ge 1$ ,

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{V}_k) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{V}_k) = k.$$

The electronic journal of combinatorics (2018), #DS23

Proof.  $\mathcal{V}_k$  is a minor-closed class [61, 62]. van der Holst et al. [127] proved that  $\mu(K_{s,t}) = s + 1$  for  $t \ge \max\{s, 3\}$ . Thus, if  $\mu(G) \le k$  then G contains no  $K_{k,\max(k,3)}$  minor, and  $\max(G) \le 2\nabla(G) \le O(k\sqrt{\log k})$ . Theorem 33 with s = k and  $t = \max\{k, 3\}$  implies that G is k-choosable with defect  $2^{O(k\log\log k)}$ . Thus  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{V}_k) \le \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{V}_k) \le k$ . For the lower bound, van der Holst et al. [127] proved that  $\mu(G)$  equals the maximum of  $\mu(G')$ , taken over the components G' of G, and if G has a dominant vertex v, then  $\mu(G) = \mu(G - v) + 1$ . It follows that the standard example S(k - 1, d) is in  $\mathcal{V}_k$  for  $d \ge 2$ . Lemma 1 then implies that  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{V}_k) \ge k$ . Note that the weaker lower bound,  $\chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{V}_k) \ge k$ , follows from Theorem 34 since  $K_{k,\max\{k,3\}} \notin \mathcal{V}_k$ .

Theorem 41 generalises Theorem 37 which corresponds to the case k = 4.

Clustered colourings provide a natural approach to the conjecture of Colin de Verdière [61] mentioned above.

## Conjecture 42. $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{V}_k) = k + 1.$

Note that Conjecture 42 with  $k \leq 7$  is implied by Theorem 58 below since graphs in  $\mathcal{V}_k$  contain no  $K_{k+2}$  minor.

#### 7.5 Crossings

This section considers defective colourings of graphs with linear crossing number. For an integer  $g \ge 0$  and real number  $k \ge 0$ , let  $\mathcal{E}_g^k$  be the class of graphs G such that every subgraph H of G has a drawing on a surface of Euler genus g with at most k |E(H)| crossings. (In a drawing, we assume that no three edges cross at a common point.) This says that the average number of crossings per edge is at most 2k (for every subgraph). Of course, a graph is planar if and only if it is in  $\mathcal{E}_0$ , and a graph has Euler genus at most g if and only if it is in  $\mathcal{E}_q^0$ .

Graphs that can be drawn in the plane with at most k crossings per edge, so called k-planar graphs, are examples of graphs in  $\mathcal{E}_0^{(k/2)}$ . Pach and Tóth [187] proved that k-planar graphs have average degree  $O(\sqrt{k})$ . It follows that k-planar graphs are  $O(\sqrt{k})$ -colourable, which is best possible since  $K_n$  is  $O(n^2)$ -planar. Say a graph is (g, k)-planar if it can be drawn on a surface with Euler genus g with at most k crossings per edge. Such graphs are in  $\mathcal{E}_g^{(k/2)}$ . Also note that even 1-planar graphs do not form a minor-closed class. For example, the  $n \times n \times 2$  grid graph is 1-planar, as illustrated in Figure 8, but contracting the *i*-th row in the front grid with the *i*-column in the back grid (plus the edge joining them) creates  $K_n$  as a minor.

Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] showed that Theorem 33 is applicable for graphs in  $\mathcal{E}_{g}^{k}$ . In particular, such graphs contain no  $K_{3,3k(2g+3)(2g+2)+2}$  subgraph and have mad  $\leq O(\sqrt{(k+1)(g+1)})$  and  $\nabla \leq O(\sqrt{(k+1)(g+1)})$ . The first claim here is proved using a standard technique of counting copies of  $K_{3,3}$ . The second claim is proved using the crossing lemma. The next theorem follows. It is a substantial generalisation of Theorem 8 (the g = k = 0 case) and Theorem 11 (the k = 0 case), with a worse defect bound.



Figure 8: The  $n \times n \times 2$  grid graph is 1-planar.

**Theorem 43** ([185]). For every integer  $g \ge 0$  and real number  $k \ge 0$ ,

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{E}_g^k) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{E}_g^k) = 3.$$

In particular, every graph in  $\mathcal{E}_g^k$  is 3-choosable with defect  $O((k+1)^{5/2}(g+1)^{7/2})$ .

**Open Problem 44.** What is the clustered chromatic number of k-planar graphs? What is the clustered chromatic number of (g, k)-planar graphs? What is the clustered chromatic number of  $\mathcal{E}_q^k$ ?

It may be that the answer to all these questions is 4. Here we prove the answer is at most 12 for the first two questions.

**Proposition 45.** Every (g,k)-planar graph G is 12-colourable with clustering  $O((k + 1)^{7/2}(g+1)^{9/2})$ .

Proof. By Theorem 43, G is 3-colourable with defect  $O((k+1)^{5/2}(g+1)^{7/2})$ . That is, G contains three induced subgraphs  $G_1$ ,  $G_2$  and  $G_3$  of G each with maximum degree at most  $O((k+1)^{5/2}(g+1)^{7/2})$ , where  $V(G) = \bigcup_i V(G_i)$ . Dujmović et al. [80] proved that every (g, k)-planar graph has layered treewidth O((g+1)(k+1)). Apply this result to each  $G_i$ . Thus, for some layering  $V_1, \ldots, V_n$  of  $G_i$ , each layer  $G_i[V_j]$  has treewidth O((g+1)(k+1)). By Theorem 55,  $G_i[V_j]$  is 2-colourable with clustering  $O((k+1)^{7/2}(g+1)^{9/2})$ . Within  $G_i$ , use two colours for odd j and two distinct colours for even j. Each monochromatic component is contained in some  $V_i$ . The total number of colours is  $3 \times 2 \times 2 = 12$ .

#### 7.6 Stack and Queue Layouts

A k-stack layout of a graph G consists of a linear ordering  $v_1, \ldots, v_n$  of V(G) and a partition  $E_1, \ldots, E_k$  of E(G) such that no two edges in  $E_i$  cross with respect to  $v_1, \ldots, v_n$  for each

 $i \in [1, k]$ . Here edges  $v_a v_b$  and  $v_c v_d$  cross if a < c < b < d. A graph is a k-stack graph if it has a k-stack layout. The stack-number of a graph G is the minimum integer k for which G is a k-stack graph. Stack layouts are also called *book embeddings*, and stack-number is also called *book-thickness*, fixed outer-thickness and page-number. Let  $S_k$  be the class of k-stack graphs. Dujmović and Wood [83] showed that  $\chi(S_k) \in \{2k, 2k + 1, 2k + 2\}$ . For defective colourings, Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] showed that k + 1 colours suffice.

**Theorem 46** ([185]). The class of k-stack graphs has defective chromatic number and defective choice number equal to k+1. In particular, every k-stack graph is (k+1)-choosable with defect  $2^{O(k \log k)}$ .

Proof. The lower bound follows from Lemma 1 since an easy inductive argument shows that S(k, d) is a k-stack graph for all d. For the upper bound,  $K_{k+1,k(k+1)+1}$  is not a k-stack graph [30]; see also [70]. Every k-stack graph G has average degree less than 2k+2 (see [30, 83]) and  $\nabla(G) \leq 20k^2$  (see [92, 181]). The result follows from Theorem 33 with s = k+1 and t = k(k+1)+1, since  $\ell(k+1,k(k+1)+1,2k+2,40k^2) \leq 2^{O(k \log k)}$ .  $\Box$ 

A k-queue layout of a graph G consists of a linear ordering  $v_1, \ldots, v_n$  of V(G) and a partition  $E_1, \ldots, E_k$  of E(G) such that no two edges in  $E_i$  are nested with respect to  $v_1, \ldots, v_n$  for each  $i \in [1, k]$ . Here edges  $v_a v_b$  and  $v_c v_d$  are nested if a < c < d < b. The queue-number of a graph G is the minimum integer k for which G has a k-queue layout. A graph is a k-queue graph if it has a k-queue layout. Let  $\mathcal{Q}_k$  be the class of k-queue graphs. Dujmović and Wood [83] state that determining  $\chi(\mathcal{Q}_k)$  is an open problem, and showed lower and upper bounds of 2k + 1 and 4k. Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] proved the following partial answer to this question.

**Theorem 47** ([185]). Every k-queue graph is (2k + 1)-choosable with defect  $2^{O(k \log k)}$ .

*Proof.* Heath and Rosenberg [122] proved that  $K_{2k+1,2k+1}$  is not a k-queue graph. Every k-queue graph G has mad(G) < 4k (see [83, 122, 188]) and  $\nabla(G) < (2k+2)^2$  (see [181]). The result then follows from Theorem 33 with s = 2k + 1 and t = 2k + 1, since  $\ell(2k + 1, 2k + 1, 4k, 2(2k+2)^2) \leq 2^{O(k \log k)}$ .

An easy inductive construction shows that S(k, n) has a k-queue layout. Thus  $k + 1 \leq \chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{Q}_k) \leq 2k + 1$  by Lemma 1 and Theorem 47. It remains an open problem to determine  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{Q}_k)$ .

Now consider clustered colourings of k-stack and k-queue graphs. The standard example  $\overline{S}(2,c)$  is outerplanar, and thus has a 1-stack layout. An easy inductive construction then shows that  $\overline{S}(k,c)$  has a (k-1)-stack layout (for  $k \ge 2$ ) and a k-queue layout. The best known upper bounds come from degeneracy: every k-stack graph is (2k + 1)-degenerate and every k-queue graph is (4k - 1)-degenerate (see [83]). Thus

$$k + 2 \leq \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{S}_k) \leq \chi_{\star}^{\ell}(\mathcal{S}_k) \leq \chi^{\ell}(\mathcal{S}_k) \leq 2k + 2 \text{ and} \\ k + 1 \leq \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{Q}_k) \leq \chi_{\star}^{\ell}(\mathcal{Q}_k) \leq \chi^{\ell}(\mathcal{Q}_k) \leq 4k.$$

Closing the gap in these bounds is interesting because the existing methods say nothing about clustered colourings of k-stack or k-queue graphs. For example, Lemma 13 is not applicable since 3-stack and 2-queue graphs do not have sublinear balanced separators. Indeed, Dujmović et al. [82] constructed (cubic bipartite) 3-stack expander graphs and (cubic bipartite) 2-queue expander graphs.

#### 7.7 Excluded Immersions

This section considers colourings of graphs excluding a fixed immersion. A graph G contains a graph H as an *immersion* if the vertices of H can be mapped to distinct vertices of G, and the edges of H can be mapped to pairwise edge-disjoint paths in G, such that each edge vw of H is mapped to a path in G whose endpoints are the images of v and w. The image in G of each vertex in H is called a *branch vertex*. A graph G contains a graph H as a *strong immersion* if G contains H as an immersion such that for each edge vw of H, no internal vertex of the path in G corresponding to vw is a branch vertex. Let  $\mathcal{I}_t$  be the class of graphs not containing  $K_t$  as an immersion. Let  $\mathcal{I}'_t$  be the class of graphs not containing  $K_t$  as a strong immersion.

Lescure and Meyniel [157] and Abu-Khzam and Langston [1] independently conjectured that every  $K_t$ -immersion-free graph is properly (t-1)-colourable. Often motivated by this question, structural and colouring properties of graphs excluding a fixed immersion have recently been widely studied. The best upper bound, due to Gauthier et al. [106], says that every  $K_t$ -immersion-free graph is properly (3.54t + 3)-colourable

Van den Heuvel and Wood [124] proved that the defective chromatic number of  $K_t$ immersion-free graphs equals 2. The proof, presented below, is based on the following structure theorem of DeVos et al. [74]. Almost the same result can be concluded from a structure theorem by Wollan [219]. Since Lemma 48 is not proved explicitly in [74] we include the full proof, which relies on the following definitions. For each edge xy of a tree T, let T(xy) and T(yx) be the components of T - xy, where x is in T(xy) and y is in T(yx). For a tree T and graph G, a T-partition of G is a partition  $(T_x \subseteq V(G) : x \in V(T))$  of V(G)indexed by the nodes of T. Each set  $T_x$  is called a bag. Note that a bag may be empty. For each edge  $e = xy \in E(T)$ , let  $G(T, xy) = \bigcup_{z \in V(T(xy))} T_z$  and  $G(T, yx) = \bigcup_{z \in V(T(yx))} T_z$ , and let E(G, T, e) be the set of edges in G between G(T, xy) and G(T, yx). The adhesion of a T-partition is the maximum, taken over all edges e of T, of |E(G, T, e)|. For each node x of T, the torso of x (with respect to a T-partition) is the graph obtained from G by identifying G(T, yx) into a single vertex for each edge xy incident to x, deleting resulting parallel edges and loops. Note that a tree T for which  $V(G) \subseteq V(T)$  implicitly defines a T-partition of G with  $T_x = \{x\} \cap V(G)$  for each node  $x \in V(T)$ .

**Lemma 48** ([74]). For every graph G that does not contain  $K_t$  as an immersion, there is a tree T and a T-partition of G with adhesion less than  $(t-1)^2$ , such that each bag has at most t-1 vertices.

*Proof.* Gomory and Hu [113] proved that for every graph G there is a tree F with vertex set V(G) such that for all distinct vertices  $v, w \in V(G)$ , the size of the smallest edge-cut

in G separating v and w equals

$$\zeta(e) := \min |E(G, F, e)|_{\varepsilon}$$

where the minimum is taken over all edges e on the vw-path in F. Let S be the set of edges  $e \in E(F)$  with  $\zeta(e) < (t-1)^2$ .

Suppose that some component X of F - S has at least t vertices. Let  $x, v_2, v_3, \ldots, v_t$  be distinct vertices in X. Let G' be the multigraph obtained from G by adding a new vertex w and adding t - 1 parallel edges between w and  $v_i$  for each  $i \in [2, t]$ . We claim that G' contains  $(t - 1)^2$  edge-disjoint xw-paths. Consider a set of vertices  $R \subseteq V(G)$  with  $x \in R$ , such that there are less than  $(t - 1)^2$  edges between R and V(G') - R in G'. Since  $w \in V(G') - R$  has degree  $(t - 1)^2$ , some neighbour  $v_i$  of w is also in V(G') - R (where  $i \in [2, t]$ ). Thus in G, there is an edge-cut with less than  $(t - 1)^2$  edges separating x and  $v_i$ , meaning that  $\zeta(e) < (t - 1)^2$  for some edge e on the  $xv_i$ -path in F. But every such edge e is in X, which implies  $\zeta(e) \ge (t - 1)^2$ . This contradiction shows (by Menger's Theorem) that G' contains  $(t - 1)^2$  edge-disjoint xw-paths. Hence G contains  $(t - 1)^2$  edge-disjoint paths starting at x, exactly t - 1 of which end at  $v_i$  for each  $i \in [2, t]$ . Label these  $xv_i$ -paths as  $P_{i,j}$ , for  $j \in [2, t]$ . For  $j \ne i$ , the combined path  $P_{i,j}P_{j,i}$  is a  $v_iv_j$ -path, while each  $P_{i,i}$  is a  $v_ix$  path. Since all these paths are edge-disjoint, G contains a  $K_t$ -immersion. This contradiction shows that every component of F - S has at most t - 1 vertices.

Let T be obtained from F by contracting each connected component of F - S into a single vertex. For each node x of T, let  $T_x$  be the set of vertices contracted into x. Then  $(T_x : x \in V(T))$  is the desired partition.

**Lemma 49** ([124]). If a graph G has a T-partition with  $V(G) \subseteq V(T)$  and adhesion at most k, then G is 2-colourable with defect k.

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on |V(G)| + |E(G)|. The result is trivial if  $|V(G)| \leq 2$ . Now assume  $|V(G)| \geq 3$ . Call a vertex v of G large if  $\deg_G(v) \geq k + 1$ ; otherwise v is small. If  $\deg_G(v) \leq 1$  for some vertex v, then by induction, G - v is 2-colourable with defect k; assign v a colour distinct from its neighbour. Now G is 2-coloured with defect k. Now assume that G has minimum degree at least 2. If two small vertices v and w are adjacent, then by induction, G - vw is 2-colourable with defect k, which is also a 2-colouring of G with defect k. Now assume that the small vertices are a stable set. If G has no large vertices, then every 2-colouring of G has defect k. Now assume that G has some large vertex. Let X be the union of all paths in T whose endpoints are large. Let u be a leaf in X. Thus u is large. Let v be the neighbour of u in X, or any neighbour of u if |V(X)| = 1. Let  $Y := V(T(uv)) \setminus \{u\}$ . Every vertex in Y is small. Since no two small vertices are adjacent and G has minimum degree at least 2, every vertex in Y has at least one neighbour in T(vu). Also, u has at least  $\deg_G(u) - |Y|$  neighbours in T(vu). Thus  $|E(G, T, uv)| \ge |Y| + \deg_G(u) - |Y| \ge k + 1$ , which is a contradiction.  $\Box$ 

Note that Lemma 49 with a  $O(k^3)$  defect bound can be concluded from Theorem 33 with s = 2.

The following result by Van den Heuvel and Wood [124] is the first main contribution of this section.

**Theorem 50** ([124]). Every graph  $G \in \mathcal{I}_t$  is 2-colourable with defect  $(t-1)^3$ , and

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{I}_t) = 2.$$

Proof. By Lemma 48, there is a tree T and a T-partition of G with adhesion at most  $(t-1)^2 - 1$ , such that each bag has at most t-1 vertices. Let Q be the graph with vertex set V(T), where  $xy \in E(Q)$  whenever there is an edge of G between  $T_x$  and  $T_y$ . Any one edge of Q corresponds to at most t-1 edges in G. By Lemma 49, the graph Q is 2-colourable with defect  $(t-1)^2 - 1$ . Assign to each vertex v in G the colour assigned to the vertex x in Q with  $v \in T_x$ . Since at most t-1 vertices of G are in each bag, G is 2-coloured with defect  $(t-1) \cdot ((t-1)^2 - 1) + (t-2) < (t-1)^3$ .

Van den Heuvel and Wood [124] proved the following result for excluded strong immersions. The omitted proof is based on a more involved structure theorem of Dvořák and Wollan [85].

**Theorem 51** ([124]). Every graph  $G \in \mathcal{I}'_t$  is 2-colourable with defect at most some function d(t), and thus

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{I}'_t) = 2.$$

While only two colours suffice for defective colourings of graphs excluding a fixed immersion, significantly more colours are needed for defective list colouring.

**Theorem 52.** For all  $t \ge 2$ ,

$$\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{I}_t) = \chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{I}'_t) = t - 1.$$

Proof. DeVos et al. [73] proved that  $\operatorname{mad}(\mathcal{I}'_t) \leq O(t)$ . If the 1-subdivision of a graph H is a subgraph of G, then G contains H as a strong immersion, implying  $\nabla(\mathcal{I}'_t) \leq O(t)$ . Theorem 34 then implies that  $\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{I}'_t)$  equals the minimum integer s such that  $K_{s,n}$  contains  $K_t$  as a strong immersion for some n. It is easily seen that  $K_{t-1,\binom{t-1}{2}+1}$  contains  $K_t$  as a strong immersion, but  $K_{t-2,n}$  does not contain  $K_t$  as a weak immersion for all n. The result follows.

It is an open problem to determine the clustered chromatic number and clustered choice number of graphs excluding a (strong or weak)  $K_t$  immersion. We have the following lower bounds. Since every graph with maximum degree at most t - 2 contains no  $K_t$  immersion, by Theorem 24,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{I}'_t) \geqslant \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{I}_t) \geqslant \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{D}_{t-2}) \geqslant \left\lfloor \frac{t+4}{4} \right\rfloor.$$

By Theorem 52,

$$\chi^{\ell}_{\star}(\mathcal{I}'_t) \geqslant \chi^{\ell}_{\star}(\mathcal{I}_t) \geqslant \chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{I}_t) = t - 1.$$

The electronic journal of combinatorics (2018), #DS23
# 8 Minor-Closed Classes

This section studies defective and clustered colourings of graphs in a minor-closed class. Hadwiger's Conjecture states that every  $K_t$ -minor-free graph is (t-1)-colourable [116]. This is widely considered one of the most important open problems in graph theory; see [203] for a survey. Defective and clustered colourings of  $K_t$ -minor-free graphs provide an avenue for attacking Hadwiger's Conjecture.

## 8.1 Excluding a Minor and Bounded Degree

All the known examples of planar graphs that are not 3-colourable with bounded clustering have unbounded maximum degree. This observation motivated several authors [11, 151, 159] to ask whether planar graphs with bounded maximum degree are 3-colourable with bounded clustering. Esperet and Joret [97] solved this question in the affirmative and extended the result to graphs of bounded Euler genus.

**Theorem 53** ([97]). Every graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$  and Euler genus g is 3-colourable with clustering  $f(\Delta, g)$ , for some function f.

Esperet and Joret [97] posed the following open problem

**Open Problem 54** ([97]). Are triangle-free planar graphs with bounded maximum degree 2-colourable with bounded clustering?

Graphs with treewidth k are properly (k+1)-colourable, which is best possible for  $K_{k+1}$ . Moreover, since the standard example S(k, d) has treewidth k, the defective chromatic number of graphs with treewidth k equals k+1. On the other hand, Alon et al. [11] proved that every graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$  and treewidth k is 2-colourable with clustering  $24k\Delta$ . The proof was based on a result about tree-partitions by Ding and Oporowski [75], which was improved by Wood [220]. It follows that:

**Theorem 55.** Every graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$  and treewidth k is 2-colourable with clustering  $\frac{5}{2}(k+1)(\frac{7}{2}\Delta-1)$ .

Liu [162] proved a list colouring analogue of Theorem 55: every graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$  and treewidth k is 2-choosable with clustering  $f(k, \Delta)$ , for some function f.

DeVos et al. [72] proved the conjecture of Robin Thomas that graphs excluding a fixed minor can be 2-coloured so that each monochromatic subgraph has bounded treewidth. Alon et al. [11] observed that this result and Theorem 55 together imply that graphs excluding a fixed minor and with bounded maximum degree are 4-colourable with bounded clustering. Answering a question of Esperet and Joret [97], this result was improved by Liu and Oum [163] (using the graph minor structure theorem):

**Theorem 56** ([163]). Every graph containing no H-minor and with maximum degree  $\Delta$  is 3-colourable with clustering  $f(\Delta, H)$ , for some function f.

This theorem generalises Theorem 53 above. It is open whether graphs with bounded maximum degree and excluding a fixed minor are 3-choosable with bounded clustering (Open Problem 18 is a special case).

The above results lead to the following connection between clustered and defective colourings, which was implicitly observed by Edwards et al. [87]. The second observation was made by Norin et al. [183].

Lemma 57 ([87, 183]). For every minor-closed class  $\mathcal{G}$ ,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{G}) \leqslant 3\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G}).$$

Moreover, if some planar graph is not in  $\mathcal{G}$  then

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{G}) \leqslant 2\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G}).$$

Proof. As mentioned above, Liu and Oum [163] proved that for every integer d there is an integer  $c = c(\mathcal{G}, d)$  such that every graph in  $\mathcal{G}$  with maximum degree d has a 3-colouring with clustering c. Let  $k := \chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{G})$ . That is, for some integer d, every graph G in  $\mathcal{G}$  is k-colourable with defect d. Apply the result of Liu and Oum [163] to each monochromatic component of G, which has maximum degree at most d. Then G is 3k-colourable with clustering c, and  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{G}) \leq 3k$ . For the second claim, Robertson and Seymour [197] proved that a minor-closed class not containing all planar graphs has bounded treewidth. The result follows from the method used above, with Theorem 55 in place of the result of Liu and Oum [163].

#### 8.2 $K_t$ -Minor-Free Graphs

First consider defective colourings of  $K_t$ -minor-free graphs. Edwards et al. [87] proved that every  $K_t$ -minor-free graph is (t-1)-colourable with defect  $O(t^2 \log t)$ . Their proof gives the same result for (t-1)-choosability. This result is implied by Theorem 33 since  $K_{t-1,1}^*$  contains a  $K_t$  minor. Indeed, the proof of Theorem 33 in this case is identical to the proof of Edwards et al. [87] (which predated [185]). Van den Heuvel and Wood [124] improved the upper bound on the defect in the result of Edwards et al. [87] to t-2; see Theorem 61 below. Edwards et al. [87] also showed that the standard example S(t-2, d)is  $K_t$ -minor-free. Thus, Lemma 1 implies the following defective version of Hadwiger's Conjecture:

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t}) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t}) = t - 1.$$
(5)

Now consider clustered colourings of  $K_t$ -minor-free graphs. Note that (5) implies

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t}) \geqslant t - 1.$$

We now show that the island-based method of Dvořák and Norin [84] determines  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t})$  for  $t \leq 9$ .

The electronic journal of combinatorics (2018), #DS23

Theorem 58 ([84]). For  $t \leq 9$ ,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t}) = t - 1.$$

In particular, every  $K_t$ -minor-free graph G is (t-1)-choosable with clustering

$$c_t := \left\lceil 2 \left( \frac{5t^{3/2}}{\sqrt{2} - 1} \right)^2 \right\rceil.$$

Proof. For  $t \leq 9$ , the exact extremal function for  $K_t$ -minor-free graphs is known [77, 139, 167, 168, 169, 207]. In particular, every  $K_t$ -minor-free graph on n vertices has less than (t-2)n edges for  $t \leq 9$ . For all t, every such graph has a balanced separator of size  $t^{3/2}n^{1/2}$  [12]. By Lemma 13 with k = t - 2 and  $\alpha = 1$  and  $\beta = \frac{1}{2}$  and  $c = t^{3/2}$ , G has a (t-2)-island of size at most  $c_t$ . By Lemma 6, G is (t-1)-choosable with clustering  $c_t$ . Since the standard example S(t-2,d) is  $K_t$ -minor-free, the clustered chromatic number of  $K_t$ -minor-free graphs is at least t-1. Thus for  $t \leq 9$ , the clustered chromatic number of  $K_t$ -minor-free graphs equals t-1.

The only obstacle for extending Theorem 58 for larger values of t is that the exact extremal function is not precisely known. Moreover, for large t, the maximum average degree of  $K_t$ -minor-free graphs tends to  $\Theta(t\sqrt{\log t})$ ; see [153, 154, 209, 210]. Thus Lemma 13 alone cannot determine the clustered chromatic number of  $K_t$ -minor-free graphs for large t.

Kawarabayashi and Mohar [147] first proved a O(t) upper bound on  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t})$ . The constants in this result have been successively improved, as shown in Table 3, to

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t}) \leqslant 2t - 2.$$

Dvořák and Norin [84] have announced a proof that  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t}) = \chi^{\ell}_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t}) = t - 1.$ 

Table 3: Upper bounds on the clustered chromatic number of  $K_t$ -minor-free graphs  $(t \ge 3)$ .

	$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t}) \leqslant$	clustering	choosability
Kawarabayashi and Mohar [147]	$\left\lceil \frac{31}{2}t \right\rceil$	c(t)	yes
Wood $[221]^{1}$	$\left\lceil \frac{7t-3}{2} \right\rceil$	c(t)	yes
Edwards et al. [87]	4t - 4	c(t)	
Liu and Oum [163]	3t - 3	c(t)	
Norin $[182]^2$	2t - 2	c(t)	
Van den Heuvel and Wood [124]	2t - 2	$\left\lceil \frac{t-2}{2} \right\rceil$	
Dvořák and Norin [84]	2t - 2	c(t)	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This result depended on a result announced by Norine and Thomas [184, 208] which has not yet been written.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See [203] for some of the details.

Most of the results shown in Table 3 depend on the graph minor structure theorem, so the clustering function is large and not explicit. The exception is the self-contained proof of Van den Heuvel and Wood [124], which we now present.

**Lemma 59** ([124]). For every set A of  $k \ge 1$  vertices in a connected graph G, and for every minimal induced connected subgraph H of G containing A,

- (1) H has maximum degree at most k, and
- (2) H can be 2-coloured with clustering  $\left\lceil \frac{1}{2}k \right\rceil$ .

*Proof.* Say  $v \in V(H)$ . Let T be a spanning tree of H that includes each edge of H incident with v. By the minimality of H, every leaf of T is in A. Thus, the number of leaves in T is at least  $\deg_H(v)$  and at most k. Hence  $\deg_H(v) \leq k$ , implying  $\Delta(H) \leq k$ .

To prove (2) by induction on |V(H)|. In the base case, |V(H)| = |A| = k and the result is trivial. Now assume that |V(H)| > k. Thus  $V(H - A) \neq \emptyset$ , and by the minimality of H, every vertex in H - A is a cut-vertex of H. Consider a leaf-block L of H. Every vertex in L, except the one cut-vertex in L, is in A. There are at least two leaf-blocks. Thus  $|V(L - v)| \leq \frac{1}{2}k$  for some leaf block L, where v is the one cut-vertex of H in L. Let H' = H - V(L - v) and  $A' = (A \setminus V(L)) \cup \{v\}$ . Then H' is a minimal induced connected subgraph of G containing A', and  $|A'| \leq k$ . By induction, H' has a 2-colouring with clustering  $\lfloor \frac{1}{2}k \rfloor$ . Colour every vertex in  $L \setminus \{v\}$  by the colour not assigned to v in H'. Now H is 2-coloured with clustering  $\lfloor \frac{1}{2}k \rfloor$ .

Disjoint subgraphs  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  in a graph G are *adjacent* if some edge of G has one endpoint in  $H_1$  and one endpoint in  $H_2$ .

**Lemma 60** ([124]). For  $t \ge 4$ , for every  $K_t$ -minor-free graph G, there are induced subgraphs  $H_1, \ldots, H_n$  of G that partition V(G), and for  $i \in [n]$ :

- (1) The subgraph  $H_i$  has maximum degree at most t 2, and can be 2-coloured with clustering  $\lfloor \frac{1}{2}(t-2) \rfloor$ ;
- (2) For each component C of  $G (V(H_1) \cup \cdots \cup V(H_i))$ , at most t 2 subgraphs in  $H_1, \ldots, H_i$  are adjacent to C, and these subgraphs are pairwise adjacent.

*Proof.* We may assume that G is connected. We construct  $H_1, \ldots, H_n$  iteratively, maintaining properties (1) and (2). Let  $H_1$  be the subgraph induced by a single vertex in G. Then (1) and (2) hold for i = 1.

Assume that  $H_1, \ldots, H_i$  satisfy (1) and (2) for some  $i \ge 1$ , but  $V(H_1), \ldots, V(H_i)$  do not partition V(G). Let C be a component of  $G - (V(H_1) \cup \cdots \cup V(H_i))$ . Let  $Q_1, \ldots, Q_k$ be the elements of  $\{H_1, \ldots, H_i\}$  that are adjacent to C. By (2),  $Q_1, \ldots, Q_k$  are pairwise adjacent and  $k \le t - 2$ . Since G is connected,  $k \ge 1$ .

For  $j \in [k]$ , let  $v_j$  be a vertex in C adjacent to  $Q_j$ . By Lemma 59 with  $k \leq t-2$ , there is an induced connected subgraph  $H_{i+1}$  of C containing  $v_1, \ldots, v_k$  that satisfies (1).

Consider a component C' of  $G - (V(H_1) \cup \cdots \cup V(H_{i+1}))$ . Either C' is disjoint from C, or C' is contained in C. If C' is disjoint from C, then C' is a component of

 $G - (V(H_1) \cup \cdots \cup V(H_i))$  and C' is not adjacent to  $H_{i+1}$ , implying (2) is maintained for C'.

Now assume C' is contained in C. The subgraphs in  $H_1, \ldots, H_{i+1}$  that are adjacent to C' are a subset of  $Q_1, \ldots, Q_k, H_{i+1}$ , which are pairwise adjacent. Suppose that k = t - 2 and C' is adjacent to all of  $Q_1, \ldots, Q_{t-2}, H_{i+1}$ . Then C is adjacent to all of  $Q_1, \ldots, Q_{t-2}$ . Contracting each of  $Q_1, \ldots, Q_{t-2}, H_{i+1}, C'$  into a single vertex gives  $K_t$  as a minor of G, which is a contradiction. Hence C' is adjacent to at most t - 2 of  $Q_1, \ldots, Q_{t-2}, H_{i+1}$ , and property (2) is maintained for C'.

The following is the main result of Van den Heuvel and Wood [124].

**Theorem 61** ([124]). For  $t \ge 4$ , every  $K_t$ -minor-free graph G is (t-1)-colourable with defect t-2 and is (2t-2)-colourable with clustering  $\lfloor \frac{1}{2}(t-2) \rfloor$ .

Proof. Let  $H_1, \ldots, H_n$  be the subgraphs from Lemma 60. By property (2) in Lemma 60, each subgraph  $H_i$  is adjacent to at most t-2 of  $H_1, \ldots, H_{i-1}$ . For  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$  colour  $H_i$ with one of t-1 colours different from the colours assigned to the at most t-2 subgraphs in  $H_1, \ldots, H_{i-1}$  adjacent to  $H_i$ . Since  $H_i$  has maximum degree t-2, we obtain a (t-1)colouring of G with defect t-2. Each  $H_i$  has a 2-colouring with clustering  $\lfloor \frac{1}{2}(t-2) \rfloor$ . The product of these colourings is a (2t-2)-colouring with clustering  $\lfloor \frac{1}{2}(t-2) \rfloor$ .

Note that the O(t) upper bound on  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_t})$  has been extended to the setting of odd minors. In particular, Kawarabayashi [146] proved that every graph with no odd  $K_t$ -minor is 496t-colourable with clustering at most some function f(t). The bound of 496t was improved to 10t - 13 by Kang and Oum [140]. By Proposition 4, these results do not generalise to the setting of choosability (even for defective colourings), since complete bipartite graphs contain no odd  $K_3$  minor and have unbounded maximum average degree.

### 8.3 *H*-Minor-Free Graphs

Hadwiger's Conjecture implies that for every graph H with t vertices, the maximum chromatic number of H-minor-free graphs equals t - 1 (since  $K_{t-1}$  is H-minor-free). However, for clustered and defective colourings, fewer colours often suffice. For example, as discussed in Section 3.4, Archdeacon [21] proved that graphs embeddable on a fixed surface are defectively 3-colourable, whereas the maximum chromatic number for graphs of Euler genus g is  $\Theta(\sqrt{g})$ . The natural question arises: what is the defective or clustered chromatic number of the class of H-minor-free graphs, for an arbitrary graph H? We will see that the answer depends on the structure of H, unlike the chromatic number which only depends on |V(H)|.

Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] observed that the following definition is a key to answering this question. Let T be a rooted tree. The *depth* of T is the maximum number of vertices on a root-to-leaf path in T. The *closure* of T is obtained from T by adding an edge between every ancestor and descendent in T, as illustrated in Figure 9. The *connected*  *tree-depth*<sup>2</sup> of a graph H, denoted by  $\overline{td}(H)$ , is the minimum depth of a rooted tree T such that H is a subgraph of the closure of T. Note that the connected tree-depth is closed under taking minors.



Figure 9: The closure of a tree of depth 6 contains  $K_{5.9}$ .

Note that the standard example, S(h, d), is the closure of the complete (d + 1)-ary tree of depth h + 1. By Lemma 1, for every graph H, the defective chromatic number of H-minor-free graphs satisfies

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{M}_H) \geqslant \operatorname{td}(H) - 1,\tag{6}$$

as observed by Ossona de Mendez et al. [185], who conjectured that equality holds.

Conjecture 62 ([185]). For every graph H,

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{M}_H) = \overline{\mathrm{td}}(H) - 1.$$

Since  $K_{s,t}$  has connected tree-depth min $\{s,t\}+1$ , by Theorem 33, Conjecture 62 is true if  $H = K_{s,t}$ , as proved by Ossona de Mendez et al. [185], who also proved Conjecture 62 if  $\overline{td}(H) = 3$ . Norin et al. [183] provided further evidence for the conjecture by showing that  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_H)$  is bounded from above by some function of  $\overline{td}(H)$ . This implies that both  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{M}_H)$  and  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_H)$  are tied to  $\overline{td}(H)$ .

**Theorem 63** ([183]). For every graph H,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_H) \leqslant 2^{\overline{\mathrm{td}}(H)+1} - 4.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This definition is a variant of the more commonly studied notion of the *tree-depth* of H, denoted by td(H), which equals the maximum connected tree-depth of the connected components of H. See [180] for background on tree-depth. If H is connected, then  $td(H) = \overline{td}(H)$ . In fact,  $td(H) = \overline{td}(H)$  unless H has two connected components  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  with  $td(H_1) = td(H_2) = td(H)$ , in which case  $\overline{td}(H) = td(H) + 1$ . Norin et al. [183] introduced connected tree-depth to avoid this distinction.

While Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] conjectured that  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{M}_H) = \operatorname{td}(H) - 1$ , the following lower bound by Norin et al. [183] shows that  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_H)$  might be larger, thus providing some distinction between defective and clustered colourings.

**Theorem 64** ([183]). For each  $k \ge 2$ , if  $H_k$  is the the standard example S(k-1,2) then  $H_k$  has connected tree-depth k and

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{H_k}) \geqslant 2k - 2.$$

*Proof.* Fix an integer c. We now recursively define graphs  $G_k$  (depending on c), and show by induction on k that  $G_k$  has no (2k-3)-colouring with clustering c, and  $H_k$  is not a minor of  $G_k$ .

For the base case k = 2, let  $G_2$  be the path on c + 1 vertices. Then  $G_2$  has no  $H_2 = S(1,2) = K_{1,3}$  minor, and  $G_2$  has no 1-colouring with clustering c.

Assume  $G_{k-1}$  is defined for some  $k \ge 3$ , that  $G_{k-1}$  has no (2k-5)-colouring with clustering c, and  $H_{k-1}$  is not a minor of  $G_{k-1}$ . As illustrated in Figure 10, let  $G_k$  be obtained from a path  $(v_1, \ldots, v_{c+1})$  as follows: for  $i \in \{1, \ldots, c\}$  add 2c-1 pairwise disjoint copies of  $G_{k-1}$  complete to  $\{v_i, v_{i+1}\}$ .

Suppose that  $G_k$  has a (2k-3)-colouring with clustering c. Then  $v_i$  and  $v_{i+1}$  receive distinct colours for some  $i \in \{1, \ldots, c\}$ . Consider the 2c-1 copies of  $G_{k-1}$  complete to  $\{v_i, v_{i+1}\}$ . At most c-1 such copies contain a vertex assigned the same colour as  $v_i$ , and at most c-1 such copies contain a vertex assigned the same colour as  $v_{i+1}$ . Thus some copy avoids both colours. Hence  $G_{k-1}$  is (2k-5)-coloured with clustering c, which is a contradiction. Therefore  $G_k$  has no (2k-3)-colouring with clustering c.

It remains to show that  $H_k$  is not a minor of  $G_k$ . Suppose that  $G_k$  contains a model  $\{J_x : x \in V(H_k)\}$  of  $H_k$ . Let r be the root vertex in  $H_k$ . Choose the  $H_k$ -model to minimise  $\sum_{x \in V(H)} |V(J_x)|$ . Thus  $J_r$  is a connected subgraph of  $(v_1, \ldots, v_{c+1})$ . Say  $J_r = (v_i, \ldots, v_j)$ . Note that  $H_k - r$  consists of three pairwise disjoint copies of  $H_{k-1}$ . The model X of one such copy avoids  $v_{i-1}$  and  $v_{j+1}$  (if these vertices are defined). Since  $H_{k-1}$  is connected, X is contained in a component of  $G_k - \{v_{i-1}, \ldots, v_{j+1}\}$  and is adjacent to  $(v_i, \ldots, v_j)$ . Each



Figure 10: Construction of  $G_k$  in Theorem 64.

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 

such component is a copy of  $G_{k-1}$ . Thus  $H_{k-1}$  is a minor of  $G_{k-1}$ , which is a contradiction. Thus  $H_{k-1}$  is not a minor of  $G_k$ .

Norin et al. [183] conjectured an analogous upper bound:

Conjecture 65 ([183]). For every graph H,

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_H) \leqslant 2 \operatorname{td}(H) - 2.$$

Norin et al. [183] observed that Conjecture 65 holds for every graph H with td(H) = 3. In this case, as mentioned above, Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] proved that  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{M}_H) = 2$ . Since H is planar, by Lemma 57,  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_H) \leq 2\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{M}_H) = 4 = 2 \, \overline{td}(H) - 2$ , as claimed.

In the remainder of this section we prove Theorem 63. The proof depends on the following Erdős-Pósa Theorem by Robertson and Seymour [197]. For a graph H and integer  $p \ge 1$ , let pH be the disjoint union of p copies of H.

**Theorem 66** ([197]; see [192, Lemma 3.10]). For every graph H with c connected components and for all integers  $p, w \ge 1$ , for every graph G with treewidth at most w and with no pH minor, there is a set  $X \subseteq V(G)$  of size at most (p-1)(wc-1) such that G - X has no H minor.

The next lemma is the heart of the proof of Theorem 63.

**Lemma 67** ([183]). For all integers  $h, k, w \ge 1$ , every S(h-1, k-1)-minor-free graph G of treewidth at most w is  $(2^h - 2)$ -colourable with clustering (k - 1)(w - 1).

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on  $h \ge 1$ , with w and k fixed. The case h = 1 is trivial since S(0, k - 1) is the 1-vertex graph. Now assume that  $h \ge 2$ , the claim holds for h - 1, and G is a S(h - 1, k - 1)-minor-free graph with treewidth at most w. Let  $V_0, V_1, \ldots$  be the BFS layering of G starting at some vertex r.

Fix  $i \ge 1$ . Then  $G[V_i]$  contains no k S(h-2, k-1) as a minor, as otherwise contracting  $V_0 \cup \cdots \cup V_{i-1}$  to a single vertex gives a S(h-1, k-1) minor (since every vertex in  $V_i$  has a neighbour in  $V_{i-1}$ ). Since G has treewidth at most w, so does  $G[V_i]$ . By Theorem 66 with H = S(h-2, k-1) and c = 1, there is a set  $X_i \subseteq V_i$  of size at most (k-1)(w-1) such that  $G[V_i \setminus X_i]$  has no S(h-2, k-1) minor. By induction,  $G[V_i \setminus X_i]$  is  $(2^{h-1}-2)$ -colourable with clustering (k-1)(w-1). Use one new colour for  $X_i$ . Thus  $G[V_i]$  is  $(2^{h-1}-1)$ -colourable with clustering (k-1)(w-1). Use disjoint sets of colours for even and odd i, and colour r by one of the colours used for even i. No edge joins  $V_i$  with  $V_j$  for  $j \ge i+2$ . Now G is  $(2^h-2)$ -coloured with clustering (k-1)(w-1).

To drop the assumption of bounded treewidth, we use the following result of DeVos, Ding, Oporowski, Sanders, Reed, Seymour, and Vertigan [72].

**Theorem 68** ([72]). For every graph H there is an integer w such that for every graph G with no H-minor, there is a partition  $V_1, V_2$  of V(G) such that  $G[V_i]$  has treewidth at most w, for  $i \in \{1, 2\}$ .

The electronic journal of combinatorics (2018), #DS23



Figure 11: Construction of  $\mathcal{X}_{k,c}$ .

Proof of Theorem 63. Let k := |V(H)| and  $h := \overline{td}(H)$ . By definition, H is a subgraph of S(h-1, k-1). Thus every H-minor-free graph G contains no C(h, k)-minor. Lemma 67 and Theorem 68 implies that G is  $(2^{h+1}-4)$ -colourable with clustering at most some function g(h, k). The claim follows.

Note that Norin et al. [183] proved a weaker bound, roughly  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_H) \leq 4^{\overline{\mathrm{td}}(H)}$ , with a self-contained proof avoiding Theorem 68 and thus avoiding the graph minor structure theorem. See [223, 227] for more about defective choosability in minor-closed classes.

### 8.4 Conjectures

We now present a conjecture of Norin et al. [183] about the clustered chromatic number of an arbitrary minor-closed class of graphs. Consider the following recursively defined class of graphs, illustrated in Figure 11. Let  $\mathcal{X}_{1,c} := \{P_{c+1}, K_{1,c}\}$ . For  $k \ge 2$ , let  $\mathcal{X}_{k,c}$  be the set of graphs obtained by the following three operations. For the first two operations, consider an arbitrary graph  $G \in \mathcal{X}_{k-1,c}$ .

- Let G' be the graph obtained from c disjoint copies of G by adding one dominant vertex. Then G' is in  $\mathcal{X}_{k,c}$ .
- Let  $G^+$  be the graph obtained from G as follows: for each k-clique D in G, add a stable set of k(c-1) + 1 vertices complete to D. Then  $G^+$  is in  $\mathcal{X}_{k,c}$ .
- If  $k \ge 3$  and  $G \in \mathcal{X}_{k-2,c}$ , then let  $G^{++}$  be the graph obtained from G as follows: for each (k-1)-clique D in G, add a path of  $(c^2-1)(k-1) + (c+1)$  vertices complete to D. Then  $G^{++}$  is in  $\mathcal{X}_{k,c}$ .

A vertex-coloured graph is *rainbow* if every vertex receives a distinct colour.

**Lemma 69** ([183]). For every  $c \ge 1$  and  $k \ge 2$ , for every graph  $G \in \mathcal{X}_{k,c}$ , every colouring of G with clustering c contains a rainbow  $K_{k+1}$ . In particular, no graph in  $\mathcal{X}_{k,c}$  is k-colourable with clustering c.

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on  $k \ge 1$ . In the case k = 1, every colouring of  $P_{c+1}$  or  $K_{1,c}$  with clustering c contains a bichromatic edge, and we are done. Now assume the claim for k - 1 and for k - 2 (if  $k \ge 3$ ).

Let  $G \in \mathcal{X}_{k-1,c}$ . Consider a colouring of G' with clustering c. Say the dominant vertex v is blue. At most c-1 copies of G contain a blue vertex. Thus, some copy of G has no blue vertex. By induction, this copy of G contains a rainbow  $K_k$ . With v we obtain a rainbow  $K_{k+1}$ .

Now consider a colouring of  $G^+$  with clustering c. By induction, the copy of G in  $G^+$  contains a clique  $\{w_1, \ldots, w_k\}$  receiving distinct colours. Let S be the set of k(c-1) + 1 vertices adjacent to  $w_1, \ldots, w_k$  in  $G^+$ . At most c-1 vertices in S receive the same colour as  $w_i$ . Thus some vertex in S receives a colour distinct from the colours assigned to  $w_1, \ldots, w_k$ . Hence  $G^+$  contains a rainbow  $K_{k+1}$ .

Now suppose  $k \ge 3$  and  $G \in \mathcal{X}_{k-2,c}$ . Consider a colouring of  $G^{++}$  with clustering c. By induction, the copy of G in  $G^{++}$  contains a clique  $\{w_1, \ldots, w_{k-1}\}$  receiving distinct colours. Let P be the path of  $(c^2 - 1)(k - 1) + (c + 1)$  vertices in  $G^{++}$  complete to  $\{w_1, \ldots, w_{k-1}\}$ . Let  $X_i$  be the set of vertices in P assigned the same colour as  $w_i$ , and let  $X := \bigcup_i X_i$ . Thus  $|X_i| \le c-1$  and  $|X| \le (c-1)(k-1)$ . Hence P-X has at most (c-1)(k-1)+1 components, and  $|V(P-X)| \ge (c^2 - 1)(k - 1) + (c + 1) - (c - 1)(k - 1) = c((c - 1)(k - 1) + 1) + 1$ . Some component of P-X has at least c+1 vertices, and therefore contains a bichromatic edge xy. Then  $\{w_1, \ldots, w_{k-1}\} \cup \{x, y\}$  induces a rainbow  $K_{k+1}$  in  $G^{++}$ .

Norin et al. [183] conjectured that every minor-closed class that excludes every graph in  $\mathcal{X}_{k,c}$  for some c is k-colourable with bounded clustering. More precisely:

**Conjecture 70** ([183]). For every minor-closed class  $\mathcal{M}$  of graphs,  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M})$  equals the minimum integer k such that  $\mathcal{M} \cap \chi_{k,c} = \emptyset$  for some integer c.

Note that the lower bound in Conjecture 70 follows from Lemma 69. Conjecture 70 is trivial when k = 1, and Norin et al. [183] proved it when k = 2. It is easily seen that Conjecture 70 implies Conjecture 65; see [183].

Now consider the class of graphs excluding the complete bipartite graph  $K_{s,t}$  as a minor, where  $s \leq t$ . Theorem 33 and (6) imply that

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{M}_{K_{s,t}}) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{M}_{K_{s,t}}) = s.$$

For clustered colouring, Lemma 57 implies  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_{s,t}}) \leq 3s$ . This bound was improved by Dvořák and Norin [84] who proved that  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_{s,t}}) \leq 2s+2$ , which is the best known upper bound. Van den Heuvel and Wood [124] proved the lower bound,  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_{s,t}}) \geq s+1$  for  $t \geq \max\{s,3\}$ . Their construction is a special case of the construction shown in Figure 11. Conjecture 70 says that  $\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{M}_{K_{s,t}}) = s+1$ .

### 8.5 Circumference

The *circumference* of a graph G is the length of the longest cycle if G contains a cycle, and is 2 if G is a forest. This section studies clustered colourings of graphs of given



Figure 12: The path on n vertices is a subgraph of S(k, 1), where  $k = \lceil \log_2(n+1) \rceil$ .

circumference. Let  $C_k$  be the class of graphs with circumference at most k. A graph has circumference at most k if and only if it contains no  $C_{k+1}$  minor, where  $C_{k+1}$  is the cycle on k+1 vertices. Thus  $C_k$  is a minor-closed class.

**Lemma 71.** For all  $k, d \ge 1$ , the standard example S(k, d) contains no path on  $2^{k+1}$  vertices and no cycle of length at least  $2^k + 1$ .

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on  $k \ge 1$  with d fixed. In the base case,  $S(1, d) = K_{1,d+1}$ , which contains no 4-vertex path and no cycle. Now assume the result for S(k - 1, d). Let v be the root vertex of S(k, d).

Suppose that S(k, d) contains a cycle C of length at least  $2^k + 1$ . Since v is a cut vertex, C is contained in one copy of S(k-1, d) plus v. Thus S(k-1, d) contains a path on  $2^k$  vertices, which is a contradiction. Thus S(k, d) has no cycle of length at least  $2^k + 1$ .

If S(k, d) contains a path P on  $2^{k+1}$  vertices, then P - v contains a path component with least  $\lfloor \frac{1}{2}(2^{k+1}-1) \rfloor = 2^k$  vertices that is contained in a copy of S(k-1, d), which is a contradiction. Hence S(k, d) contains no path of order  $2^{k+1}$ .

It follows from Lemma 71 that

$$\overline{\mathrm{td}}(C_{k+1}) = 1 + \lceil \log_2(k+1) \rceil = 2 + \lfloor \log_2 k \rfloor.$$

By (6),

$$\chi_{\star}(\mathcal{C}_k) \ge \chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{C}_k) \ge \overline{\mathrm{td}}(C_{k+1}) - 1 = 1 + \lfloor \log_2 k \rfloor.$$

Mohar et al. [176] proved an upper bound within a factor of 3 of this lower bound.

**Theorem 72** ([176]). For every integer  $k \ge 2$ , every graph G with circumference at most k is  $(3 \log_2 k)$ -colourable with clustering k. Thus

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{C}_k) \leqslant \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{C}_k) \leqslant 3 \log_2 k.$$

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 

This result is implied by the following lemma with  $C = \emptyset$ .

**Lemma 73** ([176]). For every integer  $k \ge 2$ , for every graph G with circumference at most k and for every pre-coloured clique C of size at most 2 in G, there is a  $\lfloor 3 \log_2 k \rfloor$ -colouring of G with clustering k, such that every monochromatic component that intersects C is contained in C.

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on k + |V(G)|. The result is trivial if  $|V(G)| \leq 2$ . Now assume  $|V(G)| \geq 3$ .

First suppose that k = 2. Then G is a forest, which is properly 2-colourable. If  $|C| \leq 1$  or |C| = 2 and two colours are used on C, we obtain the desired colouring (with  $2 < \lfloor 3 \log_2 k \rfloor$  colours). Otherwise, |C| = 2 with the same colour on the vertices in C. Contract the edge C and 2-colour the resulting forest by induction, to obtain the desired colouring of G. Now assume that  $k \geq 3$ .

Suppose that G is not 3-connected. Then G has a minimal separation  $(G_1, G_2)$  with  $S := V(G_1 \cap G_2)$  of size at most 2. If |S| = 2, then add the edge on S if the edge is not already present. Consider both  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  to contain this edge. Observe that since the separation is minimal, there is a path in each  $G_j$  (j = 1, 2) between the two vertices of S. Therefore, adding the edge does not increase the circumference of G. Also note that any valid colouring of the augmented graph will be valid for the original graph. Since C is a clique, we may assume that  $C \subseteq V(G_1)$ . By induction, there is a  $\lfloor 3 \log_2 k \rfloor$ -colouring of  $G_1$ , with C precoloured, such that every monochromatic component of  $G_1$  that intersects C is contained in C. This colours S. By induction, there is a  $\lfloor 3 \log_2 k \rfloor$ -colouring of  $G_2$  that intersects S is contained in S. By combining the two colourings, every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic component of G has order at most k and every monochromatic compone

Every 3-connected graph contains a cycle of length at least 4. Thus  $k \ge 4$ .

If G contains no cycle of length k, then apply the induction hypothesis for k-1; thus we may assume that G contains a cycle Q of length k. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the set of cycles in G of length at least  $\lceil \frac{1}{2}(k-5) \rceil$ . Suppose that a cycle  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  is disjoint from Q. Since G is 3-connected, there are three disjoint paths between A and Q. It follows that G contains three cycles with total length at least 2(|A| + |Q| + 3) > 3k. Thus G contains a cycle of length greater than k, which is a contradiction. Hence, every cycle in  $\mathcal{A}$  intersects Q.

Let  $S := V(Q) \cup C$ . As shown above, G' := G - S contains no cycle of length at least  $\lceil \frac{1}{2}(k-5) \rceil$ . Then G' has circumference at most  $\lceil \frac{1}{2}(k-7) \rceil$ , which is at most  $\lfloor \frac{1}{2}k \rfloor$ , which is at least 2. By induction (with no precoloured vertices), there is a  $\lfloor 3 \log_2 \lfloor \frac{1}{2}k \rfloor \rfloor$ colouring of G' such that every monochromatic component of G' has order at most  $\lfloor \frac{1}{2}k \rfloor$ . Use a set of colours for G' disjoint from the (at most two) preassigned colours for C. Use one new colour for  $S \setminus C$ , which has size at most k. In total, there are at most  $\lfloor 3 \log_2 \lfloor \frac{1}{2}k \rfloor \rfloor + 3 \leq \lfloor 3 \log_2 k \rfloor$  colours. Every monochromatic component of G has order at most k, and every monochromatic component of G that intersects C is contained in C.  $\Box$ 

Similar results are obtained for graph classes excluding a fixed path. Let  $P_k$  be the path on k vertices. It follows from Lemma 71 that

$$\overline{\mathrm{td}}(P_k) = \mathrm{td}(P_k) = \lceil \log_2(k+1) \rceil.$$

Let  $\mathcal{H}_k$  be the class of graphs containing no path of order k + 1 (or equivalently, with no  $P_{k+1}$  minor). Thus Conjecture 62, in the case of excluded paths, asserts that

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{H}_k) = \operatorname{td}(P_{k+1}) - 1 = \lceil \log_2(k+2) \rceil - 1.$$

Every graph with no  $P_{k+1}$ -minor has circumference at most k. Thus Theorem 72 implies the following upper bound that is which is within a factor of 3 of Conjecture 62 for excluded paths.

**Theorem 74** ([176]). For every integer  $k \ge 2$ , every graph G with no path of order k + 1 is  $(3 \log_2 k)$ -colourable with clustering k. Thus

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{H}_k) \leqslant \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{H}_k) \leqslant \lfloor 3 \log_2 k \rfloor,$$

To conclude this section, we show that Theorem 34 determines the defective choosability of  $C_k$  and  $\mathcal{P}_k$ .

First consider  $C_k$ . Say  $s \leq t$ . Then the circumference of  $K_{s,t}$  equals 2s. If  $s \geq \lceil \frac{k+1}{2} \rceil$  then  $K_{s,t}$  contains a (k+1)-cycle and is not in  $C_k$ . On the other hand, if  $s \leq \lceil \frac{k+1}{2} \rceil - 1$  then  $2s \leq k$  and  $K_{s,t} \in C_k$ . Thus  $\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(C_k) = \lceil \frac{k+1}{2} \rceil$ .

Now consider  $\mathcal{P}_k$ . Say t > s. Then  $K_{s,t}$  contains a path order 2s + 1, and contains no path of order 2s + 2. Thus  $K_{s,t} \in \mathcal{H}_k$  if and only if  $2s + 1 \leq k$ . That is,  $K_{s,t} \notin \mathcal{H}_k$  if and only if  $s > \frac{k-1}{2}$ . By Theorem 34,  $\chi^{\ell}_{\Delta}(\mathcal{H}_k) = \lfloor \frac{k+1}{2} \rfloor$ .

# 9 Thickness

The thickness of a graph G is the minimum integer k such that G is the union of k planar subgraphs; see [179] for a survey. Let  $\mathcal{T}_k$  be the class of graphs with thickness k. Graphs with thickness k have maximum average degree less than 6k. Thus  $\chi(\mathcal{T}_k) \leq 6k$ . For k = 2, which corresponds to the so-called earth-moon problem, it is known that  $\chi(\mathcal{T}_2) \in \{9, 10, 11, 12\}$ . For  $k \geq 3$ , complete graphs provide a lower bound of 6k - 2, implying  $\chi(\mathcal{T}_k) \in \{6k - 2, 6k - 1, 6k\}$ . It is an open problem to improve these bounds; see [129].

#### 9.1 Defective Colouring

This section studies defective colourings of graphs with given thickness. Yancey [231] first proposed studying this topic. The results in this section are due to Ossona de Mendez et al. [185]. Since the maximum average degree is less than 6k, Theorem 28 implies that such graphs are (3k + 1)-choosable with defect  $O(k^2)$ , but gives no result with at most 3k colours.

**Lemma 75** ([185]). The standard example S(2k, d) has thickness at most k.

Proof. We proceed by induction on  $k \ge 1$ . In the base case, S(2, d) is planar, and thus has thickness 1. Let G := S(2k, d) for some  $k \ge 2$ . Let r be the vertex of G such that G - r is the disjoint union of d + 1 copies of S(2k - 1, d). For  $i \in [d + 1]$ , let  $v_i$  be the vertex of the *i*-th component  $C_i$  of G - r such that  $C_i - v_i$  is the disjoint union of d + 1copies of S(2k - 2, d). Let  $H := G - \{r, v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{d+1}\}$ . Observe that each component of H is isomorphic to S(2k - 2, d) and by induction, H has thickness at most k - 1. Since G - E(H) consists of d + 1 copies of  $K_{2,d'}$  pasted on r for some d', G - E(H) is planar and thus has thickness 1. Hence G has thickness at most k.

Lemmas 1 and 75 imply that  $\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{T}_k) \ge 2k + 1$ . Ossona de Mendez et al. [185] proved that equality holds. In fact, the proof works in the following more general setting, implicitly introduced by Jackson and Ringel [131]. For an integer  $g \ge 0$ , the *g*-thickness of a graph *G* is the minimum integer *k* such that *G* is the union of *k* subgraphs each with Euler genus at most *g*. Let  $\mathcal{T}_k^g$  be the class of graphs with *g*-thickness *k*. As an aside, note that the *g*-thickness of complete graphs is closely related to bi-embeddings of graphs [13, 14, 15, 54].

**Theorem 76** ([185]). For integers  $g \ge 0$  and  $k \ge 1$ ,

$$\chi_{\Delta}(\mathcal{T}_k^g) = \chi_{\Delta}^{\ell}(\mathcal{T}_k^g) = 2k + 1.$$

In particular, every graph with g-thickness at most k is (2k + 1)-choosable with defect  $2kg + 8k^2 + 2k$ .

The lower bound in Theorem 76 follows from Lemma 75. The upper bound follows from Lemma 5 and the next lemma.

**Lemma 77** ([185]). For integers  $g \ge 0$  and  $k \ge 1$ , every graph with minimum degree at least 2k+1 and g-thickness at most k has an  $(\ell-1)$ -light edge, where  $\ell := 2kg+8k^2+2k+1$ .

Proof. We claim that Lemma 78 below with  $\delta = 2k + 1$  implies the result. Equations (7) and (8) are immediately satisfied. Let  $\beta := ((4k - 1)(2k + 1) + 2k(g - 1))$  and  $\gamma := 4k(2k + 1)(g - 1)$ . (9) requires that  $\ell^2 - \beta \ell - \gamma > 0$ . The larger root of  $\ell^2 - \beta \ell - \gamma$  is  $\frac{1}{2}(\beta + \sqrt{\beta^2 + 4\gamma})$ , which is at most  $\beta + \frac{\gamma}{\beta}$  since  $\beta + \frac{2\alpha}{\beta} > 0$ . Elementary manipulations show that  $\ell > \beta + \frac{\gamma}{\beta}$ . Thus (9) is satisfied.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 78.** Let G be a graph with n vertices, g-thickness at most k, and minimum degree at least  $\delta$ , where

$$6k \ge \delta \ge 2k+1,\tag{7}$$

$$(\delta - 2k)\ell > 4k\delta, and$$
 (8)

$$(\delta - 2k)\ell^2 - ((4k - 1)\delta + 2k(g - 1))\ell - 4k(g - 1)\delta > 0.$$
(9)

Then G has an  $(\ell - 1)$ -light edge.

The electronic journal of combinatorics  $\ (2018),\ \#DS23$ 

*Proof.* By Euler's Formula, G has at most 3k(n+g-2) edges, and every spanning bipartite subgraph has at most 2k(n+g-2) edges. Let X be the set of vertices with degree at most  $\ell - 1$ . Since vertices in X have degree at least  $\delta$  and vertices not in X have degree at least  $\ell$ ,

$$\delta|X| + (n - |X|)\ell \leqslant \sum_{v \in V(G)} \deg(v) = 2|E(G)| \leqslant 6k(n + g - 2).$$

Thus

$$(\ell - 6k)n - 6k(g - 2) \leq (\ell - \delta)|X|$$

Suppose on the contrary that X is a stable set in G. Let G' be the spanning bipartite subgraph of G consisting of all edges between X and  $V(G) \setminus X$ . Since each of the at least  $\delta$  edges incident with each vertex in X are in G',

$$\delta|X| \le |E(G')| \le 2k(n+g-2).$$

Since  $\ell > \frac{4k}{\delta - 2k}\delta > \delta$  (hence  $\ell - \delta > 0$ ) and  $\delta \ge 0$ ,

$$\delta(\ell - 6k)n - 6k(g - 2)\delta \leq \delta(\ell - \delta)|X| \leq (\ell - \delta)(2k)(n + g - 2)$$
  

$$\implies \qquad \left(\delta(\ell - 6k) - 2k(\ell - \delta)\right)n \leq (\ell - \delta)2k(g - 2) + 6k(g - 2)\delta$$
  

$$\implies \qquad \left((\delta - 2k)\ell - 4k\delta\right)n \leq 2k(g - 2)\ell + 4k(g - 2)\delta.$$

If  $n \leq \ell$  then every edge is  $(\ell - 1)$ -light. Now assume that  $n \geq \ell + 1$ . Since  $(\delta - 2k)\ell - 4k\delta > 0$ ,

$$\left((\delta - 2k)\ell - 4k\delta\right)(\ell + 1) \leq 2k(g - 2)\ell + 4k(g - 2)\delta.$$

Thus

$$(\delta - 2k)\ell^2 - ((4k - 1)\delta + 2k(g - 1))\ell - 4k(g - 1)\delta \leq 0,$$

which is a contradiction. Thus X is not a stable set. Hence G contains an  $(\ell - 1)$ -light edge.

Lemma 78 with k = 1 and  $\ell = 2g + 13$  implies that every graph G with minimum degree at least 3 and Euler genus g has a (2g + 12)-light edge. Note that this bound is within +10 of being tight since  $K_{3,2g+2}$  has minimum degree 3, embeds in a surface of Euler genus g, and every edge has an endpoint of degree 2g + 2. More precise results, which are typically proved by discharging with respect to an embedding, are known [35, 130, 134]. Theorem 76 then implies that every graph with Euler genus g is 3-choosable with defect 2g + 10. As mentioned in Section 3.4, this result with a better degree bound was proved by Woodall [228]; also see [59]. The utility of Lemma 78 is that it applies for k > 1.

The case g = 0 and k = 2 relates to the famous earth-moon problem [8, 108, 129, 131, 195], which asks for the maximum chromatic number of graphs with thickness 2. The answer is known to be in  $\{9, 10, 11, 12\}$ . Since the maximum average degree of every graph G with thickness 2 is less than 12, the result of Havet and Sereni [119] mentioned in Section 5 implies that G is k-choosable with defect d, for  $(k, d) \in \{(7, 18), (8, 9), (9, 5), (10, 3), (11, 2)\}$ .

This result gives no bound with at most 6 colours. On the other hand, Theorem 76 says that the class of graphs with thickness 2 has defective chromatic number and defective choice number equal to 5. In particular, the method shows that every graph G with thickness 2 is k-choosable with defect d, for  $(k, d) \in \{(5, 36), (6, 19), (7, 12), (8, 9), (9, 6), (10, 4), (11, 2)\}$ . This 11-colouring result, which is also implied by the result of Havet and Sereni [119], is close to the conjecture that graphs with thickness 2 are 11-colourable. Improving these degree bounds provides an approach for attacking the earth-moon problem.

## 9.2 Clustered Colouring

Consider the clustered chromatic number of  $\mathcal{T}_k^g$ . We have the following upper bound.

**Proposition 79.** For all integers  $g \ge 0$  and  $k \ge 1$ , every graph G with g-thickness at most k is (6k + 1)-choosable with clustering max $\{g, 1\}$ .

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on |V(G)|. Let L be a (6k + 1)-list assignment for G. In the base case, the claim is trivial if |V(G)| = 0. Now assume that  $|V(G)| \ge 1$ .

First suppose that  $|V(G)| \leq 6kg$ . Thus  $g \geq 1$ . Let v be any vertex of G. By induction, G - v is L-colourable with clustering g. Since  $|L(v)| \geq 6g$  and |V(G - v)| < 6kg, some colour  $c \in L(v)$  is assigned to at most g - 1 vertices in G - v. Colour v by c. Thus G is L-coloured with clustering g.

Now assume that |V(G)| > 6kg. Every graph with g-thickness at most k and more than 6kg vertices has a vertex v of degree at most 6k, since  $|E(G)| < 3k(|V(G)| + g) \leq (3k + \frac{1}{2})|V(G)|$ , implying G has average degree less than 6k + 1. By induction, G - vis (6k + 1)-choosable with clustering max $\{g, 1\}$ . Since  $|L(v)| \geq 6k + 1$  and deg $(v) \leq 6k$ , some colour  $c \in L(v)$  is not assigned to any neighbour of v. Colour v by c. Thus v is in a singleton monochromatic component, and G is L-coloured with clustering max $\{g, 1\}$ .  $\Box$ 

Since  $\overline{S}(3,c)$  is planar, an analogous proof to that of Lemma 75 shows that  $\overline{S}(2k+1,c)$  has thickness at most k. By Lemma 2 and Proposition 79,

$$2k + 2 \leqslant \chi_{\star}(\mathcal{T}_k^g) \leqslant 6k + 1.$$

Closing this gap is an interesting problem because the existing methods say nothing for graphs with given thickness. For example, as illustrated in Figure 13, the 1-subdivision of  $K_n$  has thickness 2. Thus thickness 2 graphs have unbounded  $\nabla$ . Similarly, Lemma 13 is not applicable since graphs with thickness 2 do not have sublinear balanced separators. Indeed, Dujmović et al. [82] constructed 'expander' graphs with thickness 2, bounded degree, and with no o(n) balanced separators. Returning to the earth-moon problem, it is open whether thickness 2 graphs are 11-colourable with bounded clustering.

# 10 General Setting

Consider a graph parameter f. Several authors have studied colourings of graphs such that f is bounded for each monochromatic subgraph, or equivalently each monochromatic



Figure 13: The 1-subdivision of  $K_n$  has thickness 2.

subgraph satisfies a particular property; see [51, 53, 71, 103, 138, 217] for example. For a graph class  $\mathcal{G}$ , define  $\chi_f(\mathcal{G})$  to be the minimum integer k such that for some c, every graph  $G \in \mathcal{G}$  has a k-colouring such that  $f(H) \leq c$  for each monochromatic subgraph H of G. This definition incorporates the clustered and defective chromatic numbers. In particular, if f(H) is the maximum number of vertices in a connected component of H, then  $\chi_f(\mathcal{G}) = \chi_*(\mathcal{G})$ , and if  $f(H) = \Delta(H)$  then  $\chi_f(\mathcal{G}) = \chi_\Delta(\mathcal{G})$ . There are many choices for f and  $\mathcal{G}$ .

First consider when f is the treewidth. Recall that DeVos et al. [72] proved that  $\chi_{tw}(\mathcal{G}) \leq 2$  for every minor-closed class  $\mathcal{G}$ . Bounded degree classes and  $\chi_{tw}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta})$  look interesting. In particular, what is the maximum integer  $\Delta$  such that every graph with maximum degree  $\Delta$  is 2-colourable with bounded monochromatic treewidth? The answer is at least 5 since every graph with maximum degree 5 is 2-colourable with bounded clustering [120]. The answer is at most 25 since Berger et al. [25] proved that for every 2-colouring of the  $n \times n \times n$  grid with diagonals (which has maximum degree 26), there is a monochromatic subgraph with unbounded treewidth (as  $n \to \infty$ ). This upper bound is probably easily improved by eliminating some of the diagonals in the 3-dimensional grid. Can the lower bound be improved? In particular, does every graph with maximum degree 6 have a 2-colouring with bounded monochromatic treewidth?

Let  $\eta(H)$  be the maximum integer t such that  $K_t$  is a minor of H, sometimes called the Hadwiger number of H. For example,  $\eta(H) \leq 1$  if and only if H is edgeless, and  $\eta(H) \leq 2$  if and only if H is a forest. Ding et al. [76] conjectured that for every graph G and integer  $k \in [1, \eta(G)]$ , G is k-colourable with  $\eta(H) \leq \eta(G) - k + 1$  for each monochromatic subgraph H of G. The case  $k = \eta(G)$  is Hadwiger's Conjecture. Alternately 2-colouring the layers in a BFS layering proves this conjecture for k = 2. Gonçalves [114] proved it for k = 3.  $\chi_{\eta}(\mathcal{D}_{\Delta})$  also looks interesting.

## Acknowledgements

Many thanks to Jan van den Heuvel, Sergey Norin, Alex Scott, Paul Seymour, Patrice Ossona de Mendez, Bojan Mohar, Sang-il Oum and Bruce Reed with whom I have collaborated on defective and clustered colourings. This survey has also greatly benefited from insightful comments from Zdeněk Dvořák, Louis Esperet, Jacob Fox, Frédéric Havet, Gwenaël Joret, Chun-Hung Liu and Tibor Szabó, for which I am extremely grateful. I am particularly thankful to Frédéric Havet for allowing his unpublished proof of Lemma 29 to be included. Many thanks to the referees for detailed and insightful comments that have greatly improved the paper.

# References

- FAISAL N. ABU-KHZAM AND MICHAEL A. LANGSTON. Graph coloring and the immersion order. In Proc. International Conference on Computing and Combinatorics (COCOON '03), vol. 2697 of Lecture Notes in Comput. Sci., pp. 394–403. Springer, 2003. doi:10.1007/3-540-45071-8\_40. MR: 2063516. [p.34]
- [2] NIRMALA ACHUTHAN, N. R. ACHUTHAN, AND M. SIMANIHURUK. On defective colourings of complementary graphs. *Australas. J. Combin.*, 13:175–196, 1996. MR: 1383416.
- [3] NIRMALA ACHUTHAN, N. R. ACHUTHAN, AND M. SIMANIHURUK. The Nordhaus-Gaddum problem for the k-defective chromatic number of a P<sub>4</sub>-free graph. Australas. J. Combin., 49:3–13, 2011. MR: 2790956. [p. 9]
- [4] NIRMALA ACHUTHAN, N. R. ACHUTHAN, AND M. SIMANIHURUK. On minimal triangle-free graphs with prescribed k-defective chromatic number. *Discrete Math.*, 311(13):1119–1127, 2011. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2010.08.013. MR:2793222. [p.9]
- [5] LOUIGI ADDARIO-BERRY, LOUIS ESPERET, ROSS J. KANG, COLIN J. H. MCDIARMID, AND ALEXANDRE PINLOU. Acyclic improper colourings of graphs with bounded maximum degree. *Discrete Math.*, 310(2):223–229, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2008.09.009. MR:2563038. [p.9]
- [6] AHU AKDEMIR AND TI NAZ EKIM. Advances on defective parameters in graphs. Discrete Optim., 16:62–69, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.disopt.2015.01.002. MR: 3327669.
   [p.9]
- [7] BORIS ALBAR AND DANIEL GONÇALVES. On triangles in  $K_r$ -minor free graphs. J. Graph Theory, 2017. doi:10.1002/jgt.22203. arXiv:1304.5468. [p.29]
- [8] MICHAEL O. ALBERTSON, DEBRA L. BOUTIN, AND ELLEN GETHNER. More results on *r*-inflated graphs: arboricity, thickness, chromatic number and fractional chromatic number. Ars Math. Contemp., 4(1):5–24, 2011. MR: 2729287. [p. 51]
- [9] LYUDMIL G. ALEKSANDROV AND HRISTO N. DJIDJEV. Linear algorithms for partitioning embedded graphs of bounded genus. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 9(1):129– 150, 1996. doi:10.1137/S0895480194272183. MR:1375420. [p.18]

- [10] NOGA ALON. Degrees and choice numbers. Random Structures & Algorithms, 16(4):364–368, 2000. doi: 10.1002/1098-2418(200007)16:4<3C364::AID-RSA5>3E3.0.CO;2-0 MR: 1761581. [p.9]
- [11] NOGA ALON, GUOLI DING, BOGDAN OPOROWSKI, AND DIRK VERTIGAN. Partitioning into graphs with only small components. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 87(2):231–243, 2003. doi:10.1016/S0095-8956(02)00006-0. MR:1957474. [pp. 20, 22, 23, 37]
- [12] NOGA ALON, PAUL SEYMOUR, AND ROBIN THOMAS. A separator theorem for nonplanar graphs. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 3(4):801–808, 1990. doi:10.2307/1990903. MR: 1065053.
- [13] IAN ANDERSON. Infinite families of biembedding numbers. J. Graph Theory, 3(3):263-268, 1979. doi:10.1002/jgt.3190030309. MR:542548. [p.50]
- [14] IAN ANDERSON. Triples, current graphs and biembeddings. Aequationes Math., 24(2-3):230–242, 1982. doi:10.1007/BF02193046. MR:706972. [p. 50]
- [15] IAN ANDERSON AND ROGER J. COOK. Bi-embeddings of graphs. *Glasgow Math.* J., 15:162–165, 1974. doi:10.1017/S0017089500002354. MR:0366714. [p.50]
- [16] JAMES A. ANDREWS AND MICHAEL S. JACOBSON. On a generalization of chromatic number. In Proc. 16th Southeastern International Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Theory and Computing, vol. 47 of Congr. Numer., pp. 33–48. 1985. MR: 830668.
  [p. 3]
- [17] JAMES A. ANDREWS AND MICHAEL S. JACOBSON. On a generalization of chromatic number and two kinds of Ramsey numbers. Ars Combin., 23:97–102, 1987. MR: 886944.
- [18] PATRIZIO ANGELINI, MICHAEL A. BEKOS, FELICE DE LUCA, WALTER DIDIMO, MICHAEL KAUFMANN, STEPHEN G. KOBOUROV, FABRIZIO MONTECCHIANI, CHRYSANTHI N. RAFTOPOULOU, VINCENZO ROSELLI, AND ANTONIOS SYMVONIS. Vertex-coloring with defects. J. Graph Algorithms Appl., 21(3):313–340, 2017. doi:10.7155/jgaa.00418. MR: 3621539.
- [19] KENNETH APPEL AND WOLFGANG HAKEN. Every planar map is four colorable, vol. 98 of Contemporary Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, 1989. doi:10.1090/conm/098. MR:1025335.
- [20] JULIO ARAUJO, JEAN-CLAUDE BERMOND, FRÉDÉRIC GIROIRE, FRÉDÉRIC HAVET, DORIAN MAZAURIC, AND REMIGIUSZ MODRZEJEW-SKI. Weighted improper colouring. J. Discrete Algorithms, 16:53–66, 2012. doi:10.1016/j.jda.2012.07.001. MR: 2960344. [p.9]
- [21] DAN ARCHDEACON. A note on defective colorings of graphs in surfaces. J. Graph Theory, 11(4):517-519, 1987. doi:10.1002/jgt.3190110408. MR: 917198. [pp. 15, 41]
- [22] CLAUDIA ARCHETTI, NICOLA BIANCHESSI, ALAIN HERTZ, ADRIEN COLOMBET, AND FRANÇOIS GAGNON. Directed weighted improper coloring for cellular channel allocation. Discrete Appl. Math., 182:46–60, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.dam.2013.11.018. MR: 3301934.

- [23] JÁNOS BARÁT, GWENAËL JORET, AND DAVID R. WOOD. Disproof of the list Hadwiger conjecture. *Electron. J. Combin.*, 18(1):#P232, 2011. http://www. combinatorics.org/v18i1p232. MR: 2861411. [p.29]
- [24] RÉMY BELMONTE, MICHAEL LAMPIS, AND VALIA MITSOU. Defective coloring on classes of perfect graphs. In GERHARD J. WOEGINGER HANS L. BODLAENDER, ed., *Graph-Theoretic Concepts in Computer Science (WG '17)*, vol. 10520 of *Lecture Notes* in Comput. Sci. 2017. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-68705-6\_9. arXiv:1702.08903. [p.9]
- [25] ELI BERGER, ZDENĚK DVOŘÁK, AND SERGEY NORIN. Treewidth of grid subsets. Combinatorica, 2017. doi:10.1007/s00493-017-3548-5. [pp. 14, 53]
- [26] ROBERT BERKE. Coloring and Transversals of Graphs. Ph.D. thesis, ETH Zurich, 2008. Diss. ETH No. 17797.
   [p. 23]
- [27] ROBERT BERKE AND TIBOR SZABÓ. Relaxed two-coloring of cubic graphs. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 97(4):652-668, 2007. doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2006.12.001. MR: 2325804.
- [28] ROBERT BERKE AND TIBOR SZABÓ. Deciding relaxed two-colourability: a hardness jump. Combin. Probab. Comput., 18(1-2):53-81, 2009. doi:10.1017/S0963548309009663. MR: 2497374. [p.9]
- [29] CLAUDIO BERNARDI. On a theorem about vertex colorings of graphs. Discrete Math., 64(1):95–96, 1987. doi:10.1016/0012-365X(87)90243-3. MR: 882615. [p. 19]
- [30] FRANK R. BERNHART AND PAUL C. KAINEN. The book thickness of a graph. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 27(3):320–331, 1979. doi:10.1016/0095-8956(79)90021-2. MR: 554297.
- [31] PAUL BLAIN, GARRY BOWLIN, THOMAS FLEMING, JOEL FOISY, JACOB HENDRICKS, AND JASON LACOMBE. Some results on intrinsically knotted graphs. J. Knot Theory Ramifications, 16(6):749–760, 2007. doi:10.1142/S021821650700552X. MR: 2341314.
- [32] HANS L. BODLAENDER. A tourist guide through treewidth. Acta Cybernet., 11(1-2):1-21, 1993. [p. 5]
- [33] HANS L. BODLAENDER. A partial k-arboretum of graphs with bounded treewidth. *Theoret. Comput. Sci.*, 209(1-2):1–45, 1998. doi:10.1016/S0304-3975(97)00228-4. [p. 5]
- [34] PIERRE BOIRON, ÉRIC SOPENA, AND LAURENCE VIGNAL. Acyclic improper colorings of graphs. J. Graph Theory, 32(1):97–107, 1999. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0118(199909)32:1<97::AID-JGT9>3.3.CO;2-F. MR: 1704140. [p.9]
- [35] OLEG V. BORODIN. On the total coloring of planar graphs. J. Reine Angew. Math., 394:180–185, 1989. doi:10.1515/crll.1989.394.180. MR:977440. [pp.10, 11, 51]
- [36] OLEG V. BORODIN. Colorings of plane graphs: A survey. Discrete Math., 313(4):517–539, 2013. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2012.11.011. MR: 3004485. [p. 13]
- [37] OLEG V. BORODIN AND ANNA O. IVANOVA. Almost proper 2-colorings of vertices of sparse graphs. *Diskretn. Anal. Issled. Oper.*, 16(2):16–20, 98, 2009.

doi:10.1134/S1990478910010047. MR:2574306.

- [38] OLEG V. BORODIN AND ANNA O. IVANOVA. Partitioning sparse planar graphs into two subgraphs of lower degree. Sib. Èlektron. Mat. Izv., 6:13-16, 2009. http: //semr.math.nsc.ru/v6.html. MR: 2586676. [p.13]
- [39] OLEG V. BORODIN AND ANNA O. IVANOVA. List strong linear 2-arboricity of sparse graphs. J. Graph Theory, 67(2):83–90, 2011. doi:10.1002/jgt.20516. MR: 2828410. [pp. 16, 25]
- [40] OLEG V. BORODIN, ANNA O. IVANOVA, MICKAËL MONTASSIER, PASCAL OCHEM, AND ANDRÉ RASPAUD. Vertex decompositions of sparse graphs into an edgeless subgraph and a subgraph of maximum degree at most k. J. Graph Theory, 65(2):83– 93, 2010. doi:10.1002/jgt.20467. MR:2724489. [pp.16, 25]
- [41] OLEG V. BORODIN, ANNA O. IVANOVA, MICKAËL MONTASSIER, AND ANDRÉ RASPAUD. (k, j)-coloring of sparse graphs. Discrete Appl. Math., 159(17):1947–1953, 2011. doi:10.1016/j.dam.2011.06.021. MR: 2832323. [p. 25]
- [42] OLEG V. BORODIN, ANNA O. IVANOVA, MICKAËL MONTASSIER, AND ANDRÉ RASPAUD. (k, 1)-coloring of sparse graphs. *Discrete Math.*, 312(6):1128–1135, 2012. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2011.11.031. MR: 2876359. [p. 25]
- [43] OLEG V. BORODIN AND ALEXANDR V. KOSTOCHKA. On an upper bound of a graph's chromatic number, depending on the graph's degree and density. J. Combinatorial Theory Ser. B, 23(2-3):247-250, 1977. doi:10.1016/0095-8956(77)90037-5. MR: 0469803.
- [44] OLEG V. BORODIN AND ALEXANDR V. KOSTOCHKA. Vertex decompositions of sparse graphs into an independent set and a subgraph of maximum degree at most 1. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh., 52(5):1004–1010, 2011. doi:10.1134/S0037446611050041. MR: 2908122. [p. 25]
- [45] OLEG V. BORODIN AND ALEXANDR V. KOSTOCHKA. Vertex decompositions of sparse graphs into an independent vertex set and a subgraph of maximum degree at most 1. Sib. Math. J., 52:796–801, 2011. doi:10.1134/S0037446611050041. MR: 2908122. [p. 25]
- [46] OLEG V. BORODIN AND ALEXANDR V. KOSTOCHKA. Defective 2colorings of sparse graphs. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 104:72-80, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2013.10.002. MR: 3132745. [p. 25]
- [47] OLEG V. BORODIN, ALEXANDR V. KOSTOCHKA, AND MATTHEW YANCEY. On 1-improper 2-coloring of sparse graphs. *Discrete Math.*, 313(22):2638-2649, 2013. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2013.07.014. MR: 3095439. [p.25]
- [48] OLEG V. BORODIN AND DANIEL P. SANDERS. On light edges and triangles in planar graphs of minimum degree five. *Math. Nachr.*, 170:19–24, 1994.
   doi:10.1002/mana.19941700103. MR:1302363. [p.10]
- [49] MIECZYSŁAW BOROWIECKI, KATARZYNA JESSE-JÓZEFCZYK, AND ELŻBIETA SIDOROWICZ. The complexity of some acyclic improper colourings. *Discrete Math.*,

57

[p. 25]

311(8-9):732-737, 2011. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2011.01.023. MR: 2774229. [p.9]

- [50] PROSENJIT BOSE, MICHIEL SMID, AND DAVID R. WOOD. Light edges in degree-constrained graphs. *Discrete Math.*, 282(1-3):35-41, 2004. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2003.12.003. MR: 2059504. [p.10]
- [51] IZAK BROERE, SAMANTHA DORFLING, AND ELIZABETH JONCK. Generalized chromatic numbers and additive hereditary properties of graphs. *Discuss. Math. Graph Theory*, 22(2):259–270, 2002. doi:10.7151/dmgt.1174. MR:1961207. [p.53]
- [52] HAJO BROERSMA, FEDOR V. FOMIN, JAN KRATOCHVÍL, AND GER-HARD J. WOEGINGER. Planar graph coloring avoiding monochromatic subgraphs: trees and paths make it difficult. *Algorithmica*, 44(4):343–361, 2006. doi:10.1007/s00453-005-1176-8. MR: 2212055. [p.9]
- [53] STEFAN A. BURR AND MICHAEL S. JACOBSON. On inequalities involving vertexpartition parameters of graphs. In Proc. 20th Southeastern Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Theory, and Computing, vol. 70, pp. 159–170. 1990. MR: 1041597. [p. 53]
- [54] SHARON CABANISS. A survey of biembeddings of graphs. In Proc. 20th Southeastern Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Theory, and Computing, vol. 70 of Congr. Numer., pp. 171–180. 1990. MR: 1041598.
   [p. 50]
- [55] GLENN G. CHAPPELL AND JOHN GIMBEL. On subgraphs without large components. *Math. Bohem.*, 142(1):85–111, 2017. doi:10.21136/MB.2017.0013-14. MR: 3619989.
- [56] MING CHEN, YINGQIAN WANG, PEIPEI LIU, AND JINGHAN XU. Planar graphs without cycles of length 4 or 5 are (2,0,0)-colorable. *Discrete Math.*, 339(2):886–905, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2015.10.029. MR: 3431403. [p.16]
- [57] YONGZHU CHEN, WEIYI ZHU, AND WEIFAN WANG. Improper choosability of graphs of nonnegative characteristic. *Comput. Math. Appl.*, 56(8):2073-2078, 2008. doi:10.1016/j.camwa.2008.03.036. MR:2466712. [p.16]
- [58] HOJIN CHOI, ILKYOO CHOI, JISU JEONG, AND GEEWON SUH. (1, k)-coloring of graphs with girth at least five on a surface. J. Graph Theory, 84(4):521-535, 2017.
   doi:10.1002/jgt.22039. MR: 3623392. [p.16]
- [59] ILKYOO CHOI AND LOUIS ESPERET. Improper coloring of graphs on surfaces, 2016. arXiv: 1603.02841. [pp. 16, 51]
- [60] ILKYOO CHOI AND ANDRÉ RASPAUD. Planar graphs with girth at least 5 are (3,5)-colorable. *Discrete Math.*, 338(4):661-667, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2014.11.012. MR: 3300755. [p.13]
- [61] YVES COLIN DE VERDIÈRE. Sur un nouvel invariant des graphes et un critère de planarité. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 50(1):11-21, 1990. doi:10.1016/0095-8956(90)90093-F. MR:1070462. [pp. 30, 31]
- [62] YVES COLIN DE VERDIÈRE. On a new graph invariant and a criterion for planarity. In *Graph structure theory*, vol. 147 of *Contemp. Math.*, pp. 137–147. Amer. Math.

Soc., 1993. doi:10.1090/conm/147/01168. MR: 1224700.

- [63] JOHN H. CONWAY AND CAMERON MCA. GORDON. Knots and links in spatial graphs. J. Graph Theory, 7:445-453, 1983. doi:10.1002/jgt.3190070410. MR:722061.
- [64] RICARDO CORRÊA, FRÉDÉRIC HAVET, AND JEAN-SÉBASTIEN SERENI. About a Brooks-type theorem for improper colouring. Australas. J. Combin., 43:219-230, 2009. https://ajc.maths.uq.edu.au/pdf/43/ajc\_v43\_p219.pdf. MR: 2489421.

- [65] LENORE COWEN, WAYNE GODDARD, AND C. ESTHER JESURUM. Defective coloring revisited. J. Graph Theory, 24(3):205–219, 1997. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0118(199703)24:3<205::AID-JGT2>3.0.CO;2-T. MR: 1431666. [pp. 3, 15]
- [66] LENORE J. COWEN, ROBERT COWEN, AND DOUGLAS R. WOODALL. Defective colorings of graphs in surfaces: partitions into subgraphs of bounded valency. J. Graph Theory, 10(2):187–195, 1986. doi:10.1002/jgt.3190100207. MR:890224. [pp.3, 11, 12, 13, 15]
- [67] DANIEL W. CRANSTON AND LANDON RABERN. Brooks' theorem and beyond. J. Graph Theory, 80(3):199–225, 2015. doi:10.1002/jgt.21847. MR: 3403726. [p.23]
- [68] WILLIAM CUSHING AND HAL A. KIERSTEAD. Planar graphs are 1-relaxed, 4-choosable. European J. Combin., 31(5):1385-1397, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.ejc.2009.11.013. MR: 2644426. [p.13]
- [69] LIFENG DAI, YINGQIAN WANG, AND JINGHAN XU. Every planar graph without cycles of length 4 or 9 is (1,1,0)-colorable. *Discrete Math.*, 340(9):2108–2122, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2017.04.006. MR: 3665065. [p.16]
- [70] ETIENNE DE KLERK, DMITRII V. PASECHNIK, AND GELASIO SALAZAR. Book drawings of complete bipartite graphs. *Discrete Appl. Math.*, 167:80–93, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.dam.2013.11.001. MR: 3166108. [p.33]
- [71] WALTER A. DEUBER AND XUDING ZHU. Relaxed coloring of a graph. Graphs and Combinatorics, 14(2):121–130, 1998. doi:10.1007/s003730050020. MR: 1628117.
   [p. 53]
- [72] MATT DEVOS, GUOLI DING, BOGDAN OPOROWSKI, DANIEL P. SANDERS, BRUCE REED, PAUL SEYMOUR, AND DIRK VERTIGAN. Excluding any graph as a minor allows a low tree-width 2-coloring. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 91(1):25-41, 2004. doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2003.09.001. MR: 2047529. [pp. 37, 44, 53]
- [73] MATT DEVOS, ZDENĚK DVOŘÁK, JACOB FOX, JESSICA MCDONALD, BOJAN MOHAR, AND DIEGO SCHEIDE. A minimum degree condition forcing complete graph immersion. *Combinatorica*, 34(3):279–298, 2014. doi:10.1007/s00493-014-2806-z. MR: 3223965.
- [74] MATT DEVOS, JESSICA MCDONALD, BOJAN MOHAR, AND DIEGO SCHEIDE. A note on forbidding clique immersions. *Electron. J. Combin.*, 20(3):#P55, 2013. http://www.combinatorics.org/v20i3p55. MR:3118963. [p.34]

[pp. 30, 31]

<sup>[</sup>p. 9]

- [75] GUOLI DING AND BOGDAN OPOROWSKI. Some results on tree decomposition of graphs. J. Graph Theory, 20(4):481–499, 1995. doi:10.1002/jgt.3190200412. MR: 1358539.
- [76] GUOLI DING, BOGDAN OPOROWSKI, DANIEL P. SANDERS, AND DIRK VERTIGAN. Surfaces, tree-width, clique-minors, and partitions. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 79(2):221-246, 2000. doi:10.1006/jctb.2000.1962. MR:1769192. [p.53]
- [77] GABRIEL A. DIRAC. A property of 4-chromatic graphs and some remarks on critical graphs. J. London Math. Soc., 27:85–92, 1952. doi:10.1112/jlms/s1-27.1.85. MR:0045371.
- [78] HRISTO N. DJIDJEV. On the constants of separator theorems. C. R. Acad. Bulgare Sci., 40(10):31–34, 1987. MR: 940049.
   [p. 18]
- [79] PAUL DORBEC, TOMÁŠ KAISER, MICKAËL MONTASSIER, AND ANDRÉ RASPAUD. Limits of near-coloring of sparse graphs. J. Graph Theory, 75(2):191–202, 2014. doi:10.1002/jgt.21731. MR:3150573.
- [80] VIDA DUJMOVIĆ, DAVID EPPSTEIN, AND DAVID R. WOOD. Structure of graphs with locally restricted crossings. SIAM J. Disc. Math., 31(2):805-824, 2017. doi:10.1137/16M1062879. MR:3639571. [p.32]
- [81] VIDA DUJMOVIĆ, PAT MORIN, AND DAVID R. WOOD. Layered separators in minor-closed graph classes with applications. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 127:111–147, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2017.05.006. MR: 3704658. [pp. 6, 18]
- [82] VIDA DUJMOVIĆ, ANASTASIOS SIDIROPOULOS, AND DAVID R. WOOD. Layouts of expander graphs. Chicago J. Theoret. Comput. Sci., 2016(1), 2016. doi:10.4086/cjtcs.2016.001. MR:3457464. [pp.34, 52]
- [83] VIDA DUJMOVIĆ AND DAVID R. WOOD. On linear layouts of graphs. Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci., 6(2):339–358, 2004. http://dmtcs.episciences.org/317. MR: 2081479.
- [84] ZDENĚK DVOŘÁK AND SERGEY NORIN. Islands in minor-closed classes. I. Bounded treewidth and separators. 2017. arXiv: 1710.02727. [pp. 17, 18, 19, 28, 38, 39, 46]
- [85] ZDENĚK DVOŘÁK AND PAUL WOLLAN. A structure theorem for strong immersions. J. Graph Theory, 83(2):152–163, 2016. doi:10.1002/jgt.21990. MR:3539094.
   [p. 36]
- [86] NANCY EATON AND THOMAS HULL. Defective list colorings of planar graphs. Bull. Inst. Combin. Appl, 25:79–87, 1999. MR: 1668108. [pp. 6, 11, 12]
- [87] KATHERINE EDWARDS, DONG YEAP KANG, JAEHOON KIM, SANG-IL OUM, AND PAUL SEYMOUR. A relative of Hadwiger's conjecture. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 29(4):2385–2388, 2015. doi:10.1137/141002177. MR: 3432847. [pp. 6, 10, 38, 39]
- [88] KEITH EDWARDS AND GRAHAM FARR. Fragmentability of graphs. J. Comb. Theory, Ser. B, 82(1):30-37, 2001. doi:10.1006/jctb.2000.2018. MR:1828433.
   [p.18]
- [89] KEITH EDWARDS AND GRAHAM FARR. On monochromatic component

size for improper colourings. *Discrete Applied Math.*, 148(1):89–105, 2005. doi:10.1016/j.dam.2004.10.005. MR:2132063. [pp.3, 23]

- [90] KEITH EDWARDS AND GRAHAM FARR. Graph fragmentability. In Topics in structural graph theory, vol. 147 of Encyclopedia Math. Appl., pp. 203–218. Cambridge Univ. Press, 2013. MR: 3026762. [pp. 3, 18]
- [91] KEITH EDWARDS AND COLIN MCDIARMID. New upper bounds on harmonious colorings. J. Graph Theory, 18(3):257-267, 1994. doi:10.1002/jgt.3190180305. MR: 1268774.
- [92] HIKOE ENOMOTO, MIKI SHIMABARA MIYAUCHI, AND KATSUHIRO OTA. Lower bounds for the number of edge-crossings over the spine in a topological book embedding of a graph. *Discrete Appl. Math.*, 92(2-3):149–155, 1999. doi:10.1016/S0166-218X(99)00044-X. MR: 1697548. [p.33]
- [93] DAVID EPPSTEIN. Dynamic generators of topologically embedded graphs. In Proc. 14th Annual ACM-SIAM Symposium on Discrete Algorithms, SODA '03, pp. 599-608. SIAM, 2003. http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=644108.644208. MR: 1974971. [p. 18]
- [94] PAUL ERDŐS AND HORST SACHS. Reguläre Graphen gegebener Taillenweite mit minimaler Knotenzahl. Wiss. Z. Martin-Luther-Univ. Halle-Wittenberg Math.-Natur. Reihe, 12:251–257, 1963.
   [p. 22]
- [95] PAUL ERDŐS. Graph theory and probability. Canad. J. Math., 11:34–38, 1959.
   doi:10.4153/CJM-1959-003-9. MR:0102081. [p. 25]
- [96] PAUL ERDŐS AND LÁSZLÓ LOVÁSZ. Problems and results on 3-chromatic hypergraphs and some related questions. In *Infinite and Finite Sets*, vol. 10 of *Colloq. Math. Soc. János Bolyai*, pp. 609–627. North-Holland, 1975. https://www.renyi.hu/~p\_erdos/1975-34.pdf. MR: 0382050. [p.21]
- [97] LOUIS ESPERET AND GWENAËL JORET. Colouring planar graphs with three colours and no large monochromatic components. Combinatorics, Probability & Computing, 23(4):551–570, 2014. doi:10.1017/S0963548314000170. MR: 3217360. [p. 37]
- [98] LOUIS ESPERET AND PASCAL OCHEM. Islands in graphs on surfaces. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 30(1):206-219, 2016. doi:10.1137/140957883. MR:3455135.
   [pp. 10, 16]
- [99] ZUZANA FARKASOVÁ AND ROMAN SOTÁK. Fractional and circular 1-defective colorings of outerplanar graphs. Australas. J. Combin., 63:1–11, 2015. MR: 3385814.
  [p.9]
- [100] ANNA FIEDOROWICZ AND ELŻBIETA SIDOROWICZ. Acyclic improper colouring of graphs with maximum degree 4. Sci. China Math., 57(12):2485-2494, 2014. doi:10.1007/s11425-014-4828-9. MR: 3275398. [p.9]
- [101] ANNA FIEDOROWICZ AND ELŻBIETA SIDOROWICZ. Acyclic colorings of graphs with bounded degree. Sci. China Math., 59(7):1427-1440, 2016. doi:10.1007/s11425-016-5126-5. MR: 3515041. [p.9]

- [102] JOEL FOISY. Intrinsically knotted graphs. J. Graph Theory, 39(3):178–187, 2002.
   doi:10.1002/jgt.10017. MR:1883594.
- [103] MARIETJIE FRICK. A survey of (m, k)-colorings. In JOHN GIMBEL, JOHN W. KENNEDY, AND LOUIS V. QUINTAS, eds., Quo vadis, graph theory?, vol. 55 of Annals of Discrete Mathematics, pp. 45–57. North-Holland, 1993. MR: 1217975.

- [104] MARIETJIE FRICK AND MICHAEL A. HENNING. Extremal results on defective colorings of graphs. *Discrete Math.*, 126(1-3):151-158, 1994. doi:10.1016/0012-365X(94)90260-7. MR: 1264483. [p.9]
- [105] DAVID GALE. The game of Hex and the Brouwer fixed-point theorem. The American Mathematical Monthly, 86(10):818-827, 1979. doi:10.2307/2320146. MR:0551501.
   [p. 13]
- [106] GREGORY GAUTHIER, TIEN-NAM LE, AND PAUL WOLLAN. Forcing clique immersions through chromatic number. 2017. arXiv: 1703.08235. [p. 34]
- [107] LÁSZLÓ GERENCSÉR. On coloring problems. Mat. Lapok, 16:274–277, 1965. MR: 0211913. [p. 19]
- [108] ELLEN GETHNER AND THOM SULANKE. Thickness-two graphs. II. More new nine-critical graphs, independence ratio, cloned planar graphs, and singly and doubly outerplanar graphs. *Graphs Combin.*, 25(2):197–217, 2009. doi:10.1007/s00373-008-0833-5. MR: 2511878. [p.51]
- [109] JOHN R. GILBERT, JOAN P. HUTCHINSON, AND ROBERT E. TARJAN. A separator theorem for graphs of bounded genus. J. Algorithms, 5(3):391-407, 1984.
   doi:10.1016/0196-6774(84)90019-1. MR:756165. [p.18]
- [110] ALEKSEI N. GLEBOV AND D. ZH. ZAMBALAEVA. Path partitions of planar graphs. Sib. Èlektron. Mat. Izv., 4:450–459, 2007. MR: 2465436.
  [p. 13]
- [111] WAYNE GODDARD AND HONGHAI XU. Fractional, circular, and defective coloring of series-parallel graphs. J. Graph Theory, 81(2):146-153, 2016.
   doi:10.1002/jgt.21868. MR: 3433636.
- [112] NOAM GOLDBERG, THOMAS W. MATTMAN, AND RAMIN NAIMI. Many, many more intrinsically knotted graphs. *Algebr. Geom. Topol.*, 14(3):1801–1823, 2014. doi:10.2140/agt.2014.14.1801. MR: 3212585.
- [113] RALPH E. GOMORY AND TE CHIANG HU. Multi-terminal network flows. J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math., 9:551–570, 1961. MR: 0135624.
   [p. 34]
- [114] DANIEL GONÇALVES. On vertex partitions and some minor-monotone graph parameters. J. Graph Theory, 66(1):49–56, 2011. doi:10.1002/jgt.20490. MR:2742188.
   [p. 53]
- [115] ANDREW J. GOODALL, MIKI HERMANN, TOMER KOTEK, JOHANN A. MAKOWSKY, AND STEVEN D. NOBLE. On the complexity of generalized chromatic polynomials. Advances in Applied Math., 94:71–102, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.aam.2017.04.005. [p.9]

- [116] HUGO HADWIGER. Uber eine Klassifikation der Streckenkomplexe. Vierteljschr. Naturforsch. Ges. Zürich, 88:133–142, 1943. MR: 0012237. [p. 37]
- [117] MING HAN AND XUDING ZHU. Locally planar graphs are 2-defective 4paintable. European J. Combin., 54:35-50, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.ejc.2015.12.004. MR: 3459051.
- [118] DANIEL J. HARVEY AND DAVID R. WOOD. Parameters tied to treewidth. J. Graph Theory, 84(4):364–385, 2017. doi:10.1002/jgt.22030. MR: 3623383. [p. 5]
- [119] FRÉDÉRIC HAVET AND JEAN-SÉBASTIEN SERENI. Improper choosability of graphs and maximum average degree. J. Graph Theory, 52(3):181–199, 2006. doi:10.1002/jgt.20155. MR:2230831. [pp. 6, 10, 24, 51, 52]
- [120] PENNY HAXELL, TIBOR SZABÓ, AND GÁBOR TARDOS. Bounded size components partitions and transversals. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 88(2):281–297, 2003. doi:10.1016/S0095-8956(03)00031-5. MR: 1983359. [pp. 20, 22, 53]
- [121] PENNY E. HAXELL. A note on vertex list colouring. Combin. Probab. Comput., 10(4):345–347, 2001. doi:10.1017/S0963548301004758. MR:1860440. [p.21]
- [122] LENWOOD S. HEATH AND ARNOLD L. ROSENBERG. Laying out graphs using queues. SIAM J. Comput., 21(5):927–958, 1992. doi:10.1137/0221055. MR:1181408. [p. 33]
- [123] ALAIN HERTZ, ROMAIN MONTAGNÉ, AND FRANÇOIS GAGNON. Constructive algorithms for the partial directed weighted improper coloring problem. J. Graph Algorithms Appl., 20(2):159–188, 2016. doi:10.7155/jgaa.00389. MR:3472163. [p.9]
- [124] JAN VAN DEN HEUVEL AND DAVID R. WOOD. Improper colourings inspired by Hadwiger's conjecture. J. London Math. Soc., accepted in 2018. arXiv: 1704.06536. [pp. 6, 12, 34, 35, 36, 38, 39, 40, 41, 46]
- [125] ANTHONY J. W. HILTON. Some improper list colouring theorems. *Congr. Numer.*, 113:171–178, 1996. MR: 1393708. [p. 9]
- [126] ANTHONY J. W. HILTON, DAVID S. G. STIRLING, AND TOMAŽ SLIVNIK. A vertex-splitting lemma, de Werra's theorem, and improper list colourings. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 72(1):91–103, 1998. doi:10.1006/jctb.1997.1793. MR:1604693. [p.9]
- [127] HEIN VAN DER HOLST, LÁSZLÓ LOVÁSZ, AND ALEXANDER SCHRIJVER. The Colin de Verdière graph parameter, vol. 7 of Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud., pp. 29–85.
   János Bolyai Math. Soc., 1999. MR: 1673503. [pp. 30, 31]
- [128] GLENN HOPKINS AND WILLIAM STATON. Vertex partitions and k-small subsets of graphs. Ars Combin., 22:19–24, 1986. MR: 867729.
   [p.3]
- [129] JOAN P. HUTCHINSON. Coloring ordinary maps, maps of empires and maps of the moon. *Math. Mag.*, 66(4):211–226, 1993. doi:10.2307/2690733. MR:1240669.
   [pp. 49, 51]
- [130] JAROSLAV IVANČO. The weight of a graph. In Proc. 4th Czechoslovakian Symposium on Combinatorics, Graphs and Complexity, vol. 51 of Ann. Discrete Math., pp. 113–

116. North-Holland, 1992. doi:10.1016/S0167-5060(08)70614-9. MR:1206252. [pp.16, 51]

- [131] Brad JACKSON AND Gerhard RINGEL. Variations on Ringel's 211(1-3):233-242,earth-moon problem. Discrete Math., 2000.doi:10.1016/S0012-365X(99)00278-2. MR:1735339. [pp. 50, 51]
- [132] IVAN T. JAKOBSEN. Weakenings of the conjecture of Hadwiger for 8- and 9-chromatic graphs. Tech. Rep. 22, Matematisk Institut, Aarhus Universitet, Denmark, 1971. Preprint series 1970/71.
- [133] STANISLAV JENDROĽ AND TOMÁŠ MADARAS. On light subgraphs in plane graphs of minimum degree five. *Discuss. Math. Graph Theory*, 16(2):207-217, 1996. doi:10.7151/dmgt.1035. MR:1446358.
   [p.10]
- [134] STANISLAV JENDROĽ AND MILAN TUHÁRSKY. A Kotzig type theorem for nonorientable surfaces. *Mathematica Slovaca*, 56(3):245–253, 2006. http://dml.cz/ dmlcz/130967. MR: 2250077. [pp. 16, 51]
- [135] STANISLAV JENDROĽ AND HEINZ-JÜRGEN VOSS. Light subgraphs of multigraphs on compact 2-dimensional manifolds. Discrete Math., 233(1-3):329-351, 2001. doi:10.1016/S0012-365X(00)00250-8. MR:1825625. [p.10]
- [136] STANISLAV JENDROĽ AND HEINZ-JÜRGEN VOSS. Light subgraphs of graphs embedded in 2-dimensional manifolds of Euler characteristic ≤ 0. A survey. In Paul Erdős and his Mathematics, II, vol. 11 of Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud., pp. 375–411. János Bolyai Math. Soc., 2002. MR: 1954735. [pp. 10, 11]
- [137] STANISLAV JENDROĽ AND HEINZ-JÜRGEN VOSS. Light subgraphs of graphs embedded in the plane-A survey. *Discrete Math.*, 313:406-421, 2013. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2012.11.007. MR: 3004475. [p.11]
- [138] RHYS PRICE JONES. Hereditary properties and P-chromatic numbers. In Combinatorics (Proc. British Combinatorial Conf. 1973), vol. 13 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pp. 83–88. Cambridge Univ. Press, 1974. MR: 0384590. [pp. 3, 53]
- [139] LEIF K. JØRGENSEN. Contractions to K<sub>8</sub>. J. Graph Theory, 18(5):431-448, 1994.
   doi:10.1002/jgt.3190180502. MR: 1283309. [p.39]
- [140] DONG YEAP KANG AND SANG-IL OUM. Improper coloring of graphs with no odd clique minor. 2016. arXiv: 1612.05372. [p.41]
- [141] ROSS J. KANG. Improper choosability and property B. J. Graph Theory, 73(3):342–353, 2013. doi:10.1002/jgt.21680. MR: 3062803. [p.9]
- [142] ROSS J. KANG AND COLIN MCDIARMID. The t-improper chromatic number of random graphs. Combin. Probab. Comput., 19(1):87–98, 2010. doi:10.1017/S0963548309990216. MR: 2575099. [p.9]
- [143] ROSS J. KANG AND COLIN MCDIARMID. Colouring random graphs. In *Topics in chromatic graph theory*, vol. 156 of *Encyclopedia Math. Appl.*, pp. 199–229. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2015. MR: 3380173.
- [144] Ross J. Kang, Tobias Müller, and Jean-Sébastien Sereni. Improper

colouring of (random) unit disk graphs. *Discrete Math.*, 308(8):1438–1454, 2008. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2007.07.070. MR:2392061. [pp.3, 9]

- [145] ROMAN N. KARASEV. An analogue of Gromov's waist theorem for coloring the cube. Discrete & Computational Geometry, 49(3):444-453, 2013.
   doi:10.1007/s00454-013-9490-4. MR: 3038523. [p.14]
- [146] KEN-ICHI KAWARABAYASHI. A weakening of the odd Hadwiger's conjecture. Combin. Probab. Comput., 17(6):815–821, 2008. doi:10.1017/S0963548308009462. MR: 2463413.
- [147] KEN-ICHI KAWARABAYASHI AND BOJAN MOHAR. A relaxed Hadwiger's conjecture for list colorings. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 97(4):647-651, 2007. doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2006.11.002. MR: 2325803.
- [148] KEN-ICHI KAWARABAYASHI AND CARSTEN THOMASSEN. From the plane to higher surfaces. J. Comb. Theory, Ser. B, 102(4):852-868, 2012. doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2012.03.001. MR: 2927410. [p.17]
- [149] JAEHOON KIM, ALEXANDR KOSTOCHKA, AND XUDING ZHU. Improper coloring of sparse graphs with a given girth, I: (0,1)-colorings of triangle-free graphs. *European* J. Combin., 42:26–48, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.ejc.2014.05.003. MR: 3240135. [p. 25]
- [150] JAEHOON KIM, ALEXANDR KOSTOCHKA, AND XUDING ZHU. Improper coloring of sparse graphs with a given girth, II: constructions. J. Graph Theory, 81(4):403–413, 2016. doi:10.1002/jgt.21886. MR:3528002. [p.25]
- [151] JON M. KLEINBERG, RAJEEV MOTWANI, PRABHAKAR RAGHAVAN, AND SURESH VENKATASUBRAMANIAN. Storage management for evolving databases. In 38th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science (FOCS '97), pp. 353–362. IEEE, 1997. doi:10.1109/SFCS.1997.646124. [pp.3, 37]
- [152] WILLIAM KLOSTERMEYER. Defective circular coloring. Australas. J. Combin., 26:21–32, 2002. MR: 1918139.
   [p.9]
- [153] ALEXANDR V. KOSTOCHKA. The minimum Hadwiger number for graphs with a given mean degree of vertices. *Metody Diskret. Analiz.*, 38:37–58, 1982. MR: 0713722.
  [p. 39]
- [154] ALEXANDR V. KOSTOCHKA. Lower bound of the Hadwiger number of graphs by their average degree. Combinatorica, 4(4):307–316, 1984. doi:10.1007/BF02579141. MR:0779891.
- [155] TOMER KOTEK, JOHANN A. MAKOWSKY, AND BORIS ZILBER. On counting generalized colorings. In Model theoretic methods in finite combinatorics, vol. 558 of Contemp. Math., pp. 207–241. Amer. Math. Soc., 2011. doi:10.1090/conm/558/11052.
- [156] JIM LAWRENCE. Covering the vertex set of a graph with subgraphs of smaller degree. Discrete Math., 21(1):61-68, 1978. doi:10.1016/0012-365X(78)90147-4. MR: 523419.
- [157] FRANÇOIS LESCURE AND HENRI MEYNIEL. On a problem upon configurations

contained in graphs with given chromatic number. In *Graph Theory in Memory of G.A. Dirac*, vol. 41 of *Ann. Discrete Math.*, pp. 325–331. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1989. doi:10.1016/S0167-5060(08)70470-9. MR:976011. [p. 34]

- [158] KO-WEI LIH, ZENGMIN SONG, WEIFAN WANG, AND KEMIN ZHANG. A note on list improper coloring planar graphs. *Appl. Math. Lett.*, 14(3):269–273, 2001. doi:10.1016/S0893-9659(00)00147-6. MR:1820611. [pp.10, 13]
- [159] NATHAN LINIAL, JIŘÍ MATOUŠEK, OR SHEFFET, AND GÁBOR TARDOS. Graph colouring with no large monochromatic components. *Combin. Probab. Comput.*, 17(4):577–589, 2008. doi:10.1017/S0963548308009140. MR: 2433942. [pp. 19, 23, 37]
- [160] RICHARD J. LIPTON AND ROBERT E. TARJAN. A separator theorem for planar graphs. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 36(2):177–189, 1979. doi:10.1137/0136016. MR:0524495.
- [161] RICHARD J. LIPTON AND ROBERT E. TARJAN. Applications of a planar separator theorem. SIAM J. Comput., 9(3):615–627, 1980. doi:10.1137/0209046. MR: 584516.
   [p. 17]
- [162] CHUN-HUNG LIU. 2-list partitioning graphs with bounded treewidth and bounded max degree into graphs with no large monochromatic components. 2015. Unpublished manuscript.
- [163] CHUN-HUNG LIU AND SANG-IL OUM. Partitioning H-minor free graphs into three subgraphs with no large components. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2017.08.003. [pp. 37, 38, 39]
- [164] LÁSZLÓ LOVÁSZ. On decomposition of graphs. Studia Sci. Math. Hungar., 1:237–238, 1966. MR: 0202630.
   [p. 19]
- [165] GARY MACGILLIVRAY, ANDRÉ RASPAUD, AND JACOBUS SWARTS. Obstructions to locally injective oriented improper colourings. *European J. Combin.*, 35:402–412, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.ejc.2013.06.023. MR:3090513. [p.9]
- [166] RANDALL B. MADDOX. On k-dependent subsets and partitions of k-degenerate graphs. In Proc. 19th Southeastern Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Theory, and Computing, vol. 66 of Congr. Numer., pp. 11–14. 1988. MR: 992882. [p.3]
- [167] WOLFANG MADER. Homomorphieeigenschaften und mittlere Kantendichte von Graphen. Math. Ann., 174:265–268, 1967. doi:10.1007/BF01364272. MR:0220616.
  [p. 39]
- [168] WOLFGANG MADER. Homomorphiesätze für Graphen. Math. Ann., 178:154–168, 1968. doi:10.1007/BF01350657. MR:0229550. [pp.29, 39]
- [169] WOLFGANG MADER. Über trennende Eckenmengen in homomorphiekritischen Graphen. Math. Ann., 175:243–252, 1968. doi:10.1007/BF02052726. MR:0220618.
  [p.39]
- [170] MARSEL MATDINOV. Size of components of a cube coloring. Discrete & Computational Geometry, 50(1):185–193, 2013. doi:10.1007/s00454-013-9504-2. MR: 3070545.

- [171] JIŘÍ MATOUŠEK AND JAROSLAV NEŠETŘIL. Invitation to discrete mathematics. Clarendon Press, 1998. MR: 1668997.
   [p. 13]
- [172] JIŘÍ MATOUŠEK AND ALEŠ PŘÍVĚTIVÝ. Large monochromatic components in two-colored grids. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 22(1):295–311, 2008. doi:10.1137/070684112. MR:2383243.
- [173] ZHENGKE MIAO. Improper choosability of graphs embedded on the surface of genus
   r. Discrete Math., 269(1-3):311-314, 2003. doi:10.1016/S0012-365X(03)00060-8.
   MR: 1989472. [p. 16]
- [174] PETER MIHÓK, JANKA ORAVCOVÁ, AND ROMAN SOTÁK. Generalized circular colouring of graphs. *Discuss. Math. Graph Theory*, 31(2):345–356, 2011. doi:10.7151/dmgt.1550. MR:2865664. [p.9]
- [175] MARYAM MIRZAKHANI. A small non-4-choosable planar graph. *Bull. Inst. Combin. Appl.*, 17:15–18, 1996. MR: 1386951. [p. 13]
- [176] BOJAN MOHAR, BRUCE REED, AND DAVID R. WOOD. Colourings with bounded monochromatic components in graphs of given circumference. Australas. J. Combin., 69(2):236-242, 2017.
   [pp. 47, 48, 49]
- [177] BOJAN MOHAR AND CARSTEN THOMASSEN. Graphs on surfaces. Johns Hopkins University Press, 2001. MR: 1844449.
   [p. 5]
- [178] MICKAËL MONTASSIER AND PASCAL OCHEM. Near-colorings: non-colorable graphs and NP-completeness. *Electron. J. Combin.*, 22(1):#P1.57, 2015. http: //www.combinatorics.org/v22i1p57. MR: 3336571. [pp.9, 16]
- [179] PETRA MUTZEL, THOMAS ODENTHAL, AND MARK SCHARBRODT. The thickness of graphs: a survey. Graphs Combin., 14(1):59–73, 1998. doi:10.1007/PL00007219. MR: 1617664.
- [180] JAROSLAV NEŠETŘIL AND PATRICE OSSONA DE MENDEZ. Sparsity, vol. 28 of Algorithms and Combinatorics. Springer, 2012. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-27875-4. MR: 2920058.
- [181] JAROSLAV NEŠETŘIL, PATRICE OSSONA DE MENDEZ, AND DAVID R. WOOD. Characterisations and examples of graph classes with bounded expansion. *European J. Combinatorics*, 33(3):350–373, 2011. doi:10.1016/j.ejc.2011.09.008. MR: 2864421. [p.33]
- [182] SERGEY NORIN. Conquering graphs of bounded treewidth. 2015. Unpublished manuscript. [p. 39]
- [183] SERGEY NORIN, ALEX SCOTT, PAUL SEYMOUR, AND DAVID R. WOOD. Clustered colouring in minor-closed classes, 2017. arXiv: 1708.02370. [pp. 6, 38, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46]
- [184] SERGEY NORIN AND ROBIN THOMAS.  $K_t$ -minors, 2008. Presented at the Banff Graph Minors Workshop. [p. 39]
- [185] PATRICE OSSONA DE MENDEZ, SANG-IL OUM, AND DAVID R. WOOD. Defective colouring of graphs excluding a subgraph or minor. *Combinatorica*, accepted in 2017. arXiv: 1611.09060. [pp. 6, 10, 25, 26, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 38, 41, 42, 43, 44, 49, 50]

- [186] MAKOTO OZAWA AND YUKIHIRO TSUTSUMI. Primitive spatial graphs and graph minors. *Rev. Mat. Complut.*, 20(2):391–406, 2007. doi:10.5209/rev\_REMA.2007.v20.n2.16496. MR:2351115. [p.30]
- [187] JÁNOS PACH AND GÉZA TÓTH. Graphs drawn with few crossings per edge. Combinatorica, 17(3):427–439, 1997. doi:10.1007/BF01215922. MR:1606052. [p.31]
- [188] SRIRAM V. PEMMARAJU. Exploring the Powers of Stacks and Queues via Graph Layouts. Ph.D. thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, U.S.A., 1992.
- [189] ROGER K. S. POH. On the linear vertex-arboricity of a planar graph. J. Graph Theory, 14(1):73-75, 1990. doi:10.1002/jgt.3190140108. MR: 1037422. [p. 12]
- [190] TOM RACKHAM. The number of defective colorings of graphs on surfaces. J. Graph Theory, 68(2):129–136, 2011. doi:10.1002/jgt.20546. MR:2833955. [p.16]
- [191] J. L. RAMÍREZ ALFONSÍN. Knots and links in spatial graphs: a survey. Discrete Math., 302(1-3):225-242, 2005. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2004.07.035. MR:2179645.
   [p.29]
- [192] JEAN-FLORENT RAYMOND AND DIMITRIOS M. THILIKOS. Recent techniques and results on the Erdős-Pósa property. 2016. arXiv: 1603.04615. [p. 44]
- [193] BRUCE A. REED. Tree width and tangles: a new connectivity measure and some applications. In Surveys in combinatorics, vol. 241 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pp. 87–162. Cambridge Univ. Press, 1997. doi:10.1017/CB09780511662119.006. [p.5]
- [194] BRUCE A. REED. Algorithmic aspects of tree width. In Recent advances in algorithms and combinatorics, vol. 11, pp. 85–107. Springer, 2003. doi:10.1007/0-387-22444-0\_4. [p.5]
- [195] GERHARD RINGEL. Färbungsprobleme auf Flächen und Graphen, vol. 2 of Mathematische Monographien. VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften, Berlin, 1959. [p. 51]
- [196] NEIL ROBERTSON, DANIEL P. SANDERS, PAUL SEYMOUR, AND ROBIN THOMAS. The four-colour theorem. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 70(1):2–44, 1997. doi:10.1006/jctb.1997.1750. MR:1441258.
- [197] NEIL ROBERTSON AND PAUL SEYMOUR. Graph minors. V. Excluding a planar graph. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 41(1):92–114, 1986.
   doi:10.1016/0095-8956(86)90030-4. MR:0854606. [pp. 38, 44]
- [198] NEIL ROBERTSON, PAUL SEYMOUR, AND ROBIN THOMAS. Hadwiger's conjecture for  $K_6$ -free graphs. Combinatorica, 13(3):279–361, 1993. doi:10.1007/BF01202354. MR: 1238823. [p. 29]
- [199] NEIL ROBERTSON, PAUL SEYMOUR, AND ROBIN THOMAS. A survey of linkless embeddings. In NEIL ROBERTSON AND PAUL SEYMOUR, eds., Graph structure theory. Proc. of AMS-IMS-SIAM Joint Summer Research Conf. on Graph Minors, vol. 147 of Contempory Mathematics, pp. 125–136. American Mathematical Society,

1993. doi:10.1090/conm/147/01167. MR:1224699.

- [200] NEIL ROBERTSON, PAUL SEYMOUR, AND ROBIN THOMAS. Sachs' linkless embedding conjecture. J. Combin. Theory Series B, 64:185-227, 1995. doi:10.1006/jctb.1995.1032. MR:1339849.
   [p.29]
- [201] HORST SACHS. On a spatial analogue of Kuratowski's theorem on planar graphs — an open problem. In M. BOROWIECKI, J. W. KENNEDY, AND M. M. SYSLO, eds., Proc. Conf. on Graph Theory (Lagow, 1981), vol. 1018 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pp. 230–241. Springer, 1983. doi:10.1007/BFb0071633. MR: 730653. [p.29]
- [202] ALEXANDER SCHRIJVER. Minor-monotone graph invariants. In Surveys in combinatorics, vol. 241 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pp. 163–196. Cambridge Univ. Press, 1997. doi:10.1017/CB09780511662119.007. MR:1477747. [p. 30]
- [203] PAUL SEYMOUR. Hadwiger's conjecture. In JOHN FORBES NASH JR. AND MICHAEL TH. RASSIAS, eds., Open Problems in Mathematics, pp. 417–437. Springer, 2015. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-32162-2. MR: MR3526944. [pp. 37, 39]
- [204] M. SIMANIHURUK, NIRMALA ACHUTHAN, AND N. R. ACHUTHAN. On defective colourings of triangle-free graphs. Australas. J. Combin., 16:259–283, 1997. MR: 1477535.
- [205] M. SIMANIHURUK, NIRMALA ACHUTHAN, AND N. R. ACHUTHAN. On minimal triangle-free graphs with prescribed 1-defective chromatic number. *Australas. J. Combin.*, 16:203–227, 1997. MR: 1477532. [p. 9]
- [206] RISTE ŠKREKOVSKI. List improper colorings of planar graphs with prescribed girth. Discrete Math., 214(1-3):221-233, 2000. doi:10.1016/S0012-365X(99)00145-4. MR: 1743637.
- [207] ZI-XIA SONG AND ROBIN THOMAS. The extremal function for K<sub>9</sub> minors. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 96(2):240-252, 2006. doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2005.07.008.
   MR: 2208353. [p. 39]
- [208] ROBIN THOMAS. K<sub>t</sub> minors in large t-connected graphs, In JIŘÍ FIALA, JAN KRATOCHVÍL, MIRKA MILLER, eds., Proc. 20th International Workshop on Combinatorial Algorithms (IWOCA 2009), vol. 5874 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, p. 19, Springer, 2009. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-10217-2\_4. [p. 39]
- [209] ANDREW THOMASON. An extremal function for contractions of graphs. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 95(2):261-265, 1984. doi:10.1017/S0305004100061521. MR:0735367.
- [210] ANDREW THOMASON. The extremal function for complete minors. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 81(2):318-338, 2001. doi:10.1006/jctb.2000.2013. MR:1814910.
   [p.39]
- [211] CARSTEN THOMASSEN. Every planar graph is 5-choosable. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 62(1):180–181, 1994. doi:10.1006/jctb.1994.1062. MR:1290638. [p.13]
- [212] ZSOLT TUZA. Vertex partitions of graphs into k-stable and k-complete subgraphs.

[p. 29]

Ars Combin., 27:61–62, 1989. MR: 989447.

- [213] MARGIT VOIGT. List colourings of planar graphs. Discrete Math., 120(1-3):215-219, 1993. doi:10.1016/0012-365X(93)90579-I. MR: 1235909. [p. 13]
- [214] RISTE ŠKREKOVSKI. List improper colourings of planar graphs. Combin. Probab. Comput., 8(3):293–299, 1999. doi:10.1017/S0963548399003752. MR:1702609.

- [215] WEI WANG, JIANGUO QIAN, AND ZHIDAN YAN. Towards a version of Ohba's conjecture for improper colorings. *Graphs Combin.*, 33(2):489–501, 2017. doi:10.1007/s00373-017-1763-x. MR: 3612207. [p.9]
- [216] YINGQIAN WANG AND LINGJI XU. Improper choosability of planar graphs without 4-cycles. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 27(4):2029–2037, 2013. doi:10.1137/120885140. MR: 3138095.
- [217] MARGARET L. WEAVER AND DOUGLAS B. WEST. Relaxed chromatic numbers of graphs. Graphs and Combinatorics, 10(1):75–93, 1994. doi:10.1007/BF01202473. MR: 1273014.
- [218] LEE WILLIAMS, JENNIFER VANDENBUSSCHE, AND GEXIN YU. Equitable defective coloring of sparse planar graphs. *Discrete Math.*, 312(5):957–962, 2012. doi:10.1016/j.disc.2011.10.024. MR: 2872937. [p.9]
- [219] PAUL WOLLAN. The structure of graphs not admitting a fixed immersion. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B., 110:47-66, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2014.07.003. MR: 3279386.
   [p.34]
- [220] DAVID R. WOOD. On tree-partition-width. European J. Combin., 30(5):1245–1253, 2009. doi:10.1016/j.ejc.2008.11.010. MR:2514645. [p.37]
- [221] DAVID R. WOOD. Contractibility and the Hadwiger conjecture. European J. Combin., 31(8):2102-2109, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.ejc.2010.05.015. MR: 2718284.
  [p.39]
- [222] DAVID R. WOOD. Cliques in graphs excluding a complete graph minor. *Electronic J. Combinatorics*, 23(3):#R18, 2016. http://www.combinatorics.org/v23i3p18/. MR: 3558055.
- [223] RUPERT G. WOOD AND DOUGLAS R. WOODALL. Defective choosability of graphs without small minors. *Electron. J. Combin.*, 16(1):R92, 2009. http://www. combinatorics.org/v16i1r92. MR: 2529801. [p. 45]
- [224] DOUGLAS WOODALL. Improper colourings of graphs. In *Graph colourings*, vol. 218 of *Pitman Res. Notes Math. Ser.*, pp. 45–63. Longman, 1990. MR: 1210067.
   [pp. 9, 11, 13, 16]
- [225] DOUGLAS R. WOODALL. List colourings of graphs. In Surveys in combinatorics, vol. 288 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pp. 269–301. Cambridge Univ. Press, 2001. MR: 1850711.
- [226] DOUGLAS R. WOODALL. Defective choosability results for outerplanar and related graphs. Discrete Math., 258(1-3):215–223, 2002.

[p. 3]

<sup>[</sup>p. 13]

doi:10.1016/S0012-365X(02)00300-X. MR:2002082.

- [227] DOUGLAS R. WOODALL. Defective choosability of graphs with no edge-plus-independent-set minor. J. Graph Theory, 45(1):51-56, 2004.
   doi:10.1002/jgt.10153. MR: 2024815. [p. 45]
- [228] DOUGLAS R. WOODALL. Defective choosability of graphs in surfaces. Discuss. Math. Graph Theory, 31(3):441-459, 2011. doi:10.7151/dmgt.1557. MR:2866099.
   [pp. 16, 51]
- [229] BAOGANG XU. On (3,1)\*-coloring of plane graphs. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 23(1):205-220, 2008/09. doi:10.1137/06066093X. MR: 2476823. [p.13]
- [230] ZHIDAN YAN, WEI WANG, AND NINI XUE. On improperly chromatic-choosable graphs. *Graphs Combin.*, 31(5):1807–1814, 2015. doi:10.1007/s00373-014-1438-9. MR: 3386049.
- [231] MATTHEW YANCEY. Thickness for improper colorings. 2012. http://www.math. illinois.edu/~dwest/regs/impthic.html. [p.49]
- [232] HAIHUI ZHANG. Improper choosability of planar graphs without adjacent triangles. Graph Theory Notes N. Y., 47:34–37, 2004. MR: 2134217. [p. 13]
- [233] HAIHUI ZHANG. On (4,1)\*-choosability of toroidal graphs without chordal 7-cycles and adjacent 4-cycles. Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin., 54(3):339–344, 2013. MR: 3090414.
- [234] HAIHUI ZHANG. The result on (3, 1)\*-choosability of graphs of nonnegative characteristic without 4-cycles and intersecting triangles. Ars Combin., 121:353–360, 2015. MR: 3408534.
- [235] HAIHUI ZHANG. (3,1)\*-choosability of graphs of nonnegative characteristic without intersecting short cycles. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci., 126(2):159–165, 2016.
   doi:10.1007/s12044-016-0272-9. MR: 3489154. [p.16]
- [236] LI ZHANG. A (3,1)\*-choosable theorem on toroidal graphs. Discrete Appl. Math., 160(3):332-338, 2012. doi:10.1016/j.dam.2011.10.019. MR: 2862339. [p. 16]

[p. 11]